Navigating biodiversity conservation trade-offs in the social landscape: Understanding stakeholder perspectives and aspirations

Von der Fakultät Nachhaltigkeit der Leuphana Universität Lüneburg zur Erlangung des Grades

Doktorin der Wirtschafts-, Sozial- und Politikwissenschaften

- Dr. rer. pol. -

genehmigte Dissertation von Tamara Schaal-Lagodzinski

geboren am 28. August 1986 in Konstanz

Eingereicht am: 13.04.2023

Mündliche Verteidigung (Disputation) am: 01.11.2023

Erstbetreuerin und -gutachterin:	Prof. Dr. Julia Mildorfova Leventon
Zweitgutachter:	Dr. Jan Hanspach
Drittgutachterin:	Prof. Dr. Claudia Bieling

Die einzelnen Beiträge des kumulativen Dissertationsvorhabens sind oder werden ggf. inkl. des Rahmenpapiers wie folgt veröffentlicht:

- [1] Schaal T., Jacobs A., Leventon J., Scheele B.C., Lindenmayer D., Hanspach J. (2022) 'You can't be green if you're in the red': Local discourses on the production-biodiversity intersection in a mixed farming area in south-eastern Australia. *Land Use Policy* 121(3): 106306.
- [2] Schaal T., Mitchell M., Scheele B.C., Ryan P., Hanspach J. (2023) Using the three horizons approach to explore pathways towards positive futures for agricultural landscapes with rich biodiversity. *Sustainability Science* (18): 1271-1289.
- [3] Schaal T., König B., Riechers M., Heitepriem N., Leventon J. Exploring cultural landscape narratives to understand challenges for collaboration and their implications for governance. In Begutachtung bei *Ecosystems and People*.

Preface

This cumulative dissertation comprises four chapters. **Chapter I** provides the conceptual background, the key findings and a synthesis of the dissertation. The following two chapters focus on the first case study of this dissertation, the Muttama Creek Catchment. **Chapter II** presents four different discourses on the production-biodiversity intersection, how those are shaped and what that means for biodiversity governance in agricultural landscapes. **Chapter III** discusses the Three Horizons Framework as a tool in future studies that helped participants develop six different pathways of change. **Chapter IV** focuses on the second case study of this dissertation, the Biosphere Reserve Spreewald. This chapter outlines three different landscape narratives and provides insight into improving collaborative governance for cultural landscape preservation. Each chapter provides either a conceptual framework or a brief literature review which defines the terms and concepts used in more detail. References for each chapter can be found at the end. All three chapters have supplementary materials that can be accessed via a link or are included at the end of the chapter.

The articles are the versions published in the journals, except for the last article, which will be submitted to the journal Ecosystems and People and was inserted as a Word document in the latest version.

The co-authored papers in **Chapters II-IV** of this dissertation were written in two research projects. The transdisciplinary action research project 'ginkoo' (Designing integrative innovation processes: New institutional and regional forms of coordination for sustainable land management) aimed to develop methods and tools to support the coordination of complex innovation processes for sustainable land management. The second project, 'The Future of Farming and Biodiversity: the Muttama Creek Catchment area', sought to explore options to harmonise profitable farming and successful biodiversity conservation.

I hope the research presented in this dissertation contributes new evidence and insights to sustainability science scholarship on biodiversity conservation trade-offs and inspires thinking about creative ways to engage with the kaleidoscope of different perceptions, values and aspirations in the social landscape.

Photo credit

The photos on page 5 were taken by Dr Michael Mitchell (photo middle left), Dr Anett Kuntosch (photo middle right) and Tamara Schaal-Lagodzinski (photos top and bottom). Sebastian Kempke created the illustrations on page 37. Julia Roche created the artworks on page 53 and the photos were taken by Jack of Hearts/Jackie Cooper. The photo on page 75 was taken by Tamara Schaal-Lagodzinski.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	. 1
Abstract	. 3
Chapter I: Framework paper	. 5
1. Introduction	. 6
2. Conceptual framing	. 9
2.1 Governing biodiversity conservation trade-offs	9
2.2 The role of the social landscape for biodiversity conservation	10
2.3 Discourses and narratives about the (agri-)environment	11
3. Research approach	13
3.1 Research design and methodology	13
3.2 Case studies	14
3.2.1 Muttama Creek Catchment	14
3.2.2 Biosphere Reserve Spreewald	15
3.3 Researcher positionality	15
4. Key findings	17
4.1 Research aim 1: shared viewpoints	17
4.2 Research aim 2: landscape aspirations	18
5. Synthesis	19
5.1 Conflicts over biodiversity conservation objectives: transforming the policy and governance context	19
5.2 The kaleidoscope of perspectives on biodiversity conservation: engaging with human-nature relations	21
5.3 Pathways of transformation: exploring alternative trajectories of social-ecological development	22
6. Conclusions and future research directions	24
References	26
Chapter II: 'You can't be green if you're in the red': Local discourses on the production- biodiversity intersection in a mixed farming area in south-eastern Australia (<i>Discourses</i> <i>Paper</i>)	37
Chapter III: Using the Three Horizons approach to explore pathways towards positive futures for agricultural landscapes with rich biodiversity (<i>Three Horizons Paper</i>)	53
Chapter IV: Exploring cultural landscape narratives to understand challenges for collaboration and their implications for governance (<i>Landscape Narratives Paper</i>)	75
Appendices10	05
Appendix 1: List of interviews 10	25
Appendix 2: Overview of articles included in the doctoral thesis	29

Acknowledgements

Above all, I see this PhD as a journey and learning opportunity during which I could grow personally and professionally as a researcher. However, this journey has not been a lonely endeavour, but many intelligent, compassionate and inspirational people have accompanied me.

First, I would like to express my profound gratitude to my supervisors Prof. Julia Leventon and Dr Jan Hanspach, who have supported me during this PhD, provided invaluable feedback and guidance and helped me to grow into the researcher I am today. Julia, thank you for the countless inspiring discussions, for believing in me, for being a mentor never short of words of encouragement and for your invaluable advice on all things related to a career in academia. And Jan, artist extraordinaire, I would like to thank you for the critical discussions about my work, for putting so much trust into my abilities as a researcher and for doing everything in your power to make 'our' research project happen despite the pandemic. I would also like to thank Prof. Claudia Bieling for agreeing to be my third supervisor and for taking the time to read this dissertation.

I want to thank the entire ginkoo project team for welcoming me into the project at a later stage. I thank Prof. Bettina König for her continued support and for teaching me how to connect case study knowledge with the bigger (project) picture. I also thank Dr Nico Heitepriem who has such great enthusiasm about his work and for his involvement in developing the research ideas and Prof. Martina Schäfer for providing me with the opportunity to do part of my PhD in her project.

I want to thank everyone in the Social-Ecological Systems Institute at Leuphana for feedback on various elements of my work and the joyful work atmosphere. In particular, I thank Camila Benavides Frias, Stefan Ortiz-Przychodovka, Dr Isabel Díaz Reviriego, Mercedes Schröder and Annika Drews-Shambroom for exchanging ideas and celebrating joyous moments. I also want to thank Dr Ben Scheele for being such a fantastic collaborator and teaching me a lot about mastering academic writing. I also thank Prof. David Lindenmayer, Michelle Young, Suzannah Macbeth and the Sustainable Farms team for the pleasant collaboration. As I could not return to Australia due to the pandemic, I put my trust in Dr Michael Mitchell and Paul Ryan, who have done a fantastic job running two successful workshops. I enjoyed our fruitful discussions and the insights they shared about those workshops.

I also thank Prof. Jens Newig for his excellent advice during my workplace transition. I am grateful to Dr Marlene Röllig for her advice and support, for sharing her PhD experiences, and to Dr Felix Beyers and Josefine Laudan for the exchange and many pleasant conversations about our respective PhDs. I also thank Dr Andreas Otto for being understanding and providing me with the flexibility to finalise this dissertation.

Two women deserve special mention here because they have been companions and compasses in many ways. Ioana Alexandra Pătru-Dușe always lends me an ear, whether it be during our walks or over the phone, and keeps supporting me with great advice. Dr Maraja Riechers has not only enriched the years of sharing an office with her humour, but no idea I ever had was ever too meagre, too crazy or too ambitious to discuss with her. I would also like to thank my family for keeping me grounded and being there for me during this PhD's many ups and downs. I am forever grateful to my parents, who have always supported me unconditionally and encouraged and believed in me. To Florian, my brother and friend, who has an eye for all things visual, makes me laugh and distracted me from my PhD when needed. And to Gregor, my partner in life and 'co-conspirator' in pursuing a PhD, for always believing in me, goofing around and being my oasis of tranquillity.

I especially want to express my gratitude to all interviewees and workshop participants, without which this dissertation would not exist. I know how valuable time is and I am immensely grateful for the trust you put in my ability as a researcher and for agreeing to share your thoughts and ideas with my collaborators and with me. I also thank my collaborators, the UNESCO Biosphere Reserve Spreewald and the Muttama Creek Landcare Group, for their support. Specifically, I would like to thank Annie Jacobs who shared with me her connection to land and community and allowed me to experience the place she calls home with all my senses.

I encountered far too many people during this PhD to provide an exhaustive list here and I have had to focus on those who have left a particularly strong mark on my journey. Nevertheless, I also thank those I have not mentioned here by name but whom I have had the pleasure of meeting during this PhD.

Lastly, the work underdone for this PhD was funded by the German Research Foundation project number 407710220 and the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research grant number 033L145E.

Abstract

The global loss of biodiversity has been widely studied, yet it has many different facets depending on the context. Key drivers for biodiversity loss are anthropogenic, including agricultural intensification, expansion and land abandonment. Though the loss of biological diversity is an ecological phenomenon, it also has a social dimension. This makes the study of the social landscape, encompassing the multitude of perspectives and aspirations by different stakeholders, highly relevant for better navigating trade-offs between biodiversity conservation and other land use objectives. Engaging with and addressing contextual understandings of biodiversity is vital to develop socially palatable solutions for biodiversity loss.

This dissertation, therefore, takes a place-based approach to studying biodiversity conservation trade-offs and seeks to understand how the perspectives and aspirations of different stakeholders shape them. First, it aims to identify shared viewpoints as ensembles of perceptions and meanings about human-nature relations and biodiversity (research aim 1). Second, it aims to understand how biodiversity is valued and constructed in stakeholders' aspirations towards their landscape (research aim 2). To this end, a convergent mixed methods approach and case study design are used. Two cases were selected that face different underlying drivers of land-use change, resulting in loss of biodiversity. The Muttama Creek Catchment area is a farming landscape in south-eastern Australia where the ongoing intensification of agricultural production threatens native biodiversity. In the Spreewald Biosphere Reserve in north-eastern Germany, land abandonment and the resulting loss of the biodiversity-rich wet meadows presents a key challenge for biodiversity conservation. Narratives and discourses provide conceptual lenses through which I study biodiversity conservation trade-offs. Drawing on Q-methodology, this dissertation identifies biodiversity-production discourses for the first case study and cultural landscape narratives for the second case study. Moreover, based on a participatory futures approach, the Three Horizons Framework, it elicits narratives of change that highlight opportunities for biodiversity conservation in farming landscapes.

The findings highlight that despite some overlap in how stakeholders perceive biodiversity, contrasting problem framings and different biodiversity priorities present hindrances to concerted action to protect biodiversity and for collaboration (research aim 1). The findings also identify shared values among stakeholders (research aim 2). However, there is polarity and contestation around the role and importance of biodiversity in rural development. In conclusion, the findings contribute to three key themes in sustainability science and conservation debates: (1) They support calls for more inclusive and pluralistic biodiversity governance and highlight the need to engage holistically with multiple trade-offs with biodiversity conservation. (2) The empirical findings highlight the potential for stewardship as a broad value for place-based actions and biodiversity disvalues as another realm of engagement to improve conservation outcomes. (3) This dissertation demonstrates how a participatory approach helped identify opportunities for change and supported collective sensemaking about current issues and ways forward. Arts-based research is suggested as an avenue for future research to engage with different ways of knowing and thinking. In conclusion, this dissertation highlights how people value biodiversity differently based on their relative perspectives, the role of biodiversity in aspirations for the future and what this means for governing the transformative changes needed to address the issue of biodiversity loss.

Chapter I

Framework paper









1. Introduction

Canola fields as far as the eye can see, coral bleaching of the Great Barrier Reef and deforestation of the Amazon rainforest are prominent examples of the many faces of biodiversity loss. Biodiversity as the "diversity of genes, populations, species, communities, and ecosystems" (UN Global Compact and IUCN, 2012, p. 22) was introduced as a scientific concept by biologists in the 1980s to capture the phenomenon of species loss (Jetzkowitz et al., 2018). Since then, biodiversity loss has been well-studied and documented, especially globally (Butchart et al., 2010; IPBES, 2019). Evidence points to an unprecedented speed and extent of biodiversity loss, which has led many scientists to frame it as a sixth mass extinction (MA, 2005) and research suggests that especially genetic diversity has long passed planetary boundaries (Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen et al., 2015). As a result, the loss of biodiversity is considered one of the grand challenges that humanity is facing in the 21st century (e.g. MA, 2005; IPBES, 2019). The Aichi Biodiversity Targets and the United Nation's (UN) Sustainable Development Goals, especially goals 15 (Life on land) and 14 (Life below water), set global goals for biodiversity conservation. For 2050, the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) set a vision of living in harmony with nature where "biodiversity is valued, conserved, restored and wisely used" (CBD, 2021, p. 4).

Much of the debate about biodiversity loss has been dominated by the natural sciences, focusing on quantifying biodiversity loss. Although natural processes impact biodiversity, e.g. climate change or natural hazards, key drivers for biodiversity loss are anthropocentric (IPBES, 2019). On land, the globalisation of food systems and the pursuit of economic growth (e.g. Clapp, 2015) have led to intensification and land abandonment, which are direct drivers of biodiversity loss (Díaz et al., 2015). However, biodiversity loss does not just have a biophysical dimension but "[m]any (arguably all) conservation problems are social in nature" (Adams and Sandbrook, 2013, p. 333). Understanding social systems is vital when human actions create environmental problems (Clement, 2021). Moreover, biodiversity is not a neutral term but is tied to normative objectives of nature conservation (Jetzkowitz et al., 2018) and due to the multiple values and meanings related to this concept, it is difficult to condense this issue into one single, quantifiable target (Turnhout and Purvis, 2020). Therefore, understanding the direct and indirect drivers of loss also requires engaging with the different values pertaining to nature and how they shape human actions (IPBES, 2019). A value can be "a principle associated with a given worldview or cultural context, a *preference* someone has for a particular state of the world, the *importance* of something for itself or for others, or simply a measure" (Pascual et al., 2017, p. 9).

In recent years, scientific understanding of the multiple benefits that nature and healthy ecosystems provide to humans has proliferated (IPBES, 2019; Hill et al., 2021; IPBES, 2022). Social science research is well-versed in understanding human subjectivity of decision-making and aspects influencing direct drivers of change. The social or human dimension of conservation encompasses a broad range of concepts used in different disciplines, including values, perceptions, and meanings (Bennett, 2016; Moon et al., 2019; Bennett et al., 2022). For example, nature perceptions and place values are vital to understanding local environmental stewardship (Cortés-Capano et al., 2020). Further, the increasing calls for fundamental, system-wide transformations require including diverse social groups and recognising diverse values

among different societal actors (Pascual et al., 2017; Martin et al., 2022). Therefore, engaging with the kaleidoscope of perspectives (Gould et al., 2018) and social diversity in conservation (Sandbrook et al., 2019) is vital to identify barriers and opportunities for improving biodiversity outcomes. These insights can help improve conservation practice, policy and governance (Bennett et al., 2017; Bennett et al., 2022). The different perspectives and values of individuals and social groups shape how biodiversity loss is perceived and managed and thus provide vital insights for improving biodiversity and sustainable land management.

In a time when humans have become the dominant driver of change, we face global challenges, but solutions require attention to context and the local level (Wyborn et al., 2020). Research shows that biodiversity loss impacts regions differently (e.g. Kehoe et al., 2017) and how people benefit from nature is unequally distributed among social groups (IPBES, 2019). Context thus matters not only for understanding the indirect drivers of change that shape environmental problems (Visseren-Hamakers et al., 2021) but also for developing solutions (Pascual et al., 2021). For example, if local meanings of nature and place are not considered, this can create barriers to land-use interventions (Masterson et al., 2019). Instead of drawing up more global maps designating areas for biodiversity conservation, there is a need to engage with context-specific and diverse ways of knowing biodiversity (Wyborn and Evans, 2021). Understanding the context-specific drivers of biodiversity loss and finding ways to protect biodiversity thus requires engaging with place-based understandings of biodiversity.

Through mixed methods case-study research, this doctoral dissertation aims to contribute to a better understanding of place-based biodiversity conservation trade-offs. I study the social landscape, i.e. the range of stakeholders who either influence or are influenced by conservation (c.f. Freeman, 1984), to understand how biodiversity loss is conceptualised and how its materialities are perceived, valued and interpreted by a range of different stakeholders. I aim to understand how this contextualisation shapes trade-offs in land management in two different case studies. By better understanding how biodiversity conservation competes with other land use objectives and how this tension shapes biodiversity outcomes, this dissertation can inform research on biodiversity governance and help design socially palatable policy and management options for biodiversity protection.

The overarching research question of this PhD is therefore: **How do different stakeholders' perspectives and landscape aspirations shape trade-offs between biodiversity conservation and other land use objectives?** Trade-offs here refer to situations where conservation objectives conflict with other land use objectives and are traded off in favour of the latter. This includes trade-offs between conservation and production in agricultural contexts (e.g. Lécuyer et al., 2021) or between conservation and local community development (e.g. Masterson et al., 2019). People face trade-offs and decisions between conservation and other goals for various reasons. These include differences in what people value, different meanings of biodiversity and because the context plays a vital role in biodiversity conservation, e.g. creating conflict between top-down, prescriptive approaches and local environmental knowledge or development preferences.

This dissertation, therefore, has the following two research aims:

- 1) Identifying shared viewpoints that reflect ensembles of perceptions and meanings related to human-nature relations and biodiversity.
- 2) Understanding how biodiversity is valued and constructed in different landscape aspirations.

This framework paper synthesises the results of the empirical research presented in Chapters II-IV (Fig. 1). The research draws on two case studies where biodiversity loss presents a key issue as a result of land use changes: ongoing agricultural intensification in the Muttama Creek Catchment in south-eastern Australia (Chapters II-III) and land abandonment in the Spreewald Biosphere Reserve in north-eastern Germany (Chapter IV). This dissertation focuses on understanding how local perspectives and aspirations shape biodiversity conservation trade-offs.



Fig. 1. Overview of the dissertation. The figure shows how the overarching research question was subdivided into two aims which were answered through the three publications of this dissertation.

In Section 2, I introduce the key conceptual foundations of this dissertation: (1) governing biodiversity conservation trade-offs, (2) the role of the social landscape of conservation, and (3) discourses and narratives about the (agri-)environment. In Section 3, I outline the mixed methods, case study-based research approach of this dissertation before summarising the findings around shared viewpoints on trade-offs and landscape aspirations from the three publications in Section 4. I then synthesise and discuss the findings in Section 5 by tying them

in with debates on transformative biodiversity governance, changing human-nature relations and future trajectories of social-ecological development. I conclude this dissertation in Section 6 by summarising the main findings, highlighting contributions to the literature and avenues for future research.

2. Conceptual framing

2.1 Governing biodiversity conservation trade-offs

The idea that ecological goals and human development are not incommensurable but can be achieved simultaneously is one of the central ideas of sustainable development (e.g. Kates et al., 2001). Subsequently, how trade-offs between conservation and human wellbeing can be avoided plays a vital role in sustainability science (Kates, 2011; McShane et al., 2011) and in discussions about land systems and biodiversity (e.g. Ellis et al., 2019). However, conservation conflicts entail trade-offs and tough choices (McShane et al., 2011) and the objectives laid out in the CBD reflect a tension between conservation on the one hand and sustainable use on the other hand (Jetzkowitz et al., 2018). Intensification and expansion from agricultural activities are key drivers of biodiversity loss (Foley et al., 2011; Tilman et al., 2011), which has led to ongoing debates about how to achieve both production and conservation objectives (e.g. Sayer et al., 2013) and, in view of global population growth and simultaneous ecosystem degradation, to ensure biodiversity conservation and food security simultaneously (Foley et al., 2011; Tilman et al., 2011; Hanspach et al., 2017). This includes, for example, the prominent debate on landsparing versus land sharing (e.g. Green et al., 2005) as different approaches to how land management can consider multiple objectives. However, debates that focus predominantly on ecological aspects and quantitative trade-off analysis, e.g. between different ecosystem services (e.g. Aryal et al., 2022), fail to consider the social dimension of trade-offs. For example, changes to the land may have a positive value for some people or groups and a negative impact on something of value to others (Lliso et al., 2022). Navigating trade-offs between multiple land management objectives and considering different perspectives on biodiversity conservation presents a key challenge for biodiversity governance.

Governance encompasses "all those activities of social, political and administrative actors that can be seen as purposeful efforts to guide, steer, control or manage" (Kooiman, 2010, p. 2). Biodiversity governance thus includes the broad range of actors that directly and indirectly shape biodiversity outcomes through their actions. For example, governance frameworks are purposeful interventions at multiple scales aiming to achieve broad goals such as biodiversity conservation (Paavola et al., 2009). In contrast, governance regimes encompass formal and informal institutions more broadly that shape biodiversity outcomes (Paavola et al., 2009). This highlights the multi-level and multi-actor nature of biodiversity governance. For example, protected areas management and governance in the Czech Republic entail multiple trade-offs between nature conservation and agriculture, tourism or infrastructure development (Daněk et al., 2023). Various agricultural and environmental policies have been developed to protect biodiversity on land and avoid or reduce trade-offs with other land use objectives. These policies include incentives or restricted access and use, the establishment of protected areas, environmental assessments and participatory approaches (e.g. Young et al., 2010). For example, the spectrum of instruments to address conflicts between agriculture and biodiversity conservation in the European Union (EU) includes regulatory, market-based, and incentive-based, voluntary approaches (Henle et al., 2008; Lécuyer et al., 2021). Apart from these approaches targeting individual land holders, there is also a range of collaborative approaches, such as community-based natural resource management or landscape-scale collaborative approaches (Lécuyer et al., 2021). However, if biodiversity loss is not considered in an integrated way, policies might create trade-offs with other objectives. For example, novel approaches to farming with climate or water protection objectives may result in trade-offs with biodiversity (Pe'er et al., 2022). Therefore, conservation goals must be considered together with social or rural development goals (e.g. Cortés-Capano et al., 2020).

Due to the ongoing loss of biodiversity and ecosystem degradation, IPBES (2019) pushes for transformative changes to address underlying degradation drivers and change how people interact with nature. Concomitantly, how we govern biodiversity needs to change (Visseren-Hamakers et al., 2021) and fundamental changes to the governance system are needed (Leventon et al., 2021). However, such changes are anything but easy to implement. Transforming the governance system entails considering plural values and different knowledge systems (Leventon et al., 2021). Moreover, governance needs to be simultaneously integrative to overcome sectoral and fragmented approaches, inclusive to address different stakeholders' values, adaptive to adjust to the complexity of biodiversity challenges and pluralist to consider biodiversity loss from different perspectives (Visseren-Hamakers et al., 2021). For the EU context, Leventon et al. (2019) discussed an alternative governance system which would consider both multiple decision-making levels and ecological scales. It presents an example of multi-stakeholder decision-making around biodiversity goals, thus allowing to better address trade-offs emerging from siloed, sectoral thinking (ibid.). These and other alternative approaches to biodiversity governance have been explored with different stakeholders for the agricultural context (e.g. Mitchell et al., 2016; Velten et al., 2018), highlighting both opportunities and barriers for change. However, implementing such holistic changes to the governance system of biodiversity remains a key challenge.

2.2 The role of the social landscape for biodiversity conservation

Managing land resources entails increasing demands of a wide range of stakeholders, resulting in conflicts over how land should be used and managed (Ellis et al., 2019). The social landscape around biodiversity conservation is anything but homogenous, resulting in conflict and tensions around how conservation objectives should be achieved and how important they are. Social landscape refers to "a wide range of topics related to public attitudes, perceptions, values, behaviours, and activities, as well as community related topics" (Ryan, 2011, p. 362). These intangible concepts and themes characterise the social landscape, much like the tangible features such as natural elements and human-made structures we associate with 'physical' landscapes. They thus constitute the "social fabric of landscapes" (Ellis et al., 2019, p. 90). The social landscape of conservation thus refers to the variety of actors that either influence or are influenced by achieving biodiversity conservation objectives (c.f. Freeman, 1984).

Studying the social landscape of biodiversity conservation can help identify areas of consensus and disagreement over biodiversity objectives. Different people or groups of people hold different views about biodiversity, including biodiversity values and meanings (c.f. Jetzkowitz et al., 2018). Even among conservationists, perspectives on the value of biodiversity and how to protect it differ (Berry et al., 2018; Sandbrook et al., 2019), presenting a challenge for designing policy measures to address biodiversity loss. Furthermore, vast differences in perspectives also exist between different actor groups. Maas et al. (2021) show how perceptions of the importance of biodiversity and ecosystem services for agricultural production vary between farmers and scientists. A large body of literature has focused on understanding farmers' acceptability of agri-environmental policy measures to improve conservation outcomes (e.g. Massfeller et al., 2022). However, many factors influence farmers' decisionmaking, and they are not a homogenous group (Brown et al., 2021). For example, Busse et al. (2021) showed how farmers in two German case studies have vastly different views about whether insect biodiversity loss occurs. Though farmers are a key stakeholder group for land use decisions, such a focus may fail to understand conflicts and contentions around biodiversity at the local or community level. Different people may hold vastly different aspirations towards the same landscape (Milcu et al., 2014; Jiren et al., 2023), resulting in challenges to develop concerted actions to protect biodiversity. For example, different perspectives on conservation can result in difficulty to agree on priorities in conservation practice, particularly when this results in trade-offs (Sandbrook et al., 2019).

Identifying and engaging with different ways of viewing biodiversity and humans' engagement with nature can help identify pathways of sustainable development. Not only have scientific constructions of human-nature relationships evolved over time (Mace, 2014), but researchers have also made tremendous progress in identifying the manifold ways in which nature and biodiversity are valued (Chan et al., 2016; IPBES, 2019). To this end, there is a need to systematically explore the multiple perspectives on biodiversity conservation in the stakeholder landscape. Understanding different stakeholder perspectives can help improve policy and management and help identify common ground (Iversen et al., 2022). Furthermore, understanding areas of consensus and conflict between the landscape aspirations of different stakeholders is an important aspect of sustainable landscape management (Jiren et al., 2023). Moreover, others have highlighted the importance of engagement and consultation with stakeholders with different perspectives on conservation policies and management (e.g. Fitzgerald et al., 2021; Iversen et al., 2022).

2.3 Discourses and narratives about the (agri-)environment

The terms discourse and narrative are frequently used in everyday language and play a key role in environmental and sustainability science. In the constructivist tradition, both concepts have in common that they help identify shared or prevalent ways of sense-making of a phenomenon and meaning attribution (c.f. Dryzek, 2013; Louder and Wyborn, 2020). A discourse is "an ensemble of ideas, concepts, and categories through which meaning is given to social and physical phenomena" (Hajer, 2006, p. 67). Moreover, Dryzek (2013) points out that discourses "construct meanings and relationships, helping define common sense and legitimate knowledge" (p. 9). The academic interest in discourses rests on the assumption that language is

not neutral but that it shapes how we view the world and what we perceive to be reality (Hajer, 2006). The concepts of discourse and narrative are often used in conjunction, for example, where discourses draw on narratives or storylines (e.g. Hajer, 2006). Narratives are storylines about a particular subject, consequentially linking sequences of events (c.f. Roe, 1994; Riessman, 2008). At their most basic, they are stories consisting of a beginning, middle and end (Soliva, 2007). Narratives reflect different ontological assumptions about the world and conceptualise different topics. In contrast to narrations as individual accounts of experiences, narratives display patterns and are, to some degree, socially accepted (Koch et al., 2021). Thus, discourse and narratives provide conceptual lenses to study the meaning of a subject, issue or place.

Key sustainability challenges, such as climate change or biodiversity loss, are surrounded by discourses and narratives that provide competing framings of the problems and suggest different intervention strategies. For example, biodiversity loss has been narrated in different, even competing, ways (Louder and Wyborn, 2020). Interest in narratives in sustainability science has been both to understand place-based perspectives on environmental topics and to create new, positive narratives about human-nature evolution. For example, Hinkel et al. (2020) argue that the dominant climate change narrative is one of 'fear and doom' pointing to the challenges and negative impacts of climate change and advertising "global top-down solutions" (p. 503). In contrast, alternative narratives help draw attention to the opportunities that come with climate change and action (Hinkel et al., 2020). Moreover, narratives can reveal different perceptions of ecological loss, trajectories of change and place meanings (Eakin et al., 2019) and provide inside into land-use conflicts (Plieninger et al., 2018). Biodiversity narratives are one of the thematic focus areas that Wyborn et al. (2020) identify as a way to rethink biodiversity research and action. They argue that "[n]arratives analysis can identify the values, histories, knowledge systems, and worldviews that shape how human-nature relationships are perceived and offer insight into how biodiversity research and action could become more diverse, effective, and just" (Wyborn et al., 2020, p. 1091). Attention to different narratives and how issues are framed can provide insights for sustainability transformations (Marshall et al., 2021). Narratives are powerful, particularly when widely shared among people in a community. For example, by referring to United States (US) environmental history, Gould et al. (2018) highlight how narratives of marginal groups have been underscored by a dominant narrative reflecting a white, colonialist view of conservation.

Similarly, discourse analysis has helped identify the central debates and framings of the (agri-) environment. For example, the prominence of the ecological modernisation discourse in environmental policy can be explained by its appeal to solve environmental problems within existing institutional arrangements (Hajer, 1995). Moreover, discourses can help shed light on different constructions of biodiversity (Gustafsson, 2013) or conservation discourses around iconic species (Benitez-Capistros et al., 2016). Analysing discourses can also illuminate conflicts over the meaning of environmental problems (Dryzek, 2013). For example, Masterson et al. (2019) highlight how place meanings in local communities' discourses contrast with the dominant conservation discourse. Discourses can create new meanings, and when they are institutionalised, they can become hegemonic (Hajer, 1995). For example, for the EU's Common Agricultural Policy, Erjavec and Erjavec (2015) show how a productivist discourse

translated into key policy elements during the reform. Conservation and biodiversity research is an evolving field demonstrated by the broad range of overlapping discourses. In the scientific community, four different eras can be distinguished, highlighting different views of nature and human-nature relationships and scientific approaches to conservation research (Mace, 2014). The current discourse highlights the intricate links between 'people and nature' and is represented through the most recent IPBES report (IPBES, 2019). Discourses and narratives are dynamic; they are in flux, for example, when new information becomes available.

In this thesis, I draw on the concepts of narrative and discourse because they construct how people conceive the world and ascribe meaning to it. Both concepts help explore context-specific spaces of contestation and convergence that shape biodiversity trade-offs.

3. Research approach

3.1 Research design and methodology

Rooted in the normative and problem-focused approach of sustainability science (Clark and Dickson, 2003; Kates, 2011), I sought to gain an in-depth understanding of place-based biodiversity conservation trade-offs in this dissertation. To this end, I used a mixed methods research approach and focused on two case studies. Mixed methods research combines or integrates qualitative and quantitative data either in a sequential or convergent approach, allowing one to gain an in-depth understanding of a research problem (Creswell and Creswell, 2018). This dissertation is rooted in the epistemological position of constructionism (Creswell and Creswell, 2018), which contends that reality and knowledge are constructed (c.f. Tracy, 2013) and that the researcher's representation of the social world is never definite but in flux (Bryman, 2016). Here, the materialities of the biophysical landscape are the 'raw material' for meaning-making (c.f. Stedman, 2016). To answer the exploratory research question of this dissertation, I chose a case study design. Case studies allow for an in-depth study of a phenomenon in its context (Yin, 2014; Bryman, 2016), and they are, therefore, an appropriate approach to answer the research question. Thus, case study research can illuminate policyrelevant questions such as why and how policies fail to protect biodiversity in the respective context. Though statistical generalisation from a case is not possible, generalisation at the conceptual level is possible, e.g. by uncovering new concepts (Yin, 2014). Both cases selected for this dissertation can be characterised as typical cases (Yin, 2014) in that they presented key land use challenges in industrialised countries.

The research conducted for this dissertation was based on a participatory approach whereby I collaborated with local organisations in developing and refining the research questions for the individual papers and the research approach. In Germany, the Spreewald Biosphere Reserve administration was the local partner; in Australia, I partnered with the Muttama Creek Landcare Group. For the papers, the co-authors and I drew on two participatory methods with increasing application in environmental and sustainability science: the Q-methodology and the Three Horizons Framework. The methods were selected to capture the perspectives of people in the social landscape and how different meanings will illuminate my topic of interest (c.f. Yin,

2014). In the following, I briefly outline how the two methods were employed to generate quantitative and qualitative data and how questionnaires supplemented them.

William Stephenson developed Q-methodology in the 1930s, the novelty of the technique being that factor analysis was inverted (Stephenson, 1935). This inverted factor analysis is employed to study peoples' subjective views on a topic or issue by presenting them with a set of items they are asked to rank based on a sorting question (Brown, 1980; McKeown and Thomas, 2013). As a result, research participants instead of personality traits are treated as variables (e.g. Watts and Stenner, 2012; McKeown and Thomas, 2013). Q-methodology does not focus on individuals' perspectives but seeks to identify shared social viewpoints (Watts and Stenner, 2012). We conducted interviews for the Discourses and Landscape Narratives Papers to collect quantitative data (ranking of statements) and qualitative data (sorting explanations). In both papers, we employed a convergent mixed methods approach, integrating the qualitative and quantitative data collected during the interviews during the analysis stage. This contrasts with the widespread application of Q-methodology, where the quantitative analysis is informed by qualitative data (e.g. Iversen et al., 2022). Quantitative data analysis, i.e. factor analysis, seeks to identify latent or underlying variables that explain different viewpoints (Watts and Stenner, 2012). Factor analysis follows the logic of abduction whereby analysis starts with a surprising insight, and the analyst seeks to explain the emerging factors (Watts and Stenner, 2012). Qualitative data provided the basis for exploring the meanings related to the items. As photos were used as items in the Spreewald case study, interpretation of the meanings of the items was pivotal, and the Landscape Narratives Paper, therefore, had a more qualitative focus.

For the *Three Horizons Paper*, we used the Three Horizons framework, a participatory futures method (Sharpe et al., 2016). We drew on quantitative and qualitative data obtained through two workshops for this publication. Workshop group presentations and discussions were recorded, transcribed and subjected to inductive thematic clustering. Moreover, participants were asked to complete questionnaires to obtain demographic information and understand participants' assessment of the workshop approach for six critical dimensions of futures research.

3.2 Case studies

3.2.1 Muttama Creek Catchment

The Muttama Creek Catchment is a farming landscape in south-eastern Australia. It is part of the so-called sheep-wheat belt, a productive farming region that relies on both cropping and livestock. It is also an area that still contains remnants of the Box-gum grassy woodlands, ecosystems native to Australia which have been substantially decimated since European colonisation started in the early 19th century in that area. Most farmers in the study area manage their land conventionally, including stubble burning, using synthetic fertilizers and continuous grazing; on farms of almost 1,000 ha in size (NSW DPI, 2018). In late 2018, local land managers and land holders started the Muttama Creek Landcare Group, which aims to protect and restore natural vegetation in the catchment area¹. Landcare is a widely known form of community-based natural resource management in Australia (Curtis et al., 2014), making it possible for

¹ <u>https://www.facebook.com/muttamacreeklandcare</u>, accessed 12 August 2022

groups to apply for government funding. Due to the above characteristics, the catchment presented an interesting case study to explore trade-offs at the intersection of agricultural production and biodiversity conservation in a typical farming landscape of south-eastern Australia.

3.2.2 Biosphere Reserve Spreewald

The Spreewald, which received the denomination as United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) Biosphere Reserve in 1990, is located in eastern Germany, roughly 100 km south-east of Berlin. The Spreewald is a known cultural landscape characterised, inter alia, by small-scale land areas, biodiversity-rich wet meadows and the cultural heritage of the Sorbs and Wends, a West Slavic ethnic group that settled in the area as early as the 6th century. Today, the Spreewald is an important touristic destination. In 2005-2006, a citizen foundation started its activities to include citizens in preserving the cultural landscape, including small-scale land management and the typical settlement structure². In particular, it has been collecting donations to fund land care to counteract the ongoing trend of land abandonment and subsequent bush encroachment. The Spreewald stretches across three administrative districts, and since German reunification, there have been attempts to coordinate and bundle activities better to preserve the landscape. For these reasons, this case study was selected as an interesting case to study trade-offs between biodiversity and broader landscape development objectives in a cultural landscape.

3.3 Researcher positionality

The findings of this PhD and the approach taken in this dissertation would not be the same had they not been conducted by myself and partly during the COVID-19 pandemic. In the following, I want to reflect on how my subjective views, biases and normative perspectives influenced knowledge creation, vital elements of a self-reflexive scientist (c.f. Wittmayer and Schäpke, 2014). This includes my background, major dispositions, and key instances that made me question my research approach. Reflexivity refers to "awareness and acknowledgement of the role of the researcher as part and parcel of the construction of knowledge" (Bryman, 2016, p. 388). Reflexive practice includes considering how the researcher's positionality shaped the research design, stakeholder engagement and interpretation of data (Moon et al., 2019). Moreover, other aspects influenced by the researcher and research participants and the influence of the researcher's background on the research process and outcomes (Berger, 2015).

Two key topics are relevant to this reflection, i.e. past experiences with the research problem and how those have shaped my interpretation of the data (c.f. Creswell and Creswell, 2018). The topic of biodiversity conservation, specifically in farming in the EU, has been central to my research trajectory prior to commencing my PhD. I was familiar with the key policy instruments to achieve biodiversity conservation in the EU, key stakeholders and central academic debates about conflicts between nature conservation and agricultural production. Before my employment in both projects, I had no personal or professional connections to the

² https://www.spreewaldstiftung.de/startseite, accessed 12 August 2022

two study areas. My lack of in-depth understanding of the respective contexts and close connection to the study areas made me feel like an 'outsider' for most of my research journey. There are several dimensions to this notion of an outsider. It includes residency, i.e. I did not permanently live in the study areas. The fact that English is not my mother tongue immediately stood out to everyone I spoke to in Australia. Moreover, even though I am German, having grown up in south-western Germany meant that I did not share the same experiences as people who experienced the German reunification and its ramifications in Eastern Germany, where the Spreewald is located. Lastly, I grew up in an urban area and am a female, white, young³ PhD student who conducted research in rural areas with people who were predominantly older than me, including in the field of agriculture, which tends to be quite masculine (e.g. Newsome, 2020). This sense of outsider-ness or lack of expertness in practical issues brought challenges in understanding the local vernacular, cultural references and some of the nuances in peoples' accounts and experiences. I perceived this to be a more significant challenge for the work in Australia due to the cultural difference and as I am a non-native speaker of English.

The COVID-19 pandemic hugely impacted this place-based research and resulted in the necessity to adjust the research (see also Hermans et al., 2021). It added to a physical disconnect from research participants in the Muttama Creek Catchment area because I had to leave the country on short notice and could not return before the project's end. It also completely changed my fieldwork plans, such that I had to resort to online interviewing and had to hand over the responsibility for on-ground workshop organisation and data recording to my Australian collaborators. I used different strategies to overcome the limitations of studying the unfamiliar. In the Spreewald case study, I benefitted from the work conducted in the project before my start and the interaction with the 'practice partner' in the Biosphere Reserve. For the Australian case study, the close collaboration with my field assistant Annie was invaluable for unpacking cultural references and better understanding the context. Moreover, I drew on member checking, which meant that I discussed preliminary findings with research participants and other people from the local communities.

My outsider-ness, however, also had several benefits: it put interviewees in an expert position, and I could ask different questions that I believe I could not have asked otherwise (c.f. Berger, 2015). I believe that this outsider lens also made me more aware of the role I played and was assigned to in the social landscapes of the study areas. For example, I became aware that regenerative agriculture is a very contentious topic in Australian farming and decided to not actively engage with this topic in the research. I instead sought to maintain my stance as an impartial researcher curious about and interested in peoples' opinions but with no vested interest in the study areas. Additionally, I recognise that as a researcher, I cannot view the world through the eyes of the research participants, but I aim to gain an 'empathic understanding' (Tracy, 2013). For example, there were specific instances that made me question my own biases. During the Spreewald interviews, one interviewee felt that the photos I had selected presented a strong bias towards land management in the cultural landscape and an ignorance of cultural history. This critique was vital during the interpretation of my data in that I kept

³ This is not an objective classification but I base this assessment on the questions I was asked and comments made by people I interacted with during fieldwork.

questioning whether I had imposed my understanding of the cultural landscape on the data. Moreover, feedback provided by participants during the piloting of the Q-items in Australia suggested that our set of items was biased towards environmental statements. As a result, I worked on ensuring that the importance of production interests and the role of farmers as food producers with a focus on productivity and net profit (see e.g. Primdahl et al., 2013) was better acknowledged through the statements. Finally, all interviews and workshop discussions were transcribed when audio recordings were available to decrease the risk of bias.

4. Key findings

4.1 Research aim 1: shared viewpoints

For this research aim, I sought to identify shared viewpoints highlighting perceptions and meanings of human-nature relations and biodiversity to understand biodiversity conservation trade-offs.

We investigated archetypal viewpoints on the biodiversity-production intersection in the Discourses Paper (Chapter II). Whereas the Benefit Discourse posited that biodiversity conservation is essential for the viability of farming, the Trade-off Discourse reflected an understanding that on-farm conservation entails reduced profitability. In contrast, the Balance Discourse held that biodiversity and production could be balanced in the farm business. Finally, in the Payment Discourse, biodiversity was considered separate from farming and money was seen as the linchpin to successful conservation. The four identified discourses differed concerning three key dimensions, namely (1) how the relationship between farming and biodiversity is understood; (2) what roles and responsibilities farmers have; and (3) what solutions are believed to improve biodiversity outcomes. The four discourses conceptualised biodiversity differently, from productivist to more ecological framings of this relationship (1). Though the notion of stewardship resonated with all interviewees, it translated differently into understandings of the role of farmers, for example, as food producers or temporary custodians (2). Similarly, perceptions of how to best protect biodiversity ranged from monetary incentives to building ecological literacy (3). Between the discourses, perceptions of biodiversity loss and the importance of biodiversity conservation varied substantially.

In the *Three Horizons Paper* (Chapter III), we considered biodiversity outcomes from different trajectories of future rural development. It complemented the *Discourses Paper* by highlighting how different priorities and understandings of the farming-biodiversity intersection led to different views on preferred systems change. The preferred system differed between the pathways, and workshop participants had different perspectives on levers of change, e.g. individual farmers or institutional changes and types of innovations such as technology or improved education. The findings confirmed that perspectives on what role biodiversity played in change dynamics and which factors led to improved biodiversity outcomes varied substantially between people in the Muttama Creek Catchment area.

In the Landscape Narratives Paper (Chapter IV), we sought to understand archetypal ways of narrating human-nature relations. In the Nature Narrative, the landscape was created and

shaped by humans and was conceptualized as the connection between traditional land use and nature. The *People Narrative* focused on interactions between human use and nature and the role of the landscape as a place to live and produce. In the *Land Use Narrative*, human use of the landscape took centre stage, whereby ongoing management sustains the Spreewald. The three narratives differed concerning three aspects: 1) key topics, 2) negative aspects or threats to the landscape, and 3) landscape values. Key themes included physical aspects of the landscape, landscape meanings and types of management (1). The narratives also revealed different perceptions of issues, including natural succession, large-scale farming or overconsumption by tourists (2). Finally, the narratives highlighted different combinations of aesthetic, cultural, ecological and economic values (3). The *Landscape Narratives Paper* thus revealed the range of meanings and understandings of the notion of cultural landscape among key stakeholders in the Spreewald.

In conclusion, the discourses and narratives provided insight into how biodiversity is perceived and what its conservation means in two different landscapes based on peoples' relative perspectives. The findings highlighted areas of overlap but also contrasting problem framings, views on the role of biodiversity and different contextual values, which create barriers to concerted action and collaboration.

4.2 Research aim 2: landscape aspirations

For this research aim, I sought to explore peoples' aspirations for their respective landscapes and how they influence approaches to and preferences for how biodiversity should be managed and protected.

The Three Horizons Paper (Chapter III) aimed to explore different ideas about what constitutes positive futures and the mechanisms of change to achieve them. The Utopia Pathway sought to increase local food production and understanding of agricultural landscapes through changes to the farming system and education. The *Grassroots Pathway* focused on improving the viability of small and medium-sized farms and the health of Muttama Creek through changes to the regulatory framework and bottom-up activities. The Vision Pathway aimed to improve community and landscape health through increased connectivity and support for smaller rural businesses and farms. The Farming Story Pathway sought to improve ecosystem and livestock health with trickle-on effects on the community through revegetation measures. The Spider Web Pathway aimed to build ecosystem resilience and biodiversity by improving collaboration and integration between governmental organisations. The Best Practice Pathway focused on improving farm viability and, thus, environmental outcomes through changed farming practices and technological innovations. The findings showed a broad range of values and aspirations related to the future, including social aspects such as community well-being, economic viability and biodiverse and healthy ecosystems. Biodiversity and nature-related aspirations more broadly played different roles in the pathways. For example, biodiversity loss or change was the motivator for change in two pathways (Vision and Farming Story Pathways), ecosystem health was the explicit aim of two pathways (Spider Web and Farming Story Pathways), and in the other pathways, improved environmental outcomes were the result of the changes. The six pathways provided a nuanced perspective on the multiple ways in which participants value nature and biodiversity.

The *Discourses Paper* (Chapter II) showed a divide in preferences and values and highlighted how aspirations to protect biodiversity varied. In some discourses, economic objectives outweighed biodiversity objectives, for example, in the *Trade-off Discourse*. Peoples' relation with the agri-environment expressed through the four discourses even pointed to an underlying polarity between pro-environment and pro-production viewpoints. Though the six pathways in the *Three Horizons Paper* did not necessarily display this polarity, how they narrated change, starting from a key issue and leading to imagined futures, showed how workshop participants valued different aspects of their community, farming systems and landscape.

In the *Landscape Narratives Paper* (Chapter IV), we explored how narratives construct landscape meanings around different core values. How the landscape evolution and ongoing developments were narrated highlighted that stakeholders valued the landscape differently. All three narratives reflected different combinations of landscape values, i.e. ecological and cultural; cultural, economic and aesthetic; and economic and aesthetic values, which highlight different development preferences for the landscape. Nature and biodiversity played different roles in these landscape aspirations. The *Nature Narrative* highlighted the landscape's ecological values, primarily through little or no human intervention and the desire to be close to or in harmony with nature. The *People Narrative* reflected an appreciation for the relationship between people and their environment and wet meadows as distinct ecosystems of the area. The *Land Use Narrative* expressed an appreciation of nature-friendly farming practices as a way to sustain the landscape. Despite some overlap in the values, the narratives also reveal differences in worldviews, i.e. ecocentric vs. anthropocentric perspectives.

In conclusion, the empirical findings of this dissertation show in what way biodiversity is valued and what role it plays vis-à-vis broader landscape and rural development objectives. The findings highlight areas of consensus with regard to landscape development preferences and shared future aspirations but also spaces of contestation around the role and importance of conservation in the two study areas. Our findings thus reveal different views on human-nature relations and contextual values concerning the two landscapes.

5. Synthesis

This dissertation provides a socially situated understanding of biodiversity conservation tradeoffs, i.e. how biodiversity conservation objectives conflict with other land use objectives. Drawing on the key findings summarised in Section 4, I tie the findings in with discussions on transformations of the broader policy and governance context around biodiversity conservation, the role human-nature relations play for the diversity of perspectives and how alternative pathways of social-ecological development can be developed and the role that human agency plays therein.

5.1 Conflicts over biodiversity conservation objectives: transforming the policy and governance context

This dissertation elicited place-based discourses and narratives that are shared by a range of different stakeholders, including but not limited to farmers. Complementing the large body of

literature seeking to understand farmers' environmental motivations, values and behaviours (e.g. Brown et al., 2021), the empirical findings in this dissertation highlight the importance of the broader social landscape to identify barriers and opportunities for biodiversity conservation. For example, the archetypal viewpoints identified through Q-methodology could not be attributed to individual stakeholder groups. It has been suggested that dialogue should include plural meanings and different solutions for equitable and sustainable stewardship (Masterson et al., 2017). This dissertation highlights shared viewpoints and landscape aspirations that shape conservation trade-offs by employing participatory research methods and by drawing on the concepts of discourses and narratives. Identifying the landscape aspirations held by different stakeholders provides an important basis for building a collective vision and understanding consensus and conflict (Nieto-Romero et al., 2016), which can help plan participatory workshops (Jiren et al., 2023). The findings point to areas of convergence and divergence and highlight levers of engagement with conservation trade-offs. For example, the Discourses and Landscape Narratives Papers highlighted contrasting problem framings that can present a barrier to collaborative actions at the landscape scale, which are increasingly called for in biodiversity policy (e.g. Pe'er et al., 2022). Both drivers of biodiversity loss and solutions to this challenge are context-specific (Pascual et al., 2021), which makes an understanding of place-based conservation trade-offs vital for designing governance and policy measures to protect biodiversity.

This dissertation highlights the myriad of ways in which biodiversity objectives are constructed against other land management priorities, i.e. at the agriculture-production nexus (Discourses Paper) and as set within broader rural development (Three Horizons and Landscape Narratives *Papers*). For the trajectories of both landscapes, there is a tension between economic interests and biodiversity conservation objectives. In the Muttama Creek Catchment case study, farming was constructed around productive agriculture in some discourses and as an activity that balances conservation and production in others. The Spreewald Biosphere Reserve case study highlighted trade-offs between a more protectionist approach to nature conservation and human use. There is ample evidence that economic incentives play a role in land managers' decisionmaking, but that decision-making includes various aspects (e.g. Siebert et al., 2006; Cortés-Capano et al., 2020). The findings from this dissertation confirm that economic incentives in agriculture must ensure that they simultaneously create economic and biodiversity benefits (Turnhout et al., 2021) to overcome a dualistic understanding of the economy as separate from biodiversity. Economic rationales of food production are leading to increased intensification and subsequent decreasing on-farm biodiversity in the Muttama Creek Catchment case study and to farmland abandonment and resultant biodiversity loss in the Spreewald. The findings from this dissertation highlight that agricultural and environmental policies must actively and holistically address multiple trade-offs, e.g. between biodiversity conservation and agriculture, carbon farming or tourism development (see also Daněk et al., 2023).

The polarity and tensions that the empirical findings highlight did not emerge in a vacuum, but the policy and governance context played a crucial role in shaping them. Although the broader governance and policy landscapes are very different in the two case studies, both have been dominated by productivist framings of land management. In Australia, environmental and conservation policies have been critiqued for their economic framing (Kusmanoff et al., 2017),

thus sustaining an understanding of farmers as food producers. In the EU, rural development policies are ill-aligned to the context of traditional farming landscapes (Mikulcak et al., 2013), and the Common Agricultural Policy has remained insufficiently designed to improve biodiversity conservation (Leventon et al., 2017; Pe'er and Lakner, 2020). This highlights the limitations of current environmental and biodiversity policies in addressing place-based biodiversity conflicts and improving biodiversity outcomes. In addition to considering trade-offs more holistically, findings from both case studies point to the need to initiate broader debates about what biodiversity means in the respective context and how it can be protected. For example, Herzon et al. (2022) highlight interlinked societal processes which reinforce the extinction of threatened semi-natural habitats, including their role in policy, education and the public's perceptions. These socio-economic processes are also relevant for native biodiversity in the Muttama Creek Catchment and wet meadows in the Spreewald cultural landscape.

Including plural perspectives and values in biodiversity research (c.f. Pascual et al., 2021) also means considering those currently marginal in discussions about biodiversity conservation. This dissertation highlighted aspects that remain marginalised in mainstream or dominant discussions by studying the broader social landscape. In the Muttama Creek Catchment, a topic mostly absent from the interviews and only slightly touched on during the workshops was that of Indigenous biocultural knowledge, i.e. "knowledge that encompasses people, language and culture and their relationship to the environment" (Ens et al., 2015, p. 135). Only four of the 94 participants we interviewed referred to this topic during the interviews. Our findings thus highlight that indigenous biocultural knowledge is currently only a marginal topic in debates about biodiversity conservation in the Muttama Creek Catchment area. A more pluralist and inclusive approach to governance (c.f. Visseren-Hamakers et al., 2021) and a governance system that acknowledges multiple knowledge systems (c.f. Leventon et al., 2021) would help overcome such limitations.

5.2 The kaleidoscope of perspectives on biodiversity conservation: engaging with human-nature relations

Human-nature relationships have become a heavily researched topic in sustainability science (e.g. West et al., 2020; Beery et al., 2023). This includes different worldviews, i.e. anthropocentric, ecocentric, cosmocentric and pluricentric, but also different types of values (Martin et al., 2022). This dissertation highlights how different human-nature relations manifest in the discourses and narratives and how these shape viewpoints on biodiversity conservation trade-offs. The papers highlighted dualistic perspectives on biodiversity for the Muttama Creek Catchment area and fragmentation between biophysical and cultural landscape aspects for the Spreewald. In both case studies, we distinguished between more anthropocentric and ecocentric perspectives, which influence views on biodiversity in the case studies. In line with recent critiques of dichotomous views on humans and nature as separate entities in sustainability science (e.g. West et al., 2020; Biermann, 2021), our findings highlight how fostering a more integrated perspective would help avoid or reduce perceived trade-offs.

Despite the spaces of contestation that the discourses and narratives highlight, research participants shared a sense of responsibility, care and connection to place, which can be seen as elements of stewardship (c.f. Bieling and Plieninger, 2017). Stewardship can refer to

different scales, such as the whole planet (c.f. Steffen et al., 2015) or landscapes (c.f. Plieninger and Bieling, 2017). Moreover, it is not a fixed term, but the understanding of what landscape stewardship means varies (Raymond et al., 2016; Bieling et al., 2020). The Australian model of Landcare provides an example of a form of stewardship. It led to the creation of socialecological imaginaries that do not consider nature and production as siloes but focused on how practice changes lead to ecological changes on the farm (Beilin and Bohnet, 2015). The findings suggest that enacting place-based stewardship would provide an opportunity to bring different stakeholders together under a broad, common value. Aiming towards multiple objectives, including diverse viewpoints and a participatory approach to land use and management would be central to such an approach (c.f. Plieninger and Bieling, 2017). The findings of this dissertation suggest that place-based stewardship would provide an opportunity to address biodiversity conservation trade-offs in a socially amenable way.

In contrast to positive human-nature relations, disconnections from nature is a topic that remains under-researched (Beery et al., 2023). Both the Discourses and Landscape Narratives Papers reflect different values of biodiversity and what Lliso et al. (2022) refer to as nature's disvalues. The latter refers to "values with a negative valence" (Lliso et al., 2022, p. 1). Whereas the Landscape Narratives Paper highlighted how a process of natural succession is perceived to be detrimental to landscape aesthetics, the Discourses Paper showed how biodiversity on farms could be considered a disvalue due to its adverse effects on farmers' incomes. Such perceptions of the negative value of biodiversity on production have also been witnessed in other contexts (e.g. Cortés-Capano et al., 2020). They provide examples of instrumental disvalues, i.e. where nature "leads to an undesirable end with regard to human wellbeing, or when it serves as an obstacle to reach a desired level of wellbeing" (Lliso et al., 2022, p. 3). The concept of disvalues can help shed light, for example, on different positions vis-à-vis environmental policy (Lliso et al., 2022), reflecting different perspectives on human-nature relations. The concept of disvalues as negative values shares some similarities with the concept of ecosystem disservices. There has been much less attention in the academic literature on ecosystem disservices, yet they provide important insights about peoples' perspectives and actions regarding ecosystems (Blanco et al., 2019). This body of research on disservices highlights the need to understand perceptions of the negative impacts of ecosystem processes. Engagement with aspects that make biodiversity or the landscape undesirable is equally insightful for improving biodiversity governance. For example, the Landscape Narratives Paper referred to negative associations with a museum landscape or a 'back to nature' scenario where land abandonment results in ecological succession, raising questions about the viability of traditional wet meadows (see also Lomba et al., 2020). Therefore, the concept of disvalues is highly relevant for understanding perceptions of biodiversity conservation trade-offs.

5.3 Pathways of transformation: exploring alternative trajectories of social-ecological development

In light of the projections of ongoing biodiversity loss and climate change, stories about these phenomena are predominantly negative. For example, the concept 'Anthropocene' was introduced to environmental sciences in 2000 (Crutzen, 2002) and has since become an influential scientific narrative about "human resource exploitation, planetary thresholds and

environmental urgency" (Lövbrand et al., 2015, p. 211). Due to the negative projections of biodiversity loss and global narratives such as that of the Anthropocene, there is a need for positive visions that can inspire people to act (Pereira et al., 2018; Raudsepp-Hearne et al., 2020). Such visions and imagined positive futures can guide where to go and thus play an important role in sustainability transformations (Wiek and Iwaniec, 2014). The Three Horizons and Landscape Narratives Papers addressed the normative question of how the respective case study areas should develop. The findings revealed vastly different motivations for change, including economic and nature conservation interests. Moreover, dialogue among a broad range of actors, especially marginalised groups, is beneficial for effective and innovative actions (Drimie et al., 2018). The Three Horizons approach enabled a dialogue among different people in the social landscape. While not all transformative, the outcomes of the Three Horizons workshops highlight opportunities for change and to engage with the biodiversity-production trade-off. Participatory methods can involve various stakeholders and diverse aspirations to explore trade-offs. For example, participatory scenario development has been used to explore trade-offs and synergies between food security and biodiversity conservation (Hanspach et al., 2017; Jiren et al., 2020) or between different future pathways (Harmáčková et al., 2022). By creating momentum, mobilising action and supporting experimentation, analysing multiple futures is valuable for understanding transformative change (Norström et al., 2022). Moreover, collective futures approaches can include local ecological knowledge and help to consider a sustainable landscape and pathways towards it (Beilin and Bohnet, 2015). Both Q-methodology and the Three Horizons Framework as participatory methods helped identify opportunities for change that can reduce trade-offs and benefit the broader community and landscape, for example, agritourism or local food production systems.

Human agency is a recurring topic in the study of sustainability transformations. Agency refers to "the capacity of individuals to act independently to make their own free choices" (Brown and Westaway, 2011, p. 322). Fostering human agency to bring about transformative change is crucial in enabling approaches to transformation (Scoones et al., 2020) and helps understand how to bring about change locally (Falardeau et al., 2019). Human agency is central to the Three Horizons Framework (Sharpe et al., 2016). Whereas Q-methodology helped narrate desirable cultural landscape trajectories, the Three Horizons Framework went a step further and addressed how research participants, individually and collectively, can bring about change towards diverse positive futures. Both the *Three Horizons* and *Landscape Narratives Papers* identified overlapping values and meanings which can provide a basis for transformative interventions (c.f. Charli-Joseph et al., 2018). Whereas the *Landscape Narratives Paper* highlighted different problem framings, the Three Horizons approach helped with collective sensemaking, e.g. a joint problem understanding.

Despite the limitations of the Three Horizons approach concerning lasting on-ground changes, considering future landscape trajectories through a narrative lens proved helpful in exploring opportunities for system change. Narratives are a building block "for creative and emotive ways of imagining the future" (Wyborn et al., 2020, p. 1092). Creative approaches play an increasingly important role in conservation to engage with diverse narratives and perspectives on the environment based on lived experiences of a broad range of people (Gould et al., 2018). Furthermore, Pereira et al. (2019) highlight the need for participatory processes that are both

inclusive and creative. Photo-based Q-methodology and the Three Horizons Framework offered the opportunity to hear a broad range of voices, including marginal ones, and the storytelling approach offered a creative way of developing narratives of change. The recent sustainability science literature has increasingly discussed the potential of arts-based approaches for sustainability transformations (e.g. Raatikainen et al., 2020; Norström et al., 2022). Arts-based approaches can help uncover underexplored human-nature relations (Benavides-Frias et al., 2022), draw on alternative ways of knowing and create new stories and narratives about transformations (Bentz et al., 2022). This can help overcome prescriptive, one-size-fits-all approaches and allow for innovative engagement with place-based notions of biodiversity. As a novel way to discuss biodiversity conservation trade-offs, arts-based approaches present an avenue for future research on social-ecological trajectories.

6. Conclusions and future research directions

Preventing and halting the loss of biological diversity ranks highly on the (global) political agenda, and anthropogenic drivers of biodiversity loss are widely recognised in academia. However, context is vital for shaping how this issue plays out in the social arena and can be managed. Even within the same landscape, perspectives on successfully managing biodiversity can vary substantially. How to govern biodiversity thus remains a pertinent question in conservation and sustainability science. In this dissertation, I examined place-based biodiversity conservation trade-offs. I sought to contribute to a better understanding of the role of the social landscape in influencing trade-offs between biodiversity and other land use objectives through mixed methods research in two case studies. In the following, I first highlight the main findings of this dissertation before synthesising the key insights and discussing future research directions. Finally, I highlight the relevance of the findings for practitioners and policymakers.

The conceptual framing of this dissertation focused on key themes that help illuminate conservation conflicts and trade-offs. I drew on the concepts of narratives and discourses to explore shared perspectives on landscape development, land management and aspirations towards the future. **For the first research aim**, I identified shared viewpoints pointing to diverse perceptions of the importance of biodiversity, problem framings and preferred land use options. I showed how these relative viewpoints result in different understandings of biodiversity conservation trade-offs. **For the second research aim**, I explored different contextual values and aspirational ambitions towards biodiversity conservation and rural development. The findings highlighted what role biodiversity conservation trade-offs play in future imaginaries and visions of broader landscape development.

These findings were subsequently synthesised into three overarching themes. (1) I highlighted how engaging with different perspectives is vital to address underlying causes of biodiversity conservation trade-offs. In light of the calls to transform the governance system of biodiversity, the findings of this dissertation highlighted the importance of holistically addressing multiple trade-offs with biodiversity conservation and inclusive approaches, especially towards marginal viewpoints. (2) I discussed the role of underlying human-nature relations in understanding

trade-offs. This dissertation pointed to the potential of place-based stewardship and disvalues, which remain an under-studied topic in the literature but can yield important insights into barriers to conservation actions. (3) I highlighted the value of participatory engagement with future aspirations to identify areas of convergence that can help mobilise action to improve conservation outcomes. Creative and arts-based approaches are increasingly discussed in sustainability scholarship and, in light of the findings, were suggested as a promising approach for futures studies.

This dissertation also provided insights into managing biodiversity conservation trade-offs for policymakers and practitioners. **First**, current environmental and biodiversity policies draw on a broad range of different instruments to address the ongoing loss of biodiversity. However, the findings highlighted the limitations of prescriptive approaches that are not contextually sensitive and those that promote only instrumental or monetary biodiversity values. Global and national priorities for biodiversity conservation have been set, and there is a need to close the gap between those top-down goals and bottom-up approaches to conservation. Approaches including various stakeholders at scales meaningful to people present opportunities to discuss the inherently normative questions of biodiversity conservation. **Second**, the Three Horizons Framework was developed by practitioners and constitutes a promising tool to engage with and activate the imaginary potential of a diverse group of people. It is a versatile tool not only for practitioners but also for transdisciplinary research.

Notwithstanding calls for synergies and win-win solutions for conservation, studying biodiversity trade-offs, i.e. trade-offs between biodiversity conservation and other land use objectives, highlights opportunities for change. The key challenge for current and future biodiversity conservation lies in finding ways to navigate the resulting tensions and conflicts that are "not only in harmony with the landscape, but in harmony with those living and working there" (Iversen et al., 2022, p. 8). So far, policies to protect or enhance biodiversity have not yielded the desired effects. By studying the broader social landscape, this dissertation spotlighted the intersection between biodiversity and other land use objectives in two placebased case studies. Through the mixed methods, participatory approach of this dissertation, I elicited place-based conceptions of biodiversity trade-offs and pointed to opportunities for systems change to enhance conservation outcomes. This dissertation thus provided insights into how management and governance of biodiversity can be improved by highlighting shared values and how divergent perspectives and aspirations can be navigated. In conclusion, this dissertation provided empirical evidence on how biodiversity is conceptualised in two case studies and how the participatory approach helped create spaces for imagination and engagement with desirable system change and the role of biodiversity therein. The work underdone for this dissertation and the resulting empirical findings hopefully make a small contribution to achieving the CBD's 2050 vision for a planet where humans live in harmony with nature.

References

Adams, W.M., Sandbrook, C., 2013. Conservation, evidence and policy. Oryx 47 (3), 329–335.

- Aryal, K., Maraseni, T., Apan, A., 2022. How much do we know about trade-offs in ecosystem services? A systematic review of empirical research observations. *The Science of the total environment* 806 (Pt 3), 151229.
- Beery, T., Stahl Olafsson, A., Gentin, S., Maurer, M., Stålhammar, S., Albert, C., Bieling, C., Buijs, A., Fagerholm, N., Garcia-Martin, M., Plieninger, T., M. Raymond, C., 2023.
 Disconnection from nature: Expanding our understanding of human-nature relations. *People and Nature* 21 (2), 145.
- Beilin, R., Bohnet, I.C., 2015. Culture-production-place and nature: the landscapes of somewhere. *Sustainability Science* 10 (2), 195–205.
- Benavides-Frias, C., Ortiz-Przychodzka, S., Schaal, T., 2022. Naturaleza en lienzo: narraciones sobre relaciones humanos-naturaleza usando métodos basados en arte en La Paz, Bolivia. *Letras Verdes Revista Latinoamericana de Estudios Socioambientales* (32), 67–87.
- Benitez-Capistros, F., Hugé, J., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Koedam, N., 2016. Exploring conservation discourses in the Galapagos Islands: A case study of the Galapagos giant tortoises. *Ambio* 45 (6), 706–724.
- Bennett, N.J., 2016. Using perceptions as evidence to improve conservation and environmental management. *Conservation Biology* 30 (3), 582–592.
- Bennett, N.J., Dodge, M., Akre, T.S., Canty, S.W.J., Chiaravalloti, R., Dayer, A.A., Deichmann, J.L., Gill, D., McField, M., McNamara, J., Murphy, S.E., Nowakowski, A.J., Songer, M., 2022. Social science for conservation in working landscapes and seascapes. *Frontiers in Conservation Science* 3, 329.
- Bennett, N.J., Roth, R., Klain, S.C., Chan, K., Christie, P., Clark, D.A., Cullman, G., Curran, D., Durbin, T.J., Epstein, G., Greenberg, A., Nelson, M.P., Sandlos, J., Stedman, R., Teel, T.L., Thomas, R., Veríssimo, D., Wyborn, C., 2017. Conservation social science: Understanding and integrating human dimensions to improve conservation. *Biological Conservation* 205 (16), 93–108.
- Bentz, J., O'Brien, K., Scoville-Simonds, M., 2022. Beyond "blah blah": exploring the "how" of transformation. *Sustainability Science* 17 (2), 497–506.
- Berger, R., 2015. Now I see it, now I don't: researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research* 15 (2), 219–234.
- Berry, P.M., Fabók, V., Blicharska, M., Bredin, Y.K., Llorente, M.G., Kovács, E., Geamana, N., Stanciu, A., Termansen, M., Jääskeläinen, T., Haslett, J.R., Harrison, P.A., 2018. Why conserve biodiversity? A multi-national exploration of stakeholders' views on the arguments for biodiversity conservation. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 27 (7), 1741–1762.
- Bieling, C., Eser, U., Plieninger, T., 2020. Towards a better understanding of values in sustainability transformations: ethical perspectives on landscape stewardship. *Ecosystems and People* 16 (1), 188–196.
- Bieling, C., Plieninger, T. (Eds.), 2017. The science and practice of landscape stewardship. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 388 pp.
- Biermann, F., 2021. The future of 'environmental' policy in the Anthropocene: time for a paradigm shift. *Environmental Politics* 30 (1-2), 61–80.

- Blanco, J., Dendoncker, N., Barnaud, C., Sirami, C., 2019. Ecosystem disservices matter: Towards their systematic integration within ecosystem service research and policy. *Ecosystem Services* 36, 100913.
- Brown, C., Kovács, E., Herzon, I., Villamayor-Tomas, S., Albizua, A., Galanaki, A., Grammatikopoulou, I., McCracken, D., Olsson, J.A., Zinngrebe, Y., 2021. Simplistic understandings of farmer motivations could undermine the environmental potential of the common agricultural policy. *Land Use Policy* 101, 105136.
- Brown, K., Westaway, E., 2011. Agency, Capacity, and Resilience to Environmental Change: Lessons from Human Development, Well-Being, and Disasters. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*. 36 (1), 321–342.
- Brown, S.R., 1980. Political subjectivity: Applications of Q methodology in political science. Yale University Press, New Haven, 355 pp.
- Bryman, A., 2016. Social research methods, 5th ed. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 747 pp.
- Busse, M., Zoll, F., Siebert, R., Bartels, A., Bokelmann, A., Scharschmidt, P., 2021. How farmers think about insects: perceptions of biodiversity, biodiversity loss and attitudes towards insect-friendly farming practices. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 30 (11), 3045–3066.
- Butchart, S.H.M., Walpole, M., Collen, B., van Strien, A., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Almond, R.E.A., Baillie, J.E.M., Bomhard, B., Brown, C., Bruno, J., Carpenter, K.E., Carr, G.M., Chanson, J., Chenery, A.M., Csirke, J., Davidson, N.C., Dentener, F., Foster, M., Galli, A., Galloway, J.N., Genovesi, P., Gregory, R.D., Hockings, M., Kapos, V., Lamarque, J.-F., Leverington, F., Loh, J., McGeoch, M.A., McRae, L., Minasyan, A., Hernández Morcillo, M., Oldfield, T.E.E., Pauly, D., Quader, S., Revenga, C., Sauer, J.R., Skolnik, B., Spear, D., Stanwell-Smith, D., Stuart, S.N., Symes, A., Tierney, M., Tyrrell, T.D., Vié, J.-C., Watson, R., 2010. Global biodiversity: indicators of recent declines. *Science* 328 (5982), 1164–1168.
- Chan, K.M.A., Balvanera, P., Benessaiah, K., Chapman, M., Díaz, S., Gómez-Baggethun, E., Gould, R., Hannahs, N., Jax, K., Klain, S., Luck, G.W., Martín-López, B., Muraca, B., Norton, B., Ott, K., Pascual, U., Satterfield, T., Tadaki, M., Taggart, J., Turner, N., 2016. Opinion: Why protect nature? Rethinking values and the environment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 113 (6), 1462–1465.
- Charli-Joseph, L., Siqueiros-Garcia, J.M., Eakin, H., Manuel-Navarrete, D., Shelton, R., 2018. Promoting agency for social-ecological transformation: a transformation-lab in the Xochimilco social-ecological system. *Ecology & Society* 23 (2).
- Clapp, J., 2015. Distant agricultural landscapes. Sustainability Science 10 (2), 305-316.
- Clark, W.C., Dickson, N.M., 2003. Sustainability science: the emerging research program. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 100 (14), 8059–8061.
- Clement, S., 2021. Governing the Anthropocene: Novel ecosystems, transformation and environmental policy. Palgrave Macmillan Springer Nature Switzerland, Cham, Switzerland, 353 pp.
- Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), 2021. FIRST DRAFT OF THE POST-2020 GLOBAL BIODIVERSITY FRAMEWORK. https://www.cbd.int/doc/c/abb5/591f/2e46096d3f0330b08ce87a45/wg2020-03-03-en.pdf (accessed 3 March 2023).

- Cortés-Capano, G., Toivonen, T., Soutullo, A., Fernández, A., Dimitriadis, C., Garibotto-Carton, G., Di Minin, E., 2020. Exploring landowners' perceptions, motivations and needs for voluntary conservation in a cultural landscape. *People and Nature* 2 (3), 840–855.
- Creswell, J.W., Creswell, J.D., 2018. Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches, 5th ed. SAGE Publications, Inc, Thousand Oaks, California, 275 pp.
- Crutzen, P.J., 2002. Geology of mankind. Nature 415 (6867), 23.
- Curtis, A., Ross, H., Marshall, G.R., Baldwin, C., Cavaye, J., Freeman, C., Carr, A., Syme, G.J., 2014. The great experiment with devolved NRM governance: lessons from community engagement in Australia and New Zealand since the 1980s. *Australasian Journal of Environmental Management* 21 (2), 175–199.
- Daněk, J., Blättler, L., Leventon, J., Vačkářová, D., 2023. Beyond nature conservation? Perceived benefits and role of the ecosystem services framework in protected landscape areas in the Czech Republic. *Ecosystem Services* 59 (9), 101504.
- Díaz, S., Demissew, S., Carabias, J., Joly, C., Lonsdale, M., Ash, N., Larigauderie, A., Adhikari, J.R., Arico, S., Báldi, A., Bartuska, A., Baste, I.A., Bilgin, A., Brondizio, E., Chan, K.M.A., Figueroa, V.E., Duraiappah, A., Fischer, M., Hill, R., Koetz, T., Leadley, P., Lyver, P., Mace, G.M., Martin-Lopez, B., Okumura, M., Pacheco, D., Pascual, U., Pérez, E.S., Reyers, B., Roth, E., Saito, O., Scholes, R.J., Sharma, N., Tallis, H., Thaman, R., Watson, R., Yahara, T., Hamid, Z.A., Akosim, C., Al-Hafedh, Y., Allahverdiyev, R., Amankwah, E., Asah, S.T., Asfaw, Z., Bartus, G., Brooks, L.A., Caillaux, J., Dalle, G., Darnaedi, D., Driver, A., Erpul, G., Escobar-Eyzaguirre, P., Failler, P., Fouda, A.M.M., Fu, B., Gundimeda, H., Hashimoto, S., Homer, F., Lavorel, S., Lichtenstein, G., Mala, W.A., Mandivenyi, W., Matczak, P., Mbizvo, C., Mehrdadi, M., Metzger, J.P., Mikissa, J.B., Moller, H., Mooney, H.A., Mumby, P., Nagendra, H., Nesshover, C., Oteng-Yeboah, A.A., Pataki, G., Roué, M., Rubis, J., Schultz, M., Smith, P., Sumaila, R., Takeuchi, K., Thomas, S., Verma, M., Yeo-Chang, Y., Zlatanova, D., 2015. The IPBES Conceptual Framework connecting nature and people. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 14, 1–16.
- Drimie, S., Hamann, R., Manderson, A.P., Mlondobozi, N., 2018. Creating transformative spaces for dialogue and action: reflecting on the experience of the Southern Africa Food Lab. *Ecology & Society* 23 (3).
- Dryzek, J.S., 2013. The Politics of the Earth: Environmental Discourses, 3rd ed. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 270 pp.
- Eakin, H., Shelton, R.E., Siqueiros-Garcia, J.M., Charli-Joseph, L., Manuel-Navarrete, D., 2019. Loss and social-ecological transformation: pathways of change in Xochimilco, Mexico. *Ecology & Society* 24 (3).
- Ellis, E.C., Pascual, U., Mertz, O., 2019. Ecosystem services and nature's contribution to people: negotiating diverse values and trade-offs in land systems. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 38, 86–94.
- Ens, E.J., Pert, P., Clarke, P.A., Budden, M., Clubb, L., Doran, B., Douras, C., Gaikwad, J., Gott, B., Leonard, S., Locke, J., Packer, J., Turpin, G., Wason, S., 2015. Indigenous biocultural knowledge in ecosystem science and management: Review and insight from Australia. *Biological Conservation* 181, 133–149.
- Erjavec, K., Erjavec, E., 2015. 'Greening the CAP' Just a fashionable justification? A discourse analysis of the 2014–2020 CAP reform documents. *Food Policy* 51, 53–62.

- Falardeau, M., Raudsepp-Hearne, C., Bennett, E.M., 2019. A novel approach for co-producing positive scenarios that explore agency: case study from the Canadian Arctic. *Sustainability Science* 14 (1), 205–220.
- Fitzgerald, O., Collins, C.M., Potter, C., 2021. Woodland Expansion in Upland National Parks: An Analysis of Stakeholder Views and Understanding in the Dartmoor National Park, UK. *Land* 10 (3), 270.
- Foley, J.A., Ramankutty, N., Brauman, K.A., Cassidy, E.S., Gerber, J.S., Johnston, M., Mueller, N.D., O'Connell, C., Ray, D.K., West, P.C., Balzer, C., Bennett, E.M., Carpenter, S.R., Hill, J., Monfreda, C., Polasky, S., Rockstrom, J., Sheehan, J., Siebert, S., Tilman, D., Zaks, D.P.M., 2011. Solutions for a cultivated planet. *Nature* 478 (7369), 337–342.
- Freeman, R.E., 1984. Strategic management: A stakeholder approach. Pitman, Boston, Massachusetts, 276 pp.
- Gould, R.K., Phukan, I., Mendoza, M.E., Ardoin, N.M., Panikkar, B., 2018. Seizing opportunities to diversify conservation. *Conservation Letters* 11 (4), e12431.
- Green, R.E., Cornell, S.J., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Balmford, A., 2005. Farming and the fate of wild nature. *Science* 307 (5709), 550–555.
- Gustafsson, K.M., 2013. Environmental discourses and biodiversity: the construction of a storyline in understanding and managing an environmental issue. *Journal of Integrative Environmental Sciences* 10 (1), 39–54.
- Hajer, M.A., 1995. The Politics of Environmental Discourse: Ecological Modernization and the Policy Process. Oxford University Press Inc., New York, 332 pp.
- Hajer, M.A., 2006. Doing discourse analysis: coalitions, practices and meaning. In: van den Brink, M. (Ed.), Words matter in policy and planning: Discourse theory and method in the social sciences. Koninklijk Nederlands Aardrijkskundig Genootschap, Utrecht, pp. 65–74.
- Hanspach, J., Abson, D.J., French Collier, N., Dorresteijn, I., Schultner, J., Fischer, J., 2017. From trade-offs to synergies in food security and biodiversity conservation. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 15 (9), 489–494.
- Harmáčková, Z.V., Blättler, L., Aguiar, A.P.D., Daněk, J., Krpec, P., Vačkářová, D., 2022. Linking multiple values of nature with future impacts: value-based participatory scenario development for sustainable landscape governance. *Sustainability Science* 17, 849–864.
- Henle, K., Alard, D., Clitherow, J., Cobb, P., Firbank, L., Kull, T., McCracken, D., Moritz, R.F.A., Niemelä, J., Rebane, M., Wascher, D., Watt, A., Young, J., 2008. Identifying and managing the conflicts between agriculture and biodiversity conservation in Europe–A review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 124 (1-2), 60–71.
- Hermans, K., Berger, E., Biber-Freudenberger, L., Bossenbroek, L., Ebeler, L., Groth, J., Hack, J., Hanspach, J., Hintz, K.S., Kimengsi, J.N., Kwong, Y.M.C., Oakes, R., Pagogna, R., Plieninger, T., Sterly, H., van der Geest, K., van Vliet, J., Wiederkehr, C., 2021. Crisis-induced disruptions in place-based social-ecological research an opportunity for redirection. *GAIA Ecological Perspectives for Science and Society* 30 (2), 72–76.
- Herzon, I., Raatikainen, K.J., Helm, A., Rūsiņa, S., Wehn, S., Eriksson, O., 2022. Semi-natural habitats in the European boreal region: Caught in the socio-ecological extinction vortex? *Ambio* 51 (8), 1753–1763.
- Hill, R., Díaz, S., Pascual, U., Stenseke, M., Molnár, Z., van Velden, J., 2021. Nature's contributions to people: Weaving plural perspectives. *One Earth* 4 (7), 910–915.
- Hinkel, J., Mangalagiu, D., Bisaro, A., Tàbara, J.D., 2020. Transformative narratives for climate action. *Climatic Change* 160 (4), 495–506.

- Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES), 2019. Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Brondizio, E.S., Settele, J., Díaz, S., Ngo, H.T. (Eds.). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany. 1148 pages.
- Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES), 2022. Summary for Policymakers of the Methodological Assessment Report on the Diverse Values and Valuation of Nature of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Pascual, U., Balvanera, P., Christie, M., Baptiste, B., González-Jiménez, D., Anderson, C. B., Athayde, S., Chaplin-Kramer, R., Jacobs, S., Kelemen, E., Kumar, R., Lazos, E., Martin, A., Mwampamba, T. H., Nakangu, B., O'Farrell, P., Raymond, C. M., Subramanian, S. M., Termansen, M., Van Noordwijk, M., and Vatn, A. (Eds.). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany. 48 pages
- Iversen, S.V., van der Naomi, V., Convery, I., Mansfield, L., Holt, C.D.S., 2022. Why understanding stakeholder perspectives and emotions is important in upland woodland creation A case study from Cumbria, UK. *Land Use Policy* 114, 105929.
- Jetzkowitz, J., van Koppen, C.S.A., Lidskog, R., Ott, K., Voget-Kleschin, L., Wong, C.M.L., 2018. The significance of meaning. Why IPBES needs the social sciences and humanities. *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research* 31 (S1), S38-S60.
- Jiren, T.S., Abson, D.J., Schultner, J., Riechers, M., Fischer, J., 2023. Bridging scenario planning and backcasting: A Q-analysis of divergent stakeholder priorities for future landscapes. *People and Nature* 16 (1), 199.
- Jiren, T.S., Hanspach, J., Schultner, J., Fischer, J., Bergsten, A., Senbeta, F., Hylander, K., Dorresteijn, I., 2020. Reconciling food security and biodiversity conservation: participatory scenario planning in southwestern Ethiopia. *Ecology & Society* 25 (3).
- Kates, R.W., 2011. What kind of a science is sustainability science? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108 (49), 19449–19450.
- Kates, R.W., Clark, W.C., Corell, R., Hall, J.M., Jaeger, C.C., Lowe, I., McCarthy, J.J., Schellnhuber, H.J., Bolin, B., Dickson, N.M., Faucheux, S., Gallopin, G.C., Grübler, A., Huntley, B., Jäger, J., Jodha, N.S., Kasperson, R.E., Mabogunje, A., Matson, P., Mooney, H., MooreIII, B., O'Riordan, T., Svedin, U., 2001. Sustainability Science. *Science* 292 (5517), 641–642.
- Kehoe, L., Romero-Muñoz, A., Polaina, E., Estes, L., Kreft, H., Kuemmerle, T., 2017. Biodiversity at risk under future cropland expansion and intensification. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 1 (8), 1129–1135.
- Koch, L., Gorris, P., Pahl-Wostl, C., 2021. Narratives, narrations and social structure in environmental governance. *Global Environmental Change* 69, 102317.
- Kooiman, J., 2010. Social-Political Governance: Introduction. In: Kooiman, J. (Ed.), Modern governance: New government-society interactions. SAGE, London, Newbury Park, Calif, pp. 1–6.
- Kusmanoff, A.M., Fidler, F., Gordon, A., Bekessy, S.A., 2017. Decline of 'biodiversity' in conservation policy discourse in Australia. *Environmental Science & Policy* 77, 160–165.
- Lécuyer, L., Alard, D., Calla, S., Coolsaet, B., Fickel, T., Heinsoo, K., Henle, K., Herzon, I., Hodgson, I., Quétier, F., McCracken, D., McMahon, B.J., Melts, I., Sands, D., Skrimizea, E., Watt, A., White, R., Young, J., 2021. Conflicts between agriculture and biodiversity conservation in Europe: Looking to the future by learning from the past. In: Bohan, D.,
Dumbrell, A. (Eds.), The Future of Agricultural Landscapes, Part III, vol. 65. Elsevier Ltd., London, United Kingdom, pp. 3–56.

- Leventon, J., Duşe, I.A., Horcea-Milcu, A.-I., 2021. Leveraging Biodiversity Action From Plural Values: Transformations of Governance Systems. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 9, 609853.
- Leventon, J., Schaal, T., Velten, S., Dänhardt, J., Fischer, J., Abson, D.J., Newig, J., 2017. Collaboration or fragmentation? Biodiversity management through the common agricultural policy. *Land Use Policy* 64, 1–12.
- Leventon, J., Schaal, T., Velten, S., Loos, J., Fischer, J., Newig, J., 2019. Landscape-scale biodiversity governance: Scenarios for reshaping spaces of governance. *Environmental Policy and Governance* 29 (3), 170–184.
- Lliso, B., Lenzi, D., Muraca, B., Chan, K.M.A., Pascual, U., 2022. Nature's disvalues: what are they and why do they matter? *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 56, 1–9.
- Lomba, A., Moreira, F., Klimek, S., Jongman, R.H.G., Sullivan, C., Moran, J., Poux, X., Honrado, J.P., Pinto-Correia, T., Plieninger, T., McCracken, D.I., 2020. Back to the future: rethinking socioecological systems underlying high nature value farmlands. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 18 (1), 36–42.
- Louder, E., Wyborn, C., 2020. Biodiversity narratives: stories of the evolving conservation landscape. *Environmental Conservation* 47 (4), 251–259.
- Lövbrand, E., Beck, S., Chilvers, J., Forsyth, T., Hedrén, J., Hulme, M., Lidskog, R., Vasileiadou, E., 2015. Who speaks for the future of Earth? How critical social science can extend the conversation on the Anthropocene. *Global Environmental Change* 32 (4), 211–218.
- Maas, B., Fabian, Y., Kross, S.M., Richter, A., 2021. Divergent farmer and scientist perceptions of agricultural biodiversity, ecosystem services and decision-making. *Biological Conservation* 256, 109065.
- Mace, G.M., 2014. Ecology. Whose conservation? Science 345 (6204), 1558–1560.
- Marshall, F., van Zwanenberg, P., Eakin, H., Charli-Joseph, L., Ely, A., Marin, A., Siqueiros-García, J.M., 2021. Reframing sustainability challenges. In: Network, P. (Ed.), Transformative Pathways to Sustainability. Routledge, London, pp. 187–205.
- Martin, A., O'Farrell, P., Kumar, R., Eser, U., Faith, D.P., Gomez-Baggethun, E., Harmackova, Z., Horcea-Milcu, A.-I., Merçon, J., Quaas, M., Rode, J., Rozzi, R., Sitas, N., Yoshida, Y., Ochieng, T.N., Koessler, A.-K., Lutti, N., Mannetti, L., Arroyo-Robles, G., 2022. Chapter 5. The role of diverse values of nature in visioning and transforming towards just and sustainable futures. In: Christie, M., Balvanera, P., Pascual, U., Baptiste, B., González-Jiménez, D. (Eds.), Methodological Assessment Report on the Diverse Values and Valuation of Nature of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany. 439 pages.
- Massfeller, A., Meraner, M., Hüttel, S., Uehleke, R., 2022. Farmers' acceptance of resultsbased agri-environmental schemes: A German perspective. *Land Use Policy* 120 (2), 106281.
- Masterson, V.A., Spierenburg, M., Tengö, M., 2019. The trade-offs of win-win conservation rhetoric: exploring place meanings in community conservation on the Wild Coast, South Africa. *Sustainability Science* 14 (3), 639–654.

- Masterson, V.A., Stedman, R.C., Enqvist, J., Tengö, M., Giusti, M., Wahl, D., Svedin, U., 2017. The contribution of sense of place to social-ecological systems research: a review and research agenda. *Ecology & Society* 22 (1).
- McKeown, B., Thomas, D.B., 2013. Q methodology, 2nd ed. SAGE, Los Angeles, London, New Delhi, Singapore, Washington DC, 120 pp.
- McShane, T.O., Hirsch, P.D., Trung, T.C., Songorwa, A.N., Kinzig, A., Monteferri, B., Mutekanga, D., van Thang, H., Dammert, J.L., Pulgar-Vidal, M., Welch-Devine, M., Peter Brosius, J., Coppolillo, P., O'Connor, S., 2011. Hard choices: Making trade-offs between biodiversity conservation and human well-being. *Biological Conservation* 144 (3), 966– 972.
- Mikulcak, F., Newig, J., Milcu, A.I., Hartel, T., Fischer, J., 2013. Integrating rural development and biodiversity conservation in Central Romania. *Environmental Conservation* 40 (2), 129–137.
- Milcu, A.I., Sherren, K., Hanspach, J., Abson, D., Fischer, J., 2014. Navigating conflicting landscape aspirations: Application of a photo-based Q-method in Transylvania (Central Romania). *Land Use Policy* 41, 408–422.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MA), 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Mitchell, M., Lockwood, M., Moore, S.A., Clement, S., Gilfedder, L., Anderson, G., 2016. Using scenario planning to assess governance reforms for enhancing biodiversity outcomes. *Land Use Policy* 50, 559–572.
- Moon, K., Adams, V.M., Cooke, B., 2019. Shared personal reflections on the need to broaden the scope of conservation social science. *People and Nature* 1 (4), 426–434.
- New South Wales Government, Department of Primary Industries (NSW DPI), 2018. Important Agricultural Land Mapping: Riverina Murray Region Agricultural Profile. Factsheet No. 1. <u>https://www.dpi.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/843363/Draft-ial-mapping-riverina-murray-agricultural-profile.pdf</u> (accessed 1 April 2023).
- Newsome, L., 2020. Beyond 'get big or get out': Female farmers' responses to the cost-price squeeze of Australian agriculture. *Journal of Rural Studies* 79, 57–64.
- Nieto-Romero, M., Milcu, A., Leventon, J., Mikulcak, F., Fischer, J., 2016. The role of scenarios in fostering collective action for sustainable development: Lessons from central Romania. *Land Use Policy* 50, 156–168.
- Norström, A.V., Agarwal, B., Balvanera, P., Baptiste, B., Bennett, E.M., Brondízio, E., Biggs, R., Campbell, B., Carpenter, S.R., Castilla, J.C., Castro, A.J., Cramer, W., Cumming, G.S., Felipe-Lucia, M., Fischer, J., Folke, C., Defries, R., Gelcich, S., Groth, J., Ifejika Speranza, C., Jacobs, S., Hofmann, J., Hughes, T.P., Lam, D.P.M., Loos, J., Manyani, A., Martín-López, B., Meacham, M., Moersberger, H., Nagendra, H., Pereira, L., Polasky, S., Schoon, M., Schultz, L., Selomane, O., Spierenburg, M., 2022. The programme on ecosystem change and society (PECS) a decade of deepening social-ecological research through a place-based focus. *Ecosystems and People* 18 (1), 598–608.
- Paavola, J., Gouldson, A., Kluvánková-Oravská, T., 2009. Interplay of actors, scales, frameworks and regimes in the governance of biodiversity. *Environmental Policy and Governance* 19 (3), 148–158.
- Pascual, U., Adams, W.M., Díaz, S., Lele, S., Mace, G.M., Turnhout, E., 2021. Biodiversity and the challenge of pluralism. *Nature Sustainability* 4, 567–572.

- Pascual, U., Balvanera, P., Díaz, S., Pataki, G., Roth, E., Stenseke, M., Watson, R.T., Başak Dessane, E., Islar, M., Kelemen, E., Maris, V., Quaas, M., Subramanian, S.M., Wittmer, H., Adlan, A., Ahn, S., Al-Hafedh, Y.S., Amankwah, E., Asah, S.T., Berry, P., Bilgin, A., Breslow, S.J., Bullock, C., Cáceres, D., Daly-Hassen, H., Figueroa, E., Golden, C.D., Gómez-Baggethun, E., González-Jiménez, D., Houdet, J., Keune, H., Kumar, R., Ma, K., May, P.H., Mead, A., O'Farrell, P., Pandit, R., Pengue, W., Pichis-Madruga, R., Popa, F., Preston, S., Pacheco-Balanza, D., Saarikoski, H., Strassburg, B.B., van den Belt, M., Verma, M., Wickson, F., Yagi, N., 2017. Valuing nature's contributions to people: the IPBES approach. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 26-27, 7–16.
- Pe'er, G., Lakner, S., 2020. The EU's Common Agricultural Policy Could Be Spent Much More Efficiently to Address Challenges for Farmers, Climate, and Biodiversity. *One Earth* 3 (2), 173–175.
- Pe'er, G., Finn, J.A., Díaz, M., Birkenstock, M., Lakner, S., Röder, N., Kazakova, Y., Šumrada, T., Bezák, P., Concepción, E.D., Dänhardt, J., Morales, M.B., Rac, I., Špulerová, J., Schindler, S., Stavrinides, M., Targetti, S., Viaggi, D., Vogiatzakis, I.N., Guyomard, H., 2022. How can the European Common Agricultural Policy help halt biodiversity loss? Recommendations by over 300 experts. *Conservation Letters* 15 (6), e12901.
- Pereira, L., Sitas, N., Ravera, F., Jimenez-Aceituno, A., Merrie, A., 2019. Building capacities for transformative change towards sustainability: Imagination in Intergovernmental Science-Policy Scenario Processes. *Elementa: Science of the Anthropocene* 7 (1), 35.
- Pereira, L.M., Hichert, T., Hamann, M., Preiser, R., Biggs, R., 2018. Using futures methods to create transformative spaces: visions of a good Anthropocene in southern Africa. *Ecology* & *Society* 23 (1).
- Plieninger, T., Bieling, C., 2017. The Emergence of Landscape Stewardship in Practice, Policy and Research. In: Bieling, C., Plieninger, T. (Eds.), The science and practice of landscape stewardship. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 1–17.
- Plieninger, T., Rana, H.Á.a., Fagerholm, N., Ellingsgaard, G.F., Magnussen, E., Raymond, C.M., Olafsson, A.S., Verbrugge, L.N.H., 2018. Identifying and assessing the potential for conflict between landscape values and development preferences on the Faroe Islands. *Global Environmental Change* 52, 162–180.
- Primdahl, J., Kristensen, L.S., Busck, A.G., 2013. The Farmer and Landscape Management: Different Roles, Different Policy Approaches. *Geography Compass* 7 (4), 300–314.
- Raatikainen, K.J., Juhola, K., Huhmarniemi, M., Peña-Lagos, H., 2020. "Face the cow": reconnecting to nature and increasing capacities for pro-environmental agency. *Ecosystems and People* 16 (1), 273–289.
- Raudsepp-Hearne, C., Peterson, G.D., Bennett, E.M., Biggs, R., Norström, A.V., Pereira, L., Vervoort, J., Iwaniec, D.M., McPhearson, T., Olsson, P., Hichert, T., Falardeau, M., Aceituno, A.J., 2020. Seeds of good anthropocenes: developing sustainability scenarios for Northern Europe. *Sustainability Science* 15 (2), 605–617.
- Raymond, C.M., Bieling, C., Fagerholm, N., Martin-Lopez, B., Plieninger, T., 2016. The farmer as a landscape steward: Comparing local understandings of landscape stewardship, landscape values, and land management actions. *Ambio* 45 (2), 173–184.
- Riessman, C.K., 2008. Narrative methods for the human sciences. SAGE Publications, Inc., Thousand Oaks, Calif., 251 pp.
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, A., Chapin, F.S., Lambin, E.F., Lenton, T.M., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H.J., Nykvist, B., Wit, C.A. de, Hughes, T., van der

Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P.K., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., Falkenmark, M., Karlberg, L., Corell, R.W., Fabry, V.J., Hansen, J., Walker, B., Liverman, D., Richardson, K., Crutzen, P., Foley, J.A., 2009. A safe operating space for humanity. *Nature* 461 (7263), 472–475.

- Roe, E., 1994. Narrative Policy Analysis: Theory and Practice. Duke University Press, Durham, 240 pp.
- Ryan, R.L., 2011. The social landscape of planning: Integrating social and perceptual research with spatial planning information. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 100 (4), 361–363.
- Sandbrook, C., Fisher, J.A., Holmes, G., Luque-Lora, R., Keane, A., 2019. The global conservation movement is diverse but not divided. *Nature Sustainability* 2 (4), 316–323.
- Sayer, J., Sunderland, T., Ghazoul, J., Pfund, J.-L., Sheil, D., Meijaard, E., Venter, M., Boedhihartono, A.K., Day, M., Garcia, C., van Oosten, C., Buck, L.E., 2013. Ten principles for a landscape approach to reconciling agriculture, conservation, and other competing land uses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110 (21), 8349–8356.
- Scoones, I., Stirling, A., Abrol, D., Atela, J., Charli-Joseph, L., Eakin, H., Ely, A., Olsson, P., Pereira, L., Priya, R., van Zwanenberg, P., Yang, L., 2020. Transformations to sustainability: combining structural, systemic and enabling approaches. Current Opinion in *Environmental Sustainability* 42, 65–75.
- Sharpe, B., Hodgson, A., Leicester, G., Lyon, A., Fazey, I., 2016. Three horizons: a pathways practice for transformation. *Ecology & Society* 21 (2).
- Siebert, R., Toogood, M., Knierim, A., 2006. Factors Affecting European Farmers' Participation in Biodiversity Policies. *Sociologia Ruralis* 46 (4).
- Soliva, R., 2007. Landscape stories: Using ideal type narratives as a heuristic device in rural studies. *Journal of Rural Studies* 23 (1), 62–74.
- Stedman, R.C., 2016. Subjectivity and social-ecological systems: a rigidity trap (and sense of place as a way out). *Sustainability Science* 11 (6), 891–901.
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E.M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S.R., Vries, W. de, Wit, C.A. de, Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G.M., Persson, L.M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., Sörlin, S., 2015. Sustainability. Planetary boundaries: guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science* 347 (6223), 1259855.
- Stephenson, W., 1935. Technique of factor analysis. Nature 136, 297.
- Tilman, D., Balzer, C., Hill, J., Befort, B.L., 2011. Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108 (50), 20260–20264.
- Tracy, S.J., 2013. Qualitative research methods: Collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact, 1st ed. Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester, 350 pp.
- Turnhout, E., McElwee, P., Chiroleu-Assouline, M., Clapp, J., Isenhour, C., Kelemen, E., Jackson, T., Miller, D.C., Rusch, G.M., Spangenberg, J.H., Waldron, A., 2021. Enabling transformative economic change in the post-2020 biodiversity agenda. *Conservation Letters* 14 (4), e12805.
- Turnhout, E., Purvis, A., 2020. Biodiversity and species extinction: categorisation, calculation, and communication. *Griffith Law Review* 29 (4), 669-685.
- United Nations (UN) Global Compact and International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), 2012. A Framework for Corporate Action on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.

https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/2012-036.pdf (accessed 14 March 2023).

- Velten, S., Schaal, T., Leventon, J., Hanspach, J., Fischer, J., Newig, J., 2018. Rethinking biodiversity governance in European agricultural landscapes: Acceptability of alternative governance scenarios. *Land Use Policy* 77, 84–93.
- Visseren-Hamakers, I.J., Razzaque, J., McElwee, P., Turnhout, E., Kelemen, E., Rusch, G.M., Fernández-Llamazares, Á., Chan, I., Lim, M., Islar, M., Gautam, A.P., Williams, M., Mungatana, E., Karim, M.S., Muradian, R., Gerber, L.R., Lui, G., Liu, J., Spangenberg, J.H., Zaleski, D., 2021. Transformative governance of biodiversity: insights for sustainable development. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 53, 20–28.
- Watts, S., Stenner, P., 2012. Doing Q methodological research: Theory, method and interpretation. SAGE, London, 238 pp.
- West, S., Haider, L.J., Stålhammar, S., Woroniecki, S., 2020. A relational turn for sustainability science? Relational thinking, leverage points and transformations. *Ecosystems and People* 16 (1), 304–325.
- Wiek, A., Iwaniec, D., 2014. Quality criteria for visions and visioning in sustainability science. *Sustainability Science* 9 (4), 497–512.
- Wittmayer, J.M., Schäpke, N., 2014. Action, research and participation: roles of researchers in sustainability transitions. *Sustainability Science* 9 (4), 483–496.
- Wyborn, C., Montana, J., Kalas, N., Clement, S., Davila, F., Knowles, N., Louder, E., Balan, M., Chambers, J., Christel, L., Forsyth, T., Henderson, G., Izquierdo Tort, S., Lim, M., Martinez-Harms, M.J., Merçon, J., Nuesiri, E., Pereira, L., Pilbeam, V., Turnhout, E., Wood, S., Ryan, M., 2020. An agenda for research and action toward diverse and just futures for life on Earth. *Conservation Biology* 35 (4), 1086–1097.
- Yin, R.K., 2014. Case Study Research: Design and Methods, 5th ed. SAGE Publications Ltd., Los Angeles, London, New Delhi, Singapore, Washington, DC, 282 pp.
- Young, J.C., Marzano, M., White, R.M., McCracken, D.I., Redpath, S.M., Carss, D.N., Quine, C.P., Watt, A.D., 2010. The emergence of biodiversity conflicts from biodiversity impacts: characteristics and management strategies. *Biodiversity Conservation* 19 (14), 3973–3990.

Chapter II

'You can't be green if you're in the red': Local discourses on the production-biodiversity intersection in a mixed farming area in south-eastern Australia (*Discourses Paper*)









Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Land Use Policy

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/landusepol

'You can't be green if you're in the red': Local discourses on the production-biodiversity intersection in a mixed farming area in south-eastern Australia

Tamara Schaal^{a,*}, Annie Jacobs^b, Julia Leventon^c, Ben C. Scheele^d, David Lindenmayer^d, Jan Hanspach^a

^a Faculty of Sustainability, Leuphana University Lueneburg, Germany

^b Muttama Creek Landcare Group Inc, Australia

^c Global Change Research Institute of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Brno, Czechia

^d Sustainable Farms, Fenner School of Environment & Society, The Australian National University, Acton, ACT 2601, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Biodiversity conservation Farming landscapes Private landholders Q methodology Trade-offs Values

ABSTRACT

Limiting biodiversity loss is a global challenge, especially in areas where biodiversity conservation conflicts with intensifying agricultural production. The different views and preferences about how to protect biodiversity, and why it is valuable, make concerted action to improve conservation outcomes difficult. Exploring different discourses that represent shared understandings of an issue or a topic can help to understand this plurality. We focused on a mixed farming area in south-eastern Australia where intensive agricultural production is linked to an ongoing loss of biodiversity. Using the Q-methodology, we conducted 94 interviews with people who may influence biodiversity outcomes in farming landscapes to explore shared understandings of the farmingbiodiversity intersection. We also sought to understand how such discourses relate to perceptions of biodiversity in agricultural contexts and if they are associated with particular stakeholder groups. We identify four discourses on the relationship between farming and biodiversity, the farmers' role and responsibility for biodiversity, and the preferred approaches to improve biodiversity outcomes. Our findings highlight how perceptions of biodiversity by agricultural stakeholders varied substantially between discourses, but that discourses were not significantly associated with stakeholder group. We discuss our findings in the context of policy development and broader governance. We consider how a balanced mix of policy instruments, including market and community-based instruments, can better engage with contrasting understandings of the productionbiodiversity intersection. To improve biodiversity outcomes, it is necessary to integrate a plurality of biodiversity values and ensure a broad and balanced set of policy instruments that supports land managers as stewards of the land.

1. Introduction

The ongoing loss of biological diversity represents one of the key environmental challenges of the 21st century (MA, 2005; IPBES, 2019). There is ample scientific evidence highlighting the decline of biodiversity at a global level (Butchart et al., 2010) and its projected decline in the future (IPBES, 2019). However, progress towards the Convention on Biodiversity Conservation's (CBD) Aichi targets has been insufficient in averting the biodiversity crisis (Tittensor et al., 2014; Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, 2020) and existing environmental legislation and policies are ineffective in halting the loss of biodiversity (Pe'er et al., 2014; Ward et al., 2019; Kleijn et al., 2020) and extinctions (Woinarski et al., 2017). Among the most important drivers of biodiversity loss in terrestrial ecosystems is the expansion and intensification of agriculture (Foley et al., 2011; Tilman et al., 2011; Kehoe et al., 2017). In light of an increasing world population, changes to consumption behaviours and reductions in food waste are seen as critical for global food security in addition to growing food production (Godfray et al., 2010). Therefore, developing better approaches to protect biodiversity in farming landscapes remains a key challenge (Kremen and

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2022.106306

Received 12 November 2021; Received in revised form 1 August 2022; Accepted 3 August 2022 Available online 16 August 2022 0264-8377/© 2022 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.







^{*} Correspondence to: Faculty of Sustainability, Leuphana University of Lueneburg, Universitaetsallee 1, 21335 Lueneburg, Germany. *E-mail address:* schaal@leuphana.de (T. Schaal).

Merenlender, 2018; Kleijn et al., 2020).

Different viewpoints about why biodiversity should be protected and how to avert biodiversity loss represent a key impediment to concerted actions to improve conservation outcomes in farmland. In the conservation community, the 'new conservation' debate highlights different arguments about the value of nature and the best approach to improve conservation outcomes (Soulé, 2013; Marvier, 2014). Fundamental questions such as the value of biodiversity and why it should be protected represent areas of disagreement among conservation practitioners (Berry et al., 2018). Indeed, there are different viewpoints in the professional conservation community about the role of humans, science and capitalism in conservation (Sandbrook et al., 2019). Vastly different approaches to conservation are also reflected by the land sharing versus land sparing debate (Green et al., 2005) and sustainable intensification (Tilman et al., 2011). Perceptions of what constitutes biodiversity, its values, and human-nature relationships vary not only among academics, but also among different social groups (e.g. Buijs et al., 2008; Hill et al., 2021). These diverse positions represent different ways of thinking about how conservation fits with economic objectives, with aspirations of people in local communities, and indeed the relationship between people and nature. Improving biodiversity conservation in farming landscapes is therefore an ecological and social challenge (Snoo et al., 2013) and conservation needs to engage with social evidence on people's perceptions, preferences and values (Bennett, 2016).

In this paper, we explore the diversity in understanding of the intersection of biodiversity and farming by key stakeholders that influence biodiversity outcomes in farming. One way to structure and identify shared and prevalent perceptions of a topic, issue or phenomena is through discourses. A discourse represents a shared way of understanding the world (Dryzek, 2013; Hugé et al., 2013) and can reflect different perceptions of environmental problems (Barry and Proops, 1999). Discourses give meaning to, and help explain, phenomena and issues in the environmental realm. For example, discourses in global environmental politics reflect contrasting ways of conceptualising environmental problems and understanding how they can be addressed within existing institutional structures (Hajer, 2002; Dryzek, 2013). Discourses are a useful concept to draw out different constructions of biodiversity which helps understand how the issue of biodiversity loss can be addressed (Gustafsson, 2013). Engaging with discourses about biodiversity in farming is therefore important to help better understand how biodiversity is perceived in farming systems and to understand areas of consensus and conflict.

We take a place-based approach to understanding discourses because drivers of biodiversity decline and solutions are context specific (Pascual et al., 2021). Studying discourses in a defined geographical area helps elicit contextual conservation understanding and practices (Benitez-Capistros et al., 2016). Connecting with the diverse values and constructs of biodiversity at a local level is important for improving support of public policy (Fischer and Young, 2007) and its design and implementation (Siebert et al., 2006; Bardsley et al., 2019). For example, climate change research has shown that understanding prominent discourses in agricultural communities highlights barriers and opportunities for change (Fleming and Vanclay, 2010). Engaging with the multiple and often competing viewpoints on biodiversity and production objectives can increase our understanding of how to better integrate biodiversity and agricultural production. For example, Jiren et al. (2020), identified four discourses on food security and biodiversity conservation across different governance levels in Ethiopia, highlighting the need for reconciliation between these co-existing viewpoints. Therefore, better understanding of local communities' perspectives on how biodiversity and agricultural production objectives constrain or support each other could help inform future policy development to enhance biodiversity outcomes in agricultural landscapes.

We focus on south-eastern Australia as a case study where land is being used intensively for agriculture and is linked to biodiversity decline, creating a particularly challenging context for preservation and

restoration of biodiversity (Lindenmayer et al., 2016). In Australia, commodity-focused agriculture is largely operating under a 'get big or get out' pressure and a "cost-price squeeze of competitive productivism" (Newsome, 2020, p. 58). At the same time, agriculture is one of the key drivers for declines in threatened species' populations in Australia (Kearney et al., 2019). For example, of the grassy woodland ecosystems dominant in south-eastern Australia before European colonisation, only fragments remain due to land clearing such as the removal of trees and establishment of exotic pastures (Prober and Thiele, 1995). These ecosystems are now internationally recognised as an endangered ecoregion (Hoekstra et al., 2005). Australia has ratified the CBD and there is a suite of federal and state level governance arrangements and policy instruments aimed at improving biodiversity conservation. This includes voluntary, bottom-up approaches such as the Landcare model which started in the 1990 s (Robins, 2018), regulatory approaches such as native vegetation legislation, and market-based instruments (MBIs), such as payments for ecosystem services (Royal, 2021). Despite some successful conservation projects for the protection of threatened species (Garnett et al., 2018), Australia's key piece of national environmental legislation, the Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation (EPBC) Act, has been ineffective in halting the loss of habitat for endangered and threatened species and communities (e.g. Ward et al., 2019). The reasons for this ineffectiveness are complex, including insufficient funding (Wintle et al., 2019), poor monitoring (Scheele et al., 2018) and ineffective laws (Ashman et al., 2022), against the backdrop of the high vulnerability of Australian ecosystems (Bergstrom et al., 2021). Further, a 2018 report on the interaction between the EPBC Act and the agricultural sector highlighted that awareness of obligations under the EPBC Act is limited, processes for designating threatened species and ecological communities are considered to be unclear, and that support to the agricultural sector to achieve environmental objectives is insufficient (Craik, 2018). Finally, climate change adds further pressure to the challenge of integrating profitable farming with successful biodiversity conservation. Biodiversity in south-eastern Australia is projected to decrease by approximately 8% by 2050-2070 solely due to climate change and notwithstanding further land use changes (Drielsma et al., 2017).

Our research aim was to explore the diversity of understandings around biodiversity conservation in farming communities in a mixed farming area in south-eastern Australia. To meet this aim, we developed the following research objectives: (1) identifying biodiversityproduction discourses, (2) understanding perceptions of local biodiversity in agricultural contexts reflected by these discourses, and (3) understanding how the discourses are spread through different stakeholder groups. To this end, we drew on Q-methodology (Brown, 1980; Stephenson, 1935) as a mixed method approach which combines rank-ordering of a set of items on a topic with subsequent interviews to explore the meanings behind or rationales for the sorting. We applied our approach in a study of the Muttama Creek Catchment area in the sheep-wheat belt, an area of intensive agricultural production with only small patches of remnant native vegetation remaining. The challenges associated with biodiversity conservation in this region are common across other highly modified human environments and our findings are relevant for other dryland farming systems in Australia and globally.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Study area

We focused on the Muttama Creek Catchment area in the South-West Slopes of New South Wales (NSW), Australia. The area is characterized by relatively fertile soils, undulating hills and areas of rocky outcrops mostly on hilltops or on top of ridges. The catchment has a temperate climate with an average annual precipitation of 600–800 mm (NSW Government, DPI, 2018). Muttama Creek Catchment is a tributary of the Murrumbidgee river and covers an area of 113,700 ha. Our study area is a mixed farming region in the sheep-wheat zone. The northern part of our study area is predominantly used for cropping (mostly wheat, canola and hay), the southern part of the study area for grazing cattle for milk and meat and sheep for wool and meat (Ryan and Olsauskas, 2018) (Fig. 1). In the Cootamundra-Gundagai Regional Council (CGRC), the local government area which covers our entire study area, the agriculture, forestry and fishing sectors together were the biggest employer in 2016, accounting for 15.2% of employees in the CGRC area (Anon, 2020). The average farm size is 954 ha (NSW Government, DPI, 2018) and livestock accounts for 64% and crops for 36% of the CGRC's AUD \$135.23 million worth of agricultural production (Anon, 2019). Muttama Creek Catchment is characterized by woodlands and open woodlands dominated by white box (Eucalyptus albens) but also other tree species including kurrajong (Brachychiton populneus), black cypress pine (Callitris endlicheri) and river red gum (Eucalyptus camaldulensis) (NSW DPIE, 2016). Since European colonisation, the area has been extensively cleared, leaving mostly remnant and fragmented areas of native vegetation, which have resulted in declining bird populations (NSW DPIE, 2016). For example, the threatened swift parrot (Lathamus discolour) and the endangered ecological community White Box - Yellow Box - Blakely's Red Gum Grassy Woodland and Derived Native Grassland can be found in our study area. Despite funding provided for large scale restoration of Box Gum Grassy Woodlands through the Riverina Local Land Services, no substantial improvements in threatened species have been observed (personal communication with Muttama Creek Landcare Group).

2.2. Q-methodology and discourses

Our aim was to explore the diversity of discourses on the farmingbiodiversity intersection. To understand different discourses, we drew on Q-methodology, which engages with the subjects' own viewpoints and the meaning they attribute to a certain topic, a term coined 'operant subjectivity' (Brown, 1980). It is a mixed-method approach that follows a systematic procedure by which the same set of items on a certain topic or issue is rank-ordered by all participants, followed by a post-sorting interview which helps understand participants' sorting rationale (Watts and Stenner, 2012; McKeown and Thomas, 2013). For the rank-ordering, a grid is used which ranges from 'most agree' to 'most disagree' and which has space for all items, but with fewer spots towards the extremes. Thus, participants consider all items relative to each other based on their subjective viewpoint (Watts and Stenner, 2012). Based on



Fig. 1. Map of the Muttama Creek Catchment and the main land use. Sources: Supplementary material I.

sorting and responses, participants are grouped together when they share a viewpoint on a particular topic or issue. Q-methodology has been used increasingly in environmental science and conservation research (Zabala et al., 2018) and to understand social perspectives in sustainable natural resource management (Sneegas et al., 2021). As Q-methodology aims to identify the breadth of viewpoints on a topic or issue, it can reveal discourses that are marginalised or less common, thereby highlighting areas of conflict; for example, on values that are not visible in dominant discourses (Blicharska and Grandin, 2015).

In Q-methodology, participants are treated as variables and the selection of statements is therefore vital. The set of statements used (termed a Q-set) was developed in an iterative approach based on a review of academic literature, grey literature, and discussions with key informants during a scoping trip in the study area in November 2019 (supplementary material II). Key informants were identified based on our knowledge of the study area and by contacting representatives of key organisations in the study area. These key informants were later contacted for a full interview in the next stage of the research. We identified recurring themes that emerged from these sources and developed statements that covered key aspects of the biodiversityproduction debate (supplementary material III). To explore tensions between farming and biodiversity conservation perspectives, not all statements directly touched on biodiversity but also covered economic aspects such as profitability or productivity. With our initial set of statements, we conducted seven pilot interviews with key informants in the study area. The pilot interviews were pivotal to ensure that our Q-set was well-balanced between more ecological and more farming and production oriented statements, ensuring that we captured the main topics of the debate and that the wording of the statements was clear and concise (following Watts and Stenner, 2012). The Q-set was reduced and refined based on feedback from the pilot interviews, conversations with two key informants working in Landcare and discussions in the research team. Statements that proved to be unclear, ambiguous or redundant were removed. For example, the pilot interviews highlighted that terms such as resilience or ecosystem services are not part of the everyday language of land managers in our study area and were therefore not included. These steps were crucial to ensure that the Q-set was comprehensive, relevant, and understandable. Our final Q-set consisted of 36 statements (supplementary material III).

For participants in the Q-methodology, we wanted to identify local discourses by a wide range of stakeholders that influence biodiversity outcomes in our study area. We therefore did not limit our recruitment strategy for participants to only land managers or landholders. We also interviewed key government or natural resource management organisations such as Local Land Services working on this topic, agricultural consultants, farming organisations, and other people whom have an influence on biodiversity management in the study area. We started with an initial list of people who we expected to have contrasting viewpoints based on our knowledge of the study area and people suggested by key informants. We then followed a snowball sampling approach (Bryman, 2016) to identify other participants with potentially different viewpoints relevant to our research by asking participants to suggest contacts who they believed had a contrasting or particularly interesting perspective. Q-methodology studies often have between 30 and 50 participants (McKeown and Thomas, 2013, see also Zabala et al., 2018). Yet, as outlined by Watts and Stenner (2012), there is no criteria for the ideal number of participants. As we wanted to identify the prevalent discourses in our study area, we interviewed a larger number of participants. We continued interviewing until key topics kept coming up repeatedly and when the same participants were referred to us repeatedly. In total, we interviewed 94 participants between 8 March and 12 June 2020. We conducted 34 of these interviews face-to-face. Due to social distancing requirements in light of COVID-19, the remainder of the interviews were conducted online using the video conferencing software Zoom and the website Q-sortware (www.qsortware.net) or a combination of an Excel spreadsheet and an interview over the phone.

The interviews lasted between 30 min and 1 h 45 min, with an average interview lasting approximately 55 min. Except for one person, all participants agreed to be audio-recorded. All recorded interviews were transcribed verbatim and we kept detailed notes of the interview with the participant who did not want to be recorded and of one interview where the recording did not work.

To obtain the sorting of the statements (Q-sorts), interviews followed a standard procedure. Participants were provided with a participant information sheet which was approved by the Human Ethics Committee of the Australian National University and included the purpose of the project, information on confidentiality and potential risks to participants. All participants gave informed consent either verbally for the phone and online interviews or in writing for the in-person interviews. Next, participants were presented with the statements and asked to rank them based on the sorting question 'What should we consider to integrate farming and biodiversity in agricultural landscapes?' from most agree (+4) to most disagree (-4) on a grid representing a quasi-normal distribution. To have a common point of reference, we asked participants to consider biodiversity to mean 'native vegetation and wildlife' during the interviews. The scoping trip and pilot interviews highlighted the different meanings of biodiversity to participants, for example referring only to crop diversity. However, biodiversity in the context of Australian conservation policy targets the preservation of native species. We therefore decided to use this specific definition of biodiversity for the interviews. Following the ranking of the statements, we did a postsorting interview to understand the rationale behind the sorting (Watts and Stenner, 2012) and the broader context within which participants interpreted the statements and attributed meaning to them. Finally, we asked each participant to indicate which of the statements they agreed with, disagreed with, and felt neutral about. At the end of the interview, participants were asked to fill out a short questionnaire to provide demographic information and to state the stakeholder group they belonged to. Data obtained during the interviews were stored on a password-protected laptop and a hard disk and physical records are kept in a locked filing cabinet. Only members of the research team have access to the data and are obliged to maintain confidentiality.

We conducted a factor analysis of the Q-sorts using the PQMethod software version 2.35 (Schmolck, 2014) (Fig. 2). Factor analysis helps identify latent variables (factors) which explain patterns in the data and thus groups participants with similar sorting together (Watts and Stenner, 2012). Based on correlations of all Q-sorts, all eight factors in the unrotated factor matrix had an eigenvalue of > 1, making them eligible for further consideration. As factors seven and eight each had only one significantly loading Q-Sort in the unrotated factor matrix, we did not

consider them further (see Watts and Stenner, 2012, p. 107). For all remaining six factors, we did a principal component analysis, which provides the 'best' solution in terms of maximizing the variance of each subsequent factor (Brown, 1980), and a varimax rotation. Following Q-methodology's mixed method approach, factor interpretation draws on the grouping of Q-sorts from the statistical analysis but also participants' sorting rationales. We used the four elements of discourses by Dryzek (2013) as overarching categories guiding the coding of the transcripts and notes from the debriefing interviews (Fig. 2). Using MAXQDA version 2020.3, we coded text segments of the transcripts in an inductive, iterative approach. Codes were considered to be important for the discourses when they were recurring and repetitive themes or framings across participants loading significantly onto the factors. We decided on four factors as the quantitative and qualitative analysis together provided the most qualitatively rich and differing viewpoints (Fig. 2). Our interpretation and description of the four discourses was based on three components: 1) a model Q-sort which are the weighted averages of all Q-sorts associated with the respective discourse (factor array) (supplementary material IV); 2) the evaluation of the statements across participants who significantly loaded onto each of the factors (supplementary material V); and 3) the recurring discourse elements mentioned by participants loading on the discourses (supplementary material VI). The discourses are the outcome of the combined qualitative and quantitative analysis, but for the sake of simplicity we use the term discourse also when referring to the results of the quantitative analysis, i.e. the factors.

To understand perceptions of local biodiversity and how the discourses are distributed through stakeholder groups, we prepared a short questionnaire. Participants were asked to indicate which stakeholder group they belonged to and their perception of the condition of biodiversity in the catchment on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 'very poor' to 'very good'. We also asked participants to provide demographic information regarding their gender and age. We applied Chi-squared tests (p-values based on Monte Carlo simulation) to test for an association between discourses and stakeholder groups and discourses and biodiversity assessment.

3. Results

We identified four discourses, which reflect different underlying assumptions about relationships between farming and biodiversity conservation and how the latter can be improved, different priorities and understandings of the role and responsibility of farmers.

The four discourses accounted for 57% of the variance and 73



Fig. 2. Flowchart depicting the steps in the analysis and interpretation of the data.

participants (78%) loaded significantly on one of the discourses (Table 1; supplementary material VII). 17 participants loaded significantly on more than one discourse and four participants did not load significantly on any of the discourses. The mean age of our participants was 53 years and participants were predominantly male (76%) (supplementary material VIII).

Below, the four discourses are presented by referring to key statements, which are preceded by the # symbol. The old farming adage 'You can't be green if you're in the red.' reflects the thinking that unless your business is profitable, you cannot protect the environment. It was brought up by several participants during the interviews and prompted interesting responses. Therefore, the four discourses were named with reference to this adage. Illustrative quotes are selected to highlight common themes among participants associated with the discourses.

3.1. Discourses

Given the relatively high correlations between some discourses, there were two statements which were rank-ordered the same in all four model Q-sorts (factor arrays) (Table 2). The statement 'Protecting groundcover is important for agricultural production.' was ranked at + 3 in all discourses. Linked to the consensus on the importance of groundcover, all discourses strongly disagreed that maintaining farming practices of previous generations would be important for farm viability (#19: -4). There was a general view that previous practices were outdated either because they were not considered to contribute to future farm viability or because they had been destructive to the environment or the landscape (e.g. excessive use of super phosphates, excessive ploughing of fields).

3.1.1. Benefit discourse: you'll be in the red if you wreck your green

37 participants with a mean age of 53 significantly loaded onto this discourse, with age ranges covering almost all age groups. Compared to all participants, the percentage of female participants was slightly higher in this group (24% vs. 30%).

According to the benefit discourse, the protection of biodiversity in agricultural landscapes is an important priority (#6, #26), especially due to the ongoing destruction of biodiversity (Tables 2 and 3). The notion of ecosystems denotes an understanding of biodiversity as being part of a bigger whole and a focus on the catchment or landscape shifts attention away from the individual farm to consider this challenge more broadly (#7, #11). Some farmers are considered to be "eco-vandals" (P39) who clear land for production without regards for the environment and there is a general issue of lack of environmental understanding among farmers.

Table 1

Correlations between discourses and discourse characteristics. The table is the result of the quantitative analysis.

	Benefit Discourse	Balance Discourse	Trade-off Discourse	Payment Discourse
Benefit	1.00	0.48	0.30	0.13
Discourse				
Balance		1.00	0.64	0.28
Discourse				
Trade-off			1.00	0.50
Discourse				
Payment				1.00
Discourse				
No. of defining	37	9	23	4
Q-sorts				
% of explained	24	11	17	5
variance				
Eigenvalue	22.82	10.53	15.58	4.86

Table 2

Model Q-sorts for the four discourses (factor arrays) which are calculated based on the weighted averages of the Q-sorts associated with each of the discourses. The highest agreement (+4, +3) for each discourse is highlighted in green and the lowest agreement is highlighted in orange (-4, -3).

#	Statement	Benefit discourse	Balance discourse	Trade-off discourse	Payment discourse
1	Farmers need to be	-2	-2	4	-1
	profitable first before				
	they can protect				
	biodiversity.				
2	To improve	4	1	-1	0
	biodiversity				
	outcomes, changes to				
	farming practices are				
2	necessary.	1	•	•	1
з	Agricultural	-1	3	3	1
	technology are				
	important for farm				
	profitability.				
4	Farmers should	1	0	0	-1
	provide habitat for				
	threatened or				
	endangered native				
	species.				
5	Farmers can better	1	-1	-3	0
	mitigate extreme				
	weather events by				
	improving				
~	biodiversity.		0		
6	Blodiversity has a	4	0	1	-2
	should be preserved				
7	Connecting habitats	2	-1	1	-1
,	across boundaries is	2	-1	1	-1
	important.				
8	Australian primary	-1	4	2	0
	producers play an				
	important role in				
	global food security.				
9	Agricultural	-1	0	-3	-4
	production and				
	biodiversity				
	conservation can be				
	integrated without				
10	Earmers need more	0	2	2	4
10	funds to do on-farm	0	-5	2	4
	hindiversity				
	conservation.				
11	Landscape-scale	1	0	1	-2
	collaboration is				
	necessary.				
12	The long-term	-2	4	2	4
	growth in farm				
	productivity is a				
	major priority.		-	-	_
13	Biodiversity on farms	0	-2	-2	2
14	Increases land value.	2	1	1	2
14	should be utilised	-3	-1	-1	-2
	and only marginal or				
	unproductive areas				
	should be set aside				
	for biodiversity				
	conservation.				
15	Farming families and	0	2	4	0
	their farm				
	profitability are				
	crucial for this				
14	region.				1
16	Farmers should be	-4	-4	-4	1
	iree to clear land for				
	production				
17	Production.	-1	-1	-1	-2
-				(continued	on nevt name)
				Communed	on neni puze)

T. Schaal et al.

Table 2 (continued)

#	Statement	Benefit discourse	Balance discourse	Trade-off discourse	Payment discourse		
	Local communities should take more responsibility for biodiversity						
	protection and						
18	enhancement. There should be more consultation with	-2	0	0	0		
	farmers by government						
19	Maintaining farming practices of previous generations is	-4	-4	-4	-4		
20	important for farm viability.	0	0	0	-		
20	awareness-raising about the benefits of biodiversity to agriculture are necessary	2	2	0	1		
21	Protecting or enhancing biodiversity benefits	1	-2	-1	-1		
22	farmer wellbeing. There should be subsidized loans to farmers for biodimensity	-2	-3	-2	2		
	conservation that are paid off based on future revenues.						
23	Farmers need more ecological knowledge to protect and enhance biodiversity	3	1	0	1		
24	on their farm. Protecting groundcover is important for agricultural	3	3	3	3		
25	Farmers are responsible for looking after the land for future generations	2	3	2	2		
26	Future generations should be able to experience healthy biodiversity on farms.	3	2	2	3		
27	Protecting and planting scattered paddock trees is	0	1	-1	-3		
28	There should be stronger policy and laws to protect and enhance biodiversity	0	-2	-2	-3		
29	Policies and laws should not limit management options by farmers	-2	-1	-2	2		
30	Farmers should get paid for protecting their biodiversity assets.	-1	-3	1	3		
31	Cropping and grazing areas should be managed for production and biodiversity at the same time.	2	1	0	-2		

Land Use Policy 121 (2022) 106306

Table 2 (continued)

#	Statement	Benefit discourse	Balance discourse	Trade-off discourse	Payment discourse
32	To buffer the ups and downs of farming, changes to farming practices are necessary.	1	2	1	-1
33	Corporate agriculture provides an economic growth opportunity for this region.	-3	-2	-3	-3
34	Farmers need to get the most production out of their land.	-3	1	0	2
35	Biodiversity benefits a farm's long-term profitability.	2	0	-2	0
36	Farm viability is a major priority.	0	2	3	1

"Because we've already got limited land available for biodiversity left and allowing farmers to clear, there will always be someone prepared to clear everything and so I don't think that there should be free rein [...]." P38

To improve biodiversity outcomes in farming, there are two important and interconnected levers for change. Firstly, farming practices need to evolve from what previous generations have done, including for example more focus on preserving groundcover (#19, #24). Secondly, farmers' knowledge about biodiversity or ecological literacy should be improved for example through education (#2, #20, #23).

"[...] active knowledge is power so you're really empowering people to make better decisions around the balancing act between the two when they have some understanding of [...] how farming and biodiversity can work together." P67

This indicates that the relationship between farming and biodiversity is understood as intertwined. Both production and biodiversity objectives should be considered in a sustainable balancing act (#31) and biodiversity conservation should not just focus on areas that are unsuitable for production (#14). This ties in with the belief that biodiversity benefits farming in the long run and although farm profitability and viability concerns play a role, farmers shouldn't be focused on maximum production or prioritise profitability over biodiversity objectives (#1, #34, #35, #36). The importance of biodiversity in agriculture can be compared to a litmus test for the farm business.

"[...] I think that farmers will get paid for protecting their biodiversity assets within their own business, the profitability of their businesses will improve so there will be a payoff there [...]" P29

This discourse reflects a sense of commitment towards future generations and farmers are seen as (temporary) custodians of the land which includes their environmental responsibility (#4, #25, #26).

"I think that as a landowner I feel responsible to take care of the land for the period of time that I have it in my care. And when I think about native wildlife or trees, I think it's really important that whatever I do or we do collectively as an area here, doesn't impact that opportunity for the future." P83

However, responsibility extends beyond the farmer and is shared with the wider community. Nevertheless, more involvement by the government or the community are not seen as particularly promising avenues for change (#17, #18, #28).

3.1.2. Balance discourse: you can stay out of the red and keep some green Nine participants with a mean age of 54 were significantly associated with this discourse, no participant being over the age of 64. The highest

Table 3

Discursive elements after Dryzek (2013) of the four discourses. Discourse categories in bold emerged only in the respective discourse.

Dis-course	Basic entities recognised and constructed (ontology)	Assumptions about natural relationships	Agents and their motives	Key metaphors and rhetorical devices
Benefit discourse (F1)	 Change Catchment/ landscape Ecosystems Ecological/landscape literacy Education Profitability/ viability Farm as business/ operation Future generations Long term Family farms Community 	 Farmers as (temporary) custodians Biodiversity as shared responsibility Corporates have a negative impact on the community Farmers have limited environmental understanding Farming and biodiversity as sustainable balancing act Biodiversity benefits profit/ production 	 Many farmers would clear without limits for production More knowledge will motivate better environmental outcomes Financial incentives motivate farmers 	 Some farmers are eco vandals Biodiversity crashing, destruction Biodiversity as litmus test for business
Balance discourse (F2)	 Balance Food production Long-term view Productive land Profitability, viability Productivity Farming families Technology 	 Synergy between production and biodiversity Biodiversity benefits the landscape Farmers have a responsibility to look after the land Disconnect between farming communities and cities Viability/profitability a prerequisite for on-farm improvements Biodiversity benefits production 	 Farmers' protection of biodiversity independent of funding Farmers are there to make a profit Farming for future generations 	 Clean and green products Policy: Draconian measures Farmers: Caretakers Sense of loss: Extinction of marsupials/ mammals, trees dying
Trade-off discourse (F3)	 Trade-off Land ownership Community fabric Farmers as (food) producers Farm as business/ enterprise Profitability, viability Production, increasing productivity Family farms Money as limiting factor Longer time frame Technology Productive vs. unproductive land 	 There is a trade-off between production and biodiversity conservation Biodiversity has negative impacts on production/ profitability Biodiversity is not the sole responsibility of farmers Farmers have learnt from the past Competition in the agricultural sector Profit/viability as prerequisite for farming Profit as prerequisite for protecting biodiversity 	 Farmers protect biodiversity when it is economically beneficial Feel good factor of biodiversity to farmers Landcare impacts on the land Farmers prioritise profit/ production Farming for future generations 	 Trade-offs: No free lunches, seesaw Financial constraints: Having the wolf at the door Using productive land for production: You can't eat koalas Focus biodiversity on unproductive land: You can't make a silk purse out of a sow's ear
Payment discourse (F4)	 unproductive land Different farming generations Biodiversity as farm expense Money as limiting factor Productivity, profitability Farming families 	• Farming as learning process	 With funding, farmers can protect biodiversity Farmers' choice 	• Government: People in glass houses, big brother

proportion of women (44 %) was found in this group.

According to the balance discourse, farmers are seen as food producers who contribute to global food security (#8; Tables 2 and 3). They need to make a profit and farm productivity is important (#12, #15, #36). To achieve that aim, innovation and technology in agriculture are vital and they can also contribute to biodiversity conservation (#3). Consequently, practices of previous generations are outdated and changes to farming practices are necessary both to address the volatility of farming markets and to protect biodiversity (#2, #19, #32).

"I think the good farmers, probably the same farmers that are using precision agriculture and innovation etc. etc. will see the value in protecting their biodiversity assets [...]" P79

Therefore, payments to farmers or more funds are not seen as the best approach in terms of biodiversity conservation (#10, #22, #30). Rather, those farmers that want to protect biodiversity, will provide space for biodiversity independent of funding. More ecological knowledge and awareness about biodiversity benefits to farming is viewed as important, especially in view of the extinction of species and the expressed sense of loss (#20, #23).

Farmers have a responsibility to manage the land well, as caretakers,

especially for future generations (#25, #26). This ties in with the view that Australian farming produces "clean and green products" (P79), i.e. products that are good for human health and the environment.

"We should be doing it because we're custodians of the land and we want to see the land in a better state if we keep improving it." P93

Biodiversity and production are approached in a balanced way. Getting the most production out of the land is important while simultaneously protecting and planting trees in paddocks (#27, #34). Trees are particularly important because they have many benefits, providing inter alia improvements in salinity and serving as protection for livestock. They are important landscape features, and they should be planted to counteract their ongoing loss from agricultural landscapes. Both in cropping and grazing land uses, farmers should thus consider profitability and biodiversity (#31). Therefore, biodiversity protection and productive farming are not seen in opposition but the relationship is viewed as a synergy.

"To keep doing it is to keep improving the productivity as well as the healthiness of the environment and the soil I think we can do it in a balanced approach." P10

This highlights why farmers should not be free to clear land for agricultural production without regard for biodiversity concerns (#16). However, there should also not be too much government involvement in farming (#28, #29). This links to a reported feeling of disconnect between rural/farming and urban/city communities and an apprehensiveness towards measures imposed on farmers.

"[...] I think there has been a relaxation in the last few years but certainly I think there was a pushback of some in the farming community against draconian issues." P69

3.1.3. Trade-off discourse: you have to be viable or you can't spare any green

23 participants with a mean age of 50 were significantly associated with this discourse, with ages ranging from the mid-thirties to mid-seventies. This group was characterized by the highest percentage of male participants (87%).

According to the trade-off discourse, profitability, productivity and viability are vital to maintain farm businesses into the future which provides money that can be used to protect biodiversity on the farm (#1, #12, #36; Tables 2 and 3). Farmers are seen as food producers who contribute to global food security (#8). Having to survive by farming in the competitive agricultural sector, biodiversity will be farmers last priority if they have "the wolf at the door" (P82).

"[...] unless farming is viable and unless farmers are profitable, we are not going to be here [...] we won't be protecting any biodiversity anyway because we won't be able to maintain the operation, we'll be leaving farming." P92

To develop the farming enterprise, agriculture relies on innovation and technology and not on practices of previous generations (#3, #19). Regarding the farming model, farming families are preferred over corporate farming; for example, because they improve the community fabric of the region and benefit the community economically (#15, #33). Apart from being part of the community, farmers have a responsibility to look after the land and not degrade it to the detriment of future generations (#25, #26). However, it is not the sole responsibility of farmers to protect biodiversity or provide habitat for wildlife, and it comes down to being able to afford it.

"[...] I think 'should' is the wrong word, I think farmers would provide habitat for threatened and endangered species as long as they can afford to" P32

Although biodiversity is associated with a "feel good" factor for farmers, there is a lack of evidence or even negative impacts of biodiversity for the farming business (#5, #13, #21, #35). For example, trees take nutrients and water from adjacent fields and are an obstacle to modern farming equipment. The expression "no free lunches" (P18) reflects this view that biodiversity always comes at a cost.

"[...] if you start to tie up more land in biodiversity you cut productive land out of production so there should be a bit of a trade-off there. Production for biodiversity." P56

The relationship between agricultural production and biodiversity conservation is considered to be a trade-off, i.e. both objectives are on opposite ends of a seesaw meaning that increases of on-farm biodiversity will result in losses in production (#9). As a result, if farmers believe that biodiversity will provide economic benefits to their farm business, they will protect it.

"If it can be proved that putting larger areas of biodiversity aside can reduce our costs and make us more profitable, problem solved." P40

As the scarcity of money is an issue with regards to on-farm conservation, more money or paying farmers for protecting biodiversity is another suitable approach (#10, #30).

Generally, it is important to protect biodiversity and farmers should

not clear all land for production (#6, #16). However, there should not be too much government involvement or control over what farmers do on their own land (#28, #29). Although communities should not get too involved in farming, collaborative approaches focusing on the landscape more broadly are positive (#7, #11, #17). The bottom-up, voluntary nature of Landcare model is an example for how positive environmental impacts in the region can be achieved.

3.1.4. Payment discourse: you have to stay out of the red and get paid for the green

Four participants with a mean age of 50 significantly loaded onto this discourse, ages ranging from the mid-thirties to the mid-sixties. The gender ratio in this group reflected that of all participants, i.e. 75% male and 25% female.

According to the payment discourse, maintaining or increasing farm productivity is important for the viability of farming (#12, #34, #36; Tables 2 and 3). For protecting biodiversity, money scarcity is a key issue. Additionally, production and biodiversity conservation cannot be integrated without trade-offs (#9). Farmers therefore need more funds to protect biodiversity or should get paid for protecting their biodiversity assets (#10, #30). Having money available means that farmers can protect biodiversity. An example how this could be done is through revenue-contingent loans (#22).

"So we should get paid to keep our natural bush." P75

Farming is considered as a learning process based on past experiences and there are differences between farming generations. Therefore, farming practices of previous generations are not relevant for viability anymore and technology and innovation are important (#3, #19). An example for the changes between different generations is the importance that is now placed on protecting groundcover (#24).

"My grandfather he would have been the one that was clearing the land and my father would have been helping him as a child and then as he aged he identified that the gullies [...] have been created from poor land conservation. [...] I'm the third generation now that I've seen this come through." P15

This generational lens also extends to future generations which should be able to experience healthy biodiversity on farms (#26).

Moreover, farmers have the responsibility to look after their land (#25). Although biodiversity has a positive effect on the value of the land, protecting biodiversity for its intrinsic value is not so important (#6, #13). Therefore, farmers should not have a general responsibility to provide habitat on the farm or to plant scattered paddock trees (#4, #27). Biodiversity and agricultural production are considered separately where farmers should not be forced to manage land for both objectives (#31). With money being a limiting factor, biodiversity competes with other farm expenses.

"[...] if your farm is not profitable then you're not going to outlay money on something [...] instead of like feed for your livestock, you outlay money on that sort of stuff before your biodiversity." P08

The freedom to make your own decisions without too many restrictions by government or "big brother" (P19) is very important (#16, #28, #29). As a result, communities should not take on more responsibility for biodiversity and farmers should not necessarily have to collaborate across the broader landscape (#11, #17). Although farmers need ecological knowledge and education, as well as awareness about the benefits of biodiversity to agriculture (#20, #23), farmers are the ones who decide what they put into action.

"[...] and I suppose it comes down to sometimes the person who is actually on the place [farm] or who knows the land actually has the knowledge of how this should be done." P15

3.2. Perceptions of local biodiversity within agricultural contexts

Regarding the assessment of the condition of biodiversity in the catchment area, participants' responses varied substantially. Although no one ranked the condition as 'very good', 13% of participants assessed it as 'good' (supplementary material IX) and 40% as 'fair'. Biodiversity was seen to be in 'poor' condition by 28% and in 'very poor' condition by 14% of the participants. The qualitative analysis of the interviews indicated that participants associated with the benefit and balance discourses expressed a sense of environmental loss or regarded the loss of biodiversity as an issue but it did not emerge as an important topic in the other two discourses. In the statistical analysis, however, we did not find a significant relation between the discourses and the biodiversity assessment.

Although we did not ask participants to provide a definition of biodiversity, the discourses and comments made by participants during the interviews convey that participant's understanding of biodiversity sometimes differed from the definition we provided, i.e. native vegetation and wildlife. During the interviews, some participants challenged our focused definition of biodiversity as too narrow or provided definitions that differ from the wilderness-oriented definition of biodiversity we used.

"Because when I think of biodiversity [...] I think of those things but I think of it a lot broader, in terms of diverse pasture, microbiology, you know all that type of thing leads to a biodiverse ecosystem." P27

"[...] it's not your type of biodiversity because it's not native plants and that sort of thing but it's my type of biodiversity, this means that in a wellmanaged, well-organized, in a proper rotation system, we can protect our soils and the biodiversity within the soils, look after the worms and all those sorts of things [...] P73

3.3. Discourses and stakeholder groups

Through the questionnaires, participants indicated which stakeholder group they belonged to. If they belonged to several groups, they were asked to indicate which group they felt best reflected their perspective during the interview. 71% of participants were landholders or land managers, 13% worked as agricultural consultants or for farming organisations, 10% worked for a government organisation, and 6% were in the category 'Other'. The statistical analysis did not indicate significant relations between the discourses and participants' stakeholder groups (see also supplementary material X).

4. Discussion

4.1. Summary and comparison of the discourses

Halting and reversing biodiversity loss has become a key policy priority internationally and in Australia and we sought to explore the diversity of local viewpoints on the biodiversity-production intersection. Through interviews with 94 participants, we identified four empiricallygrounded discourses that differed in three key aspects (Table 4). Our findings highlight that perceptions of how biodiversity and agriculture are connected differ substantially and influence how production and biodiversity objectives are prioritised. The role of farmers varies in the discourses, ranging from food producers to temporary custodians with implications for what responsibilities they have. Finally, we show that assumptions and beliefs regarding how biodiversity can be protected differ and include building ecological literacy, investing in technology and payments.

Our findings extend and add nuance to existing understanding of how biodiversity is framed in agricultural landscapes. Previous research on the perspectives of production and non-production landholders in Australia towards biodiversity found two opposing positions, namely a multifunctional and a uni-functional view of agricultural landscapes (Moon and Cocklin, 2011). Other distinctions have been made between more ecocentric and anthropocentric viewpoints (Braito et al., 2020). Although our four discourses cannot be directly mapped onto these existing perspectives, they reflect mostly an anthropocentric view of biodiversity. However, our findings point to a polarity between more pro-environment (benefit, balance discourses) and pro-production (trade-off, payment discourses) framings. The intrinsic value of biodiversity which is a prominent reason to preserve biodiversity among conservation practitioners (Berry et al., 2018) did not play an important role in any of the discourses.

4.2. Engaging with different biodiversity conceptions and values

Our results show substantial differences between the perceptions of the importance of biodiversity and the loss of biodiversity in the four discourses. Environmental policies in NSW recognize that native vegetation and wildlife are threatened by a set of interacting drivers (NSW Environment Protection Authority, 2021). However, in a major Australia-wide survey of people living in rural and regional areas, almost half of NSW farmer respondents considered declining numbers of some native animals or birds and the loss of vegetation (trees and shrubs) to be no problem or only a minor problem (46.4 % and 45.8 %, respectively) (data sourced from the 2018 Regional Wellbeing Survey, Australian Farmers, Version 1.02 January 2020). Our findings are reflective of this disconnect between key policy problems and perceptions and priorities by parts of the farming community.

These differences may be partly attributed to different levels of knowledge about the loss of biodiversity. However, they also may be explained by the plethora of meanings related to the term biodiversity (Turnhout and Purvis, 2020). Biodiversity is a multifaceted concept for which different definitions exist. They include the broad, inclusive definition of biodiversity as "variability among living organisms" in the Convention on Biological Diversity (Anon, 1992, p. 3) but also more wilderness-oriented understandings (e.g. Mace, 2014, Soulé, 2013). As a context-specific concept (Gustafsson, 2013), biodiversity has many meanings for farmers (Kelemen et al., 2013) and is associated with a range of values (Bardsley et al., 2019). Therefore, farmers' or local perspectives can differ substantially from scientific constructions of biodiversity (Soini and Aakkula, 2007; Maas et al., 2021). Our results

Table 4

Summary of three key aspects at the biodiversity-farming intersection reflected by the four discourses as unpacked in Section 3.1.

5		•	-
	Relation between farming and biodiversity	Farmers' role and responsibility	Key solution to improve biodiversity outcomes
Benefit discourse	Intertwined; farming depends on ecosystem health long-term	Farmers as custodians; societal/community responsibility for biodiversity	Increasing farmers' knowledge; changing farming practices
Balance discourse	Balanced; biodiversity benefits landscape health	Farmers as food producers & caretakers	Technology; farmers awareness of biodiversity benefits
Trade-off	Trade-off; no evidence of biodiversity	Farmers as food producers; profitable business;	Profitable businesses have extra money available for
discourse	benefits to agriculture or no benefits known	biodiversity not sole responsibility of farmers	biodiversity conservation; paying farmers for biodiversity conservation
Payment discourse	Separated; no biodiversity benefits to agriculture	Productivity; farmers' choice; responsibility to look after the land	Paying farmers for biodiversity conservation

highlight how there are differences between the discourses in terms of how biodiversity is valued and how important its protection is. In the Australian context of heavily modified landscapes, environmental protections focus on native vegetation, wildlife and ecosystems (e.g. NSW Environment Protection Authority, 2021). However, some of the interviewees challenged this definition of biodiversity as too narrow. This discrepancy in definitions highlights that conservation policies in Australia do not capture the broad spectrum of farmers' biodiversity values (Bardsley et al., 2019). We therefore add to calls to design conservation measures in agricultural landscapes that fit with local, context-specific understandings of farmers and the people who manage the land (Hevia et al., 2021; Raymond et al., 2016; Selinske et al., 2017; Wyborn and Evans, 2021). The discourses we identified are not simply ways of communicating about a topic but represent different ways of seeing and interpreting biodiversity in farming systems (sensu Dryzek, 2013). This highlights that various approaches are needed to help reconcile production with biodiversity conservation objectives in the agricultural context.

4.3. A balanced policy mix to engage with diverse local discourses

The discourses reflected different beliefs about how farmers will be motivated to protect biodiversity, including through increased ecological knowledge or payments. The need for a mix of policy instruments for biodiversity conservation has long been recognised (Gunningham and Young, 1997; Schirmer et al., 2012). Whilst Australia has different types of policy instruments for conservation in place, there has been a shift away from Community-Based Natural Resource Management (CBNRM) to Market-Based Instruments (MBIs) over the past three decades (Royal, 2021). The competitive, payment-based approach of MBIs fits particularly with the production logic of the trade-off and payment discourses where land managers are willing to give up land if monetary incentives are high enough to make sense economically. However, several concerns and limitations of MBIs regarding social and environmental outcomes have been raised. Royal (2021) recently highlighted that MBIs can result in both ecological and social trade-offs. For example, long-term environmental benefits of MBIs are questionable due to limited funding periods (Tennent and Lockie, 2013). Our findings confirm those concerns for the discourses where motivations for conservation are predominantly economic. An overreliance on MBIs and a focus on the economic value of biodiversity brings with it the risk that biodiversity is seen as just an extra farm expense (payment discourse) and not the responsibility of farmers as temporary custodians of the land (benefit discourse). This emphasises the importance of policy instruments that support and foster responsibility for the environment as part of private landholders' stewardship ethic (c.f. Leopold, 1991). This could help reconcile the view of farmers as food producers with that of farmers as environmental stewards which is reflected in the balance discourse.

Data collection occurred when a drought affecting south-eastern Australia from mid-2017 to early 2020 had just ended. This explains why there was a shared understanding that preserving ground cover is necessary, although with different practical implications, including using rotational grazing, the use of drought feedlots, or stubble retention. Across the discourses, we found broad agreement with the stewardship principle (taking care of the land with a responsibility towards future generations). Yet, our results highlight how understandings of what stewardship or custodianship of the land implies were different. Biodiversity is understood as a farmer's responsibility in the benefit and balance discourses suggesting that there exists higher intrinsic motivation for conservation compared to the trade-off and payment discourses. A policy mix - incorporating MBIs and CBNRM - is therefore better able to capture the broad spectrum of farmers' viewpoints and reduce the risk of motivational crowding out (Braito et al., 2020). For example, Landcare is a key example of CBNRM in Australia and has been known to foster social and human capital among land managers (Curtis et al., 2014). The divide between pro-production and biodiversity-positive

attitudes reflected through the discourses additionally suggests that biodiversity will be pursued by different strategies and practices. This does not necessarily present an issue, as for example, both land sparing and land sharing management approaches can lead to different but complementary outcomes for ecological resilience (Abson et al., 2019). In line with Royal (2021), our findings highlight the need for a broad and balanced set of policy instruments that engages with both intrinsic and extrinsic motivations of land managers.

In Australia, there have been calls for increased funding, policy and legislation support, and coordinated national action, to improve threatened species management (Kearney et al., 2019). Our results highlight how some of the viewpoints present a barrier for conservation uptake and implementation when conservation actions are considered a burden for farmers with no economic benefit. That there are different prioritisations and understandings of biodiversity in the discourses presents a challenge for broader scale or collaborative approaches tobiodiversity conservation and thus for improving wards social-ecological resilience (Royal, 2021). Our results suggest that policymakers need to better engage with, and address the diversity of viewpoints reflected in, local perceptions of what biodiversity is, how biodiversity is valued in agriculture and how it can be integrated into farming to increase uptake of conservation policy. For example, there is an urgent need to provide context-specific evidence about how biodiversity benefits farming to target those that do not see biodiversity protection as part of their responsibility as land managers.

4.4. Governing biodiversity in agricultural landscapes

Our results illustrate how the discourses as shared perspectives and understandings of the production-biodiversity intersection transcend actor groups and represent ways of thinking embedded within rural communities. Such local discourses about farming and biodiversity do not emerge in a vacuum, but are influenced and shaped by the broader governance and policy context (c.f. Runhaar et al., 2017). Moreover, environmental problems are attributable not only to individual management but are also outcomes of governance (Pahl-Wostl, 2009). Australian government policy discourses have been focusing on increasing efficiency and profitability and farmers have been constructed as self-reliant individuals with increasing emphasis on private sector investments in agriculture (O'Keeffe, 2017). Additionally, the use of economic framings in environmental and conservation policy by the Australian Government has increased, which can be explained by the dominance of a neoliberal paradigm (Kusmanoff et al., 2017). Particularly the trade-off and payment discourses echo this focus on productivity and profitability, representing a productivist framing of the relationship between farming and biodiversity.

In the conservation community, framings of conservation have changed over the past few decades (Mace, 2014), leading to an integrated perspective of coupled human and environmental systems (e.g. IPBES, 2019). In contrast, only the benefit discourse views ecosystems and production systems as interlinked and with a more holistic agroecosystem view. The discourses and the polarization between them reflect a tension between agricultural and biodiversity objectives. In particular, the trade-off and payment discourses share the view that biodiversity is something external to the production system. Such a lack of an integrative perspective has also been observed in global environmental and sectoral policies, which thus do not fully account for the complexities of social-ecological systems (Biermann, 2021). A more integrative human-environment system perspective in the broader governance system can play a role in (re-)shaping local discourses. Moreover, it is increasingly recognised that to address ongoing biodiversity decline, there is a need to engage with the plurality of biodiversity values and perspectives (Pascual et al., 2021). The inclusion of different value and knowledge systems will also require more fundamental changes to governance systems so that biodiversity policy provides spaces for the inclusion of plural values (Leventon et al., 2021).

Despite the importance of changes to the broader governance to improve biodiversity outcomes, local and community-based activities also play a role changing understandings pivotal in about the production-biodiversity relationship. Landcare in Australia, especially in its early stages, contributed to building awareness, knowledge and understanding about environmental issues among rural landholders (Robins, 2018). Re-shaping existing or creating new discourses that have a more integrative human-environment perspective and that include plural values about biodiversity will therefore emerge from the interplay of changes to the broader governance system but also more engagement with the topic at the community-level that influence how farming communities think about the farming-biodiversity intersection.

5. Conclusions

We aimed to understand shared perspectives about the productionbiodiversity intersection in a mixed farming area in south-eastern Australia. Identifying such discourses in farming communities can help understand opportunities and define barriers for improving biodiversity outcomes in farming, which have implications for current and future policy development. We showed that viewpoints about the importance of biodiversity protection, biodiversity benefits to farming and the meaning of stewardship differed substantially between the discourses, some of which can present a barrier for conservation policies. We also highlight how relying too much on MBIs risks reinforcing primarily economic motivations for biodiversity conservation among farmers and overlook softer policy tools such as education to increase ecological literacy in the farming community. Due to the diverse and context-specific meanings of biodiversity, engaging with local perceptions of biodiversity in agricultural contexts is important to understand which approaches can help better reconcile production and biodiversity objectives. We argued that there is a need for a well-balanced mix of different policy instruments that engages with both intrinsic and extrinsic motivations for biodiversity and fosters environmental stewardship among private land holders. As local discourses are shaped by the broader governance context around biodiversity and farming, a policy mix alone will not eliminate perceived conflicts between agricultural and biodiversity objectives and polarisation between viewpoints. Broadening the scope of values in biodiversity conservation to include local biodiversity values, will however require more fundamental changes to the way biodiversity in farming systems is governed. Finally, reshaping discourses towards understandings of linked humanenvironment systems will be brought about by an interplay of changes to the broader governance system and community-level engagement with biodiversity.

Declaration of Competing Interest

None.

Data Availability

The data that has been used is confidential.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all interview participants and the seven persons who volunteered to test the interviews during the piloting phase of the research. We express our gratitude to the Muttama Creek Landcare Group for supporting the research project and for integrating TS into their activities. We highly appreciate the conversations with key informants and the Muttama Creek Landcare Group during the scoping trip and fieldwork which played an important role in shaping our research approach. We thank Michelle Young for her valuable advice, feedback and support during the research project. We also thank Laura Helena Alves Fortes Martins and Anna Sophie Lagies for their work on the transcripts of the interviews and Katja Gengenbach for an initial review of the available literature. Finally, we would like to thank Mitchell Bowden from Riverina Local Land Services for providing data for the map. The research was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the Australian National University protocol number 2019_913. This work was funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation; project number 407710220). Ben Scheele and David Lindenmayer were supported by the Sustainable Farms initiative at The Australian National University.

Appendix A. Supporting information

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version at doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2022.106306.

References

- Abson, D.J., Sherren, K., Fischer, J., 2019. The resilience of Australian agricultural landscapes characterized by land sparing versus land sharing. In: Gardner, S.M., Ramsden, S.J., Hails, R.S. (Eds.), Agricultural Resilience. Cambridge University Press, pp. 232–252.
- AnonUnited Nations (UN), 1992. Convention on Biological Diversity. (https://www.cbd. int/doc/legal/cbd-en.pdf). Last accessed 27 May 2022.
- AnonAustralian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences (ABARES), 2019. Australian Agricultural Census 2015–16 visualisations. Australian Agricultural Census 2015–16 visualisations. (https://www.awe.gov.au/abares/data/agricultura l-census-visualisations#gross-value-of-production). Last accessed 02 November 2021.
- AnonAustralian Bureau of Statistics (ABS), 2020. Cootamundra-Gundagai Regional (A) (LGA) (12160) (https://dbr.abs.gov.au/region.html?lyr=lga&rgn=12160). Last accessed 02 November 2021.
- Ashman, K.R., Watchorn, D.J., Lindenmayer, D.B., Taylor, M.F.J., 2022. Is Australia's environmental legislation protecting threatened species? A case study of the national listing of the greater glider. Pac. Conserv. Biol. 28 (3), 277–289.
- Bardsley, D.K., Palazzo, E., Stringer, R., 2019. What should we conserve? Farmer narratives on biodiversity values in the McLaren Vale, South Australia. Land Use Policy 83, 594–605.
- Barry, J., Proops, J., 1999. Seeking sustainability discourses with Q methodology. Ecol. Econ. 28, 337–345.
- Benitez-Capistros, F., Hugé, J., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Koedam, N., 2016. Exploring conservation discourses in the Galapagos Islands: A case study of the Galapagos giant tortoises. Ambio 45 (6), 706–724.
- Bennett, N.J., 2016. Using perceptions as evidence to improve conservation and environmental management. Conserv. Biol. 30 (3), 582–592.
- Bergstrom, D.M., Wienecke, B.C., van den Hoff, J., Hughes, L., Lindenmayer, D.B.,
 Ainsworth, T.D., Baker, C.M., Bland, L., Bowman, D.M.J.S., Brooks, S.T., Canadell, J.
 G., Constable, A.J., Dafforn, K.A., Depledge, M.H., Dickson, C.R., Duke, N.C.,
 Helmstedt, K.J., Holz, A., Johnson, C.R., McGeoch, M.A., Melbourne-Thomas, J.,
 Morgain, R., Nicholson, E., Prober, S.M., Raymond, B., Ritchie, E.G., Robinson, S.A.,
 Ruthrof, K.X., Setterfield, S.A., Sgrò, C.M., Stark, J.S., Travers, T., Trebilco, R.,
 Ward, D.F.L., Wardle, G.M., Williams, K.J., Zylstra, P.J., Shaw, J.D., 2021.
 Combating ecosystem collapse from the tropics to the Antarctic. Glob. Change Biol.
 27 (9), 1692–1703.
- Berry, P.M., Fabók, V., Blicharska, M., Bredin, Y.K., Llorente, M.G., Kovács, E., Geamana, N., Stanciu, A., Termansen, M., Jääskeläinen, T., Haslett, J.R., Harrison, P. A., 2018. Why conserve biodiversity? A multi-national exploration of stakeholders' views on the arguments for biodiversity conservation. Biodivers. Conserv. 27 (7), 1741–1762.
- Biermann, F., 2021. The future of 'environmental' policy in the Anthropocene: time for a paradigm shift. Environ. Polit. 30 (1–2), 61–80.
- Blicharska, M., Grandin, U., 2015. Why protect biodiversity? Perspectives of conservation professionals in Poland. Int. J. Biodivers. Sci. Ecosyst. Serv. Manag. 11 (4), 349–362.
- Braito, M., Leonhardt, H., Penker, M., Schauppenlehner-Kloyber, E., Thaler, G., Flint, C. G., 2020. The plurality of farmers' views on soil management calls for a policy mix. Land Use Policy 99, 104876.
- Brown, S.R., 1980. Political Subjectivity: Applications of Q Methodology in Political Science. Yale University Press, New Haven, p. 355.
- Bryman, A., 2016. Social research methods, Fifth ed. Oxford University Press, Oxford, p. 747.
- Buijs, A.E., Fischer, A., Rink, D., Young, J.C., 2008. Looking beyond superficial knowledge gaps: Understanding public representations of biodiversity. Int. J. Biodivers. Sci. Manag. 4 (2), 65–80.
- Butchart, S.H.M., Walpole, M., Collen, B., van Strien, A., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Almond, R.E.A., Baillie, J.E.M., Bomhard, B., Brown, C., Bruno, J., Carpenter, K.E., Carr, G.M., Chanson, J., Chenery, A.M., Csirke, J., Davidson, N.C., Dentener, F., Foster, M., Galli, A., Galloway, J.N., Genovesi, P., Gregory, R.D., Hockings, M., Kapos, V., Lamarque, J.-F., Leverington, F., Loh, J., McGeoch, M.A., McRae, L., Minasyan, A., Hernández Morcillo, M., Oldfield, T.E.E., Pauly, D., Quader, S., Revenga, C., Sauer, J.R., Skolnik, B., Spear, D., Stanwell-Smith, D., Stuart, S.N.,

T. Schaal et al.

Symes, A., Tierney, M., Tyrrell, T.D., Vié, J.-C., Watson, R., 2010. Global

biodiversity: indicators of recent declines. Science 328 (5982), 1164-1168.

- Craik, W., 2018. Review of interactions between the EPBC Act and the agriculture sector: Independent report prepared for the Commonwealth Department of the Environment and Energy. (https://www.environment.gov.au/system/files/resources/0bb50a4d-b 273-4a31-8fdb-dcde90edef3e/files/review-interactions-epbc-act-agriculture-finalreport.pdf). Last accessed 02 November 2021.
- Curtis, A., Ross, H., Marshall, G.R., Baldwin, C., Cavaye, J., Freeman, C., Carr, A., Syme, G.J., 2014. The great experiment with devolved NRM governance: lessons from community engagement in Australia and New Zealand since the 1980s. Australas. J. Environ. Manag. 21 (2), 175–199.
- Drielsma, M.J., Love, J., Williams, K.J., Manion, G., Saremi, H., Harwood, T., Robb, J., 2017. Bridging the gap between climate science and regional-scale biodiversity conservation in south-eastern Australia. Ecol. Model. 360, 343–362.
- Dryzek, J.S., 2013. The Politics of the Earth: Environmental Discourses, third ed. Oxford University Press, Oxford, p. 270.
- Fischer, A., Young, J.C., 2007. Understanding mental constructs of biodiversity: Implications for biodiversity management and conservation. Biol. Conserv. 136 (2), 271–282.
- Fleming, A., Vanclay, F., 2010. Farmer responses to climate change and sustainable agriculture. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 30 (1), 11–19.
- Foley, J.A., Ramankutty, N., Brauman, K.A., Cassidy, E.S., Gerber, J.S., Johnston, M., Mueller, N.D., O'Connell, C., Ray, D.K., West, P.C., Balzer, C., Bennett, E.M., Carpenter, S.R., Hill, J., Monfreda, C., Polasky, S., Rockstrom, J., Sheehan, J., Siebert, S., Tilman, D., Zaks, D.P.M., 2011. Solutions for a cultivated planet. Nature 478 (7369), 337–342.
- Garnett, S., Latch, P., Lindenmayer, D., Woinarski, J. (Eds.), 2018. Recovering Australian threatened species: A book of hope. CSIRO Publishing, Clayton, Victoria.
- Godfray, H.C.J., Beddington, J.R., Crute, I.R., Haddad, L., Lawrence, D., Muir, J.F., Pretty, J., Robinson, S., Thomas, S.M., Toulmin, C., 2010. Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. Science 327 (5967), 812–818.
- Green, R.E., Cornell, S.J., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Balmford, A., 2005. Farming and the fate of wild nature. Science 307 (5709), 550–555.
- Gunningham, N., Young, M.D., 1997. Toward optimal environmental policy: the case biodiversity conservation. Ecol. law Q. 24 (1997), 243–298.
- Gustafsson, K.M., 2013. Environmental discourses and biodiversity: the construction of a storyline in understanding and managing an environmental issue. J. Integr. Environ. Sci. 10 (1), 39–54.
- Hajer, M.A., 2002. The Politics of Environmental Discourse: Ecological Modernization and the Policy Process, Reprinted. ed. Clarendon Press, Oxford, p. 332.
- Hevia, V., García-Llorente, M., Martínez-Sastre, R., Palomo, S., García, D., Miñarro, M., Pérez-Marcos, M., Sanchez, J.A., González, J.A., 2021. Do farmers care about pollinators? A cross-site comparison of farmers' perceptions, knowledge, and management practices for pollinator-dependent crops. Int. J. Agric. Sustain. 19 (1), 1–15.
- Hill, R., Díaz, S., Pascual, U., Stenseke, M., Molnár, Z., van Velden, J., 2021. Nature's contributions to people: weaving plural perspectives. One Earth 4 (7), 910–915.
- Hugé, J., Waas, T., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Koedam, N., Block, T., 2013. A discourseanalytical perspective on sustainability assessment: interpreting sustainable development in practice. Sustain. Sci. 8 (2), 187–198.
- IPBES, 2019. Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services: S. Díaz, J. Settele, E.S. Brondízio E.S., H.T. Ngo, M. Guèze, J. Agard, A. Arneth, P. Balvanera, K.A. Brauman, S.H.M. Butchart, K.M.A. Chan, L.A. Garibaldi, K. Ichii, J. Liu, S.M. Subramanian, G.F. Midgley, P. Miloslavich, Z. Molnár, D. Obura, A. Pfaff, S. Polasky, A. Purvis, J. Razzaque, B. Reyers, R. Roy Chowdhury, Y.J. Shin, I.J. Visseren-Hamakers, K.J. Willis, and C.N. Zayas{C} (eds.)., IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany. 56 pages.
- Jiren, T.S., Dorresteijn, I., Hanspach, J., Schultner, J., Bergsten, A., Manlosa, A., Jager, N., Senbeta, F., Fischer, J., 2020. Alternative discourses around the governance of food security: a case study from Ethiopia. Glob. Food Secur. 24, 100338.
- Kearney, S.G., Carwardine, J., Reside, A.E., Fisher, D.O., Maron, M., Doherty, T.S., Legge, S., Silcock, J., Woinarski, J.C.Z., Garnett, S.T., Wintle, B.A., Watson, J.E.M., 2019. The threats to Australia's imperilled species and implications for a national conservation response. Pac. Conserv. Biol. 25 (3), 231.
- Kehoe, L., Romero-Muñoz, A., Polaina, E., Estes, L., Kreft, H., Kuemmerle, T., 2017. Biodiversity at risk under future cropland expansion and intensification. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 1 (8), 1129–1135.
- Kelemen, E., Nguyen, G., Gomiero, T., Kovács, E., Choisis, J.-P., Choisis, N., Paoletti, M. G., Podmaniczky, L., Ryschawy, J., Sarthou, J.-P., Herzog, F., Dennis, P., Balázs, K., 2013. Farmers' perceptions of biodiversity: lessons from a discourse-based deliberative valuation study. Land Use Policy 35, 318–328.
- Kleijn, D., Biesmeijer, K.J., Klaassen, R.H., Oerlemans, N., Raemakers, I., Scheper, J., Vet, L.E., 2020. Chapter four - integrating biodiversity conservation in wider landscape management: necessity, implementation and evaluation. Adv. Ecol. Res. 63, 127–159.
- Kremen, C., Merenlender, A.M., 2018. Landscapes that work for biodiversity and people. Science 362 (6412).
- Kusmanoff, A.M., Fidler, F., Gordon, A., Bekessy, S.A., 2017. Decline of 'biodiversity' in conservation policy discourse in Australia. Environ. Sci. Policy 77, 160–165.
- Leopold, A., 1991. The farmer as a conservationist [1939]. In: Flader, S.L., Callicott, J.B. (Eds.), The River of the Mother of God: and Other Essays by Aldo Leopold. University of Wisconsin Press, Madison, WI, pp. 255–265.
- Leventon, J., Duşe, I.A., Horcea-Milcu, A.-I., 2021. Leveraging Biodiversity Action From Plural Values: Transformations of Governance Systems. Front. Ecol. Evol. 9.

- Lindenmayer, D., Michael, D., Crane, M., Okada, S., Barton, P., Ikin, K., Florance, D., 2016. Wildlife Conservation in Farm Landscapes. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, p. 231.
- Maas, B., Fabian, Y., Kross, S.M., Richter, A., 2021. Divergent farmer and scientist perceptions of agricultural biodiversity, ecosystem services and decision-making. Biol. Conserv. 256, 109065.
- Mace, G.M., 2014. Ecology. Whose Conserv. ? Sci. 345 (6204), 1558–1560.
 Marvier, M., 2014. New conservation is true conservation. Conserv. Biol.: J. Soc. Conserv. Biol. 28 (1), 1–3.
- McKeown, B., Thomas, D.B., 2013. Q methodology, 2nd ed..., SAGE,, Los Angeles, London, New Delhi, Singapore, Washington DC, p. 96.
- Moon, K., Cocklin, C., 2011. Participation in biodiversity conservation: Motivations and barriers of Australian landholders. J. Rural Stud. 27 (3), 331–342.

Newsome, L., 2020. Beyond 'get big or get out': female farmers' responses to the costprice squeeze of Australian agriculture. J. Rural Stud. 79, 57–64.

- NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (DPIE), 2016. South Western Slopes Bioregion. (https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/bioregions/NSWSouthWe sternSlopesBioregion.htm). Last accessed 02 November 2021.
- NSW Environment Protection Authority, 2021. NSW State of the Environment 2021. (https://www.soe.epa.nsw.gov.au/sites/default/files/2022–02/21p3448-nsw-state -of-the-environment-2021_0.pdf). Last accessed 27 May 2022.
- NSW Government, Department of Primary Industries (DPI), 2018. Important Agricultural Land Mapping: Riverina Murray Region Agricultural Profile. Factsheet No. 1. (htt ps://www.dpi.nsw.gov.au/_data/assets/pdf_file/0009/843363/Draft-ial-mapping-r iverina-murray-agricultural-profile.pdf). Last accessed 02 November 2021.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MA), 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis. Island Press,, Washington, DC.
- O'Keeffe, P., 2017. Creating resilience or private sector dependence? Shifting constructions of the farmer in Australian policy discourses. Space Polity 21 (3), 318–334.
- Pahl-Wostl, C., 2009. A conceptual framework for analysing adaptive capacity and multilevel learning processes in resource governance regimes. Glob. Environ. Change 19 (3), 354–365.
- Pascual, U., Adams, W.M., Díaz, S., Lele, S., Mace, G.M., Turnhout, E., 2021. Biodiversity and the challenge of pluralism. Nat. Sustain. 4, 567–572.
- Pe'er, G., Dicks, L.V., Visconti, P., Arlettaz, R., Baldi, A., Benton, T.G., Collins, S., Dieterich, M., Gregory, R.D., Hartig, F., Henle, K., Hobson, P.R., Kleijn, D., Neumann, R.K., Robijns, T., Schmidt, J., Shwartz, A., Sutherland, W.J., Turbe, A., Wulf, F., Scott, A.V., 2014. Agriculture policy. EU Agric. Reform Fails Biodivers. Sci. 344 (6188), 1090–1092.
- Prober, S.M., Thiele, K.R., 1995. Conservation of the grassy white box woodlands: relative contributions of size and disturbance to floristic composition and diversity of remnants. Aust. J. Bot. 43 (4), 349.
- Raymond, C.M., Bieling, C., Fagerholm, N., Martin-Lopez, B., Plieninger, T., 2016. The farmer as a landscape steward: Comparing local understandings of landscape stewardship, landscape values, and land management actions. Ambio 45 (2), 173–184.
- Robins, L., 2018. More than 30 years of 'Landcare' in Australia: five phases of development from 'childhood' to 'mid-life' (crisis or renewal?). Australas. J. Environ. Manag. 25 (4), 385–397.
- Royal, T., 2021. Private land conservation policy in Australia: Minimising socialecological trade-offs raised by market-based policy instruments. Land Use Policy, 105473.
- Runhaar, H.A.C., Melman, T.C.P., Boonstra, F.G., Erisman, J.W., Horlings, L.G., Snoo, G. R., de, Termeer, C.J.A.M., Wassen, M.J., Westerink, J., Arts, B.J.M., 2017. Promoting nature conservation by Dutch farmers: a governance perspective. Int. J. Agric. Sustain. 15 (3), 264–281.
- Ryan, M., Olsauskas, D., 2018. Rural Lands Issues Paper: Rural Lands Issues Papers: Farm holdings and land use. (http://www.cgrc.nsw.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/11 /CGRC-Farm-Holdings-Issues-Paper.pdf). Last accessed 02 November 2021.
- Sandbrook, C., Fisher, J.A., Holmes, G., Luque-Lora, R., Keane, A., 2019. The global conservation movement is diverse but not divided. Nat. Sustain. 2 (4), 316–323.
- Scheele, B.C., Legge, S., Armstrong, D.P., Copley, P., Robinson, N., Southwell, D., Westgate, M.J., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2018. How to improve threatened species management: an Australian perspective. J. Environ. Manag. 223, 668–675.
- Schimer, J., Dovers, S., Clayton, H., 2012. Informing conservation policy design through an examination of landholder preferences: A case study of scattered tree conservation in Australia. Biol. Conserv. 153, 51–63.
- Schmolck, P., 2014. PQMethod Software (Version 2.35) [Software]. (http://schmolck.org/qmethod/index.htm#PQMethod).
- Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, 2020. Global Biodiversity Outlook 5. Montreal. (https://www.cbd.int/gbo/gbo5/publication/gbo-5-en.pdf). Last accessed 02 November 2021.
- Selinske, M.J., Cooke, B., Torabi, N., Hardy, M.J., Knight, A.T., Bekessy, S.A., 2017. Locating financial incentives among diverse motivations for long-term private land conservation. Ecol. Soc. 22 (2).
- Siebert, R., Toogood, M., Knierim, A., 2006. Factors affecting European farmers' participation in biodiversity policies. Sociol. Rural. 46 (4).
- Sneegas, G., Beckner, S., Brannstrom, C., Jepson, W., Lee, K., Seghezzo, L., 2021. Using Q-methodology in environmental sustainability research: a bibliometric analysis and systematic review. Ecol. Econ. 180, 106864.
- Snoo, G.R., de, Herzon, I., Staats, H., Burton, R.J., Schindler, S., van Dijk, J., Lokhorst, A. M., Bullock, J.M., Lobley, M., Wrbka, T., Schwarz, G., Musters, C., 2013. Toward effective nature conservation on farmland: making farmers matter. Conserv. Lett. 6 (1), 66–72.

T. Schaal et al.

Soini, K., Aakkula, J., 2007. Framing the biodiversity of agricultural landscape: the essence of local conceptions and constructions. Land Use Policy 24 (2), 311–321.

Soule, M., 2013. The "new conservation". Conserv. Biol.: J. Soc. Conserv. Biol. 27 (5), 895–897.

- Stephenson, W., 1935. Technique of factor analysis. Nature 136, 297-297.
- Tennent, R., Lockie, S., 2013. Market-based instruments and competitive stewardship funding for biodiversity conservation: the achievable reality. Australas. J. Environ. Manag. 20 (1), 6–20.
- Tilman, D., Balzer, C., Hill, J., Befort, B.L., 2011. Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108 (50), 20260–20264. Tittensor, D.P., Walpole, M., Hill, S.L.L., Boyce, D.G., Britten, G.L., Burgess, N.D.,
- Hitchisof, D.F., Walpole, M., Hull, S.L., Boyce, D.N., Bittein, G.L., Bugess, K.D., Butchart, S.H.M., Leadley, P.W., Regan, E.C., Alkemade, R., Baumung, R., Bellard, C., Bouwman, L., Bowles-Newark, N.J., Chenery, A.M., Cheung, W.W.L., Christensen, V., Cooper, H.D., Crowther, A.R., Dixon, M.J.R., Galli, A., Gaveau, V., Gregory, R.D., Gutierrez, N.L., Hirsch, T.L., Höft, R., Januchowski-Hartley, S.R., Karmann, M., Krug, C.B., Leverington, F.J., Loh, J., Lojenga, R.K., Malsch, K., Marques, A., Morgan, D.H.W., Mumby, P.J., Newbold, T., Noonan-Mooney, K., Pagad, S.N., Parks, B.C., Pereira, H.M., Robertson, T., Rondinini, C., Santini, L., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Schindler, S., Sumaila, U.R., Teh, L.S.L., van Kolck, J., Visconti, P., Ye, Y., 2014. A mid-term analysis of progress toward international biodiversity targets. Science 346 (6206), 241–244.
- Turnhout, E., Purvis, A., 2020. Biodiversity and species extinction: categorisation, calculation, and communication. Griffith Law Rev. 29 (4), 669–685.
- Ward, M.S., Simmonds, J.S., Reside, A.E., Watson, J.E.M., Rhodes, J.R., Possingham, H. P., Trezise, J., Fletcher, R., File, L., Taylor, M., 2019. Lots of loss with little scrutiny: The attrition of habitat critical for threatened species in Australia. Conserv. Sci. Pract. 1 (11).
- Watts, S., Stenner, P., 2012. Doing Q Methodological Research: Theory, Method and Interpretation. SAGE, London, p. 238.
- Wintle, B.A., Cadenhead, N.C., Morgain, R.A., Legge, S.M., Bekessy, S.A., Cantele, M., Possingham, H.P., Watson, J.E., Maron, M., Keith, D.A., Garnett, S.T., Woinarski, J.C. Z., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2019. Spending to save: what will it cost to halt Australia's extinction crisis? Conserv. Lett. 12 (6).
- Woinarski, J.C.Z., Garnett, S.T., Legge, S.M., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2017. The contribution of policy, law, management, research, and advocacy failings to the recent extinctions of three Australian vertebrate species. Conserv. Biol.: J. Soc. Conserv. Biol. 31 (1), 13–23.
- Wyborn, C., Evans, M.C., 2021. Conservation needs to break free from global priority mapping. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 5 (10), 1322–1324.
- Zabala, A., Sandbrook, C., Mukherjee, N., 2018. When and how to use Q methodology to understand perspectives in conservation research. Conserv. Biol. 32 (5), 1185–1194.

Chapter III

Using the Three Horizons approach to explore pathways towards positive futures for agricultural landscapes with rich biodiversity (*Three Horizons Paper*)



ORIGINAL ARTICLE





Using the three horizons approach to explore pathways towards positive futures for agricultural landscapes with rich biodiversity

Tamara Schaal¹ · Michael Mitchell² · Ben C. Scheele³ · Paul Ryan⁴ · Jan Hanspach¹

Received: 10 March 2022 / Accepted: 4 December 2022 © The Author(s) 2023

Abstract

In light of the global challenges of the Anthropocene, including biodiversity loss, there are increasing calls for positive, inspirational futures to motivate action and help steer away from current, largely unsustainable trajectories. The three horizons framework is an approach in future studies that engages with normative futures and helps develop pathways towards them. However, this approach has not been applied to explore opportunities for biodiversity conservation with farming communities. We developed a template to apply the three horizons framework in combination with storytelling to explore positive futures for agricultural landscapes with rich biodiversity. We then applied this method over two workshops with a rural community in a farming landscape of south-eastern Australia facing typical contemporary challenges of an ageing population, climate change, biodiversity loss and global market uncertainty. In the workshops, six pathways for change were developed. We unpack these narratives of change to contrast problem framings, future aspirations and mechanisms of change and discuss implications for conservation. We discuss our approach to integrating diverse perspectives and values, creating actionable knowledge and highlight the role of governance and policy to support individual and collective agency. We conclude that the three horizons approach has the potential to create actionable knowledge through locally meaningful narratives of change, and thus influence priorities and empower local action. For lasting on-ground change, leadership and effective cross-scale governance is required.

Keywords Biodiversity conservation · Futures methods · Narratives · Storytelling · Systems thinking · Transformation

Introduction

The notion of the Anthropocene as a new geological era highlights the extent of human impact on the world's ecosystems (Crutzen 2002), which is irreversibly threatening

Handled by Jaco Quist, Delft University of Technology, Netherlands.

⊠ Tamara Schaal schaal@leuphana.de

- ¹ Faculty of Sustainability, Leuphana University Lüneburg, Universitätsallee 1, 21335 Lüneburg, Germany
- ² Gulbali Institute, Charles Sturt University, PO Box 789, Albury, NSW 2640, Australia
- ³ Fenner School of Environment and Society, The Australian National University, Acton, ACT 2601, Australia
- ⁴ Australian Resilience Centre, PO Box 271, Beechworth, VIC 3747, Australia

the basis upon which humanity relies (Steffen et al. 2015). Recent global projections of the impacts of human-induced climate change (IPCC 2021) and loss of biodiversity and ecosystem services (IPBES 2019) highlight the need for urgent action. However, despite increased knowledge of these unsustainable trajectories, existing approaches to protect biodiversity have largely failed to achieve global objectives such as the Aichi targets (Díaz et al. 2019). As a result, it is increasingly recognised that businessas-usual is not an option, and fundamental, system-wide changes are needed (IPBES 2019; Díaz et al. 2019). A key challenge for research on biodiversity conservation is that it involves tackling a wicked problem characterised by uncertainty and unclear and often ambivalent solutions (c.f. Rose 2018). Much debate in conservation has narrowly focused on agricultural production and disregarded societal issues such as justice and governance (Loos et al. 2014) and has not considered the issue through a systems lens. Subsequently, there are calls to make conservation research more transformative to address biodiversity loss (Colloff et al. 2017; Wyborn et al. 2020b). This means including different perspectives and values (Colloff et al. 2017), moving away from research that is focused exclusively on scientific knowledge and instead recognising different types of knowledge (e.g. Sterling et al. 2017) such as indigenous and local knowledge (e.g. IPBES 2019) and drawing on interdisciplinary and participatory research approaches (Rose 2018).

To counteract the often negative projections of future ecological and social decline, there have been calls to develop novel, inspirational scenarios (Bennett et al. 2016) and positive visions that inspire people to act (Raudsepp-Hearne et al. 2020; Pereira et al. 2019a, 2018). By providing directions for change, desirable futures and visions play a key role for sustainability transformations (Wiek and Iwaniec 2014). Developing such normative or positive futures requires more than the progression of change from existing drivers or trends. An ability to imagine is vital. Imagination refers to ideas about the future that cannot be captured by the senses (Moore and Milkoreit 2020). Processes that foster imagination can help to improve system understanding, cocreate new solutions, fill participants with a greater sense of hope for the future, and foster a commitment to action (Pereira et al. 2019b, 2018). Imaginative futures can also help to explore and engage with different worldviews and values, as outlined by Wyborn et al. (2020a) in the context of biodiversity loss. However, future pathways developed thus far have predominantly had a global or regional focus and quantitative methods dominate (Mangnus et al. 2019). More participatory and imaginative approaches are needed to complement these efforts in ways that can enable more effective and practical local-level human agency (Pereira et al. 2019b), especially those approaches that start from bottom-up interventions (Pereira et al. 2021).

In this paper, we focus on the three horizons framework, a participatory future studies approach that helps grapple with future uncertainty and divergent perspectives and focuses attention on the role of humans to bring about positive futures (c.f. Sharpe et al. 2016). This makes it a potential tool to explore options for improving biodiversity outcomes at a local level. Three horizons structures discussions about desirable futures and ways to get to those futures along three horizons (Sharpe et al. 2016). Horizon 1 is the current system or business-as-usual, Horizon 3 is the imagined future system, and Horizon 2 represents the transition or transformation zone from Horizon 1 to Horizon 3 (Curry and Hodgson 2008; Sharpe et al. 2016). Three horizons is an approach to systems analysis where each of the three horizons represents a different condition of the system (Curry 2015) or different system patterns (Leicester 2020). These three horizons can be understood as an 'orientating heuristic', bringing focus and awareness to different patterns of change and the disconnect between the current situation and desired futures.

The three horizons framework has been applied to a broad range of topics, often in combination with scenario planning. Initially developed as a practitioners' tool, the approach has been increasingly used in research since 2006 (Curry and Hodgson 2008). It has been used to create scenarios based on existing initiatives of positive futures or 'seeds' (Pereira et al. 2019a, 2018; Raudsepp-Hearne et al. 2020) and to explore the role of human agency in achieving positive futures (Falardeau et al. 2019). It has also been applied to structure discussions about strategies that will lead to preferred scenarios for human-wildlife coexistence (Jiren et al. 2021). Three horizons has frequently been applied to develop bottom-up or local pathways of change, including to develop value-based local scenarios (Harmáčková et al. 2021) and to understand how regional pathways contribute to achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (Aguiar et al. 2020). To our knowledge, the utility of the three horizons framework to address biodiversity loss has not been assessed to date. We created a template that combines the three horizons framework with a storytelling approach to elicit pathways towards positive futures. We applied this method in a case study on biodiversity conservation in an agricultural landscape in south-eastern Australia.

The aim of this paper is twofold. First, we provide a stepby-step guide for how three horizons, in combination with a storytelling approach, can be applied to explore systems change towards desirable futures. Second, we assess how useful this approach is to developing locally meaningful narratives about positive futures that help identify opportunities for protecting biodiversity. To this end, we engaged a place-based community to collaborate with us to: (1) explore different perspectives on systems change towards positive futures, and (2) assess the utility of the three horizons framework for navigating towards those futures. The place was the Muttama Creek Catchment, a farming area in south-eastern Australia which faces challenges representative of the broader region in Australia and the globe, including climate change, biodiversity loss and an ageing rural population. We collaborated with the Muttama Creek Landcare Group, who was keen to develop community activities and broaden engagement with other people in the community. For our first research aim, we conducted two full day workshops over the course of two weeks. For aim two, we used questionnaires to document workshop participants' evaluation of the utility of the three horizons framework to support futures thinking, creativity, empowerment and dealing with diverse viewpoints and complexity. We describe the workshop process and the resultant six pathway narratives that emerged from discussions. We then reflect on the approach with specific reference to how our application helped with mutual understanding across different perspectives among the Muttama community, the social impact of this research approach, and the utility of this futures studies tool for biodiversity conservation in farming landscapes.

Materials and methods

Situating the three horizons framework

Futures studies offers a range of methods to enable communities to explore possible, plausible and normative futures that improve decision-making and help navigate pathways towards those futures (Bai et al. 2016; Bengston 2019). Such methods can help make people's assumptions about the future explicit and explore novel futures. For example, Jarva (2014) argues that even though the future has not materialised in the real word, "it does exist in peoples' minds as passive and active (motivational) futures" (p. 21). Scenarios, visioning and backcasting are well-known participatory methods in transformation research (Wittmayer et al. 2018) and share common characteristics with the three horizons framework.

Scenarios can be applied in a range of different ways to make predictions, for exploring a topic, or engaging with normative questions (Börjeson et al. 2006). In recent years, there has been a growing interest in normative scenarios (e.g. Aguiar et al. 2020) and application of scenario planning to explore positive futures (e.g. Falardeau et al. 2019; Iwaniec et al. 2020). Scenario planning has become a prominent tool in social-ecological systems research to study, inter alia, biodiversity questions (Oteros-Rozas et al. 2015). Despite the plethora of ways in which scenarios have been applied to date, their role to enhance human agency and create positive scenarios remain under-researched (Falardeau et al. 2019). While scenarios have been used to help build common visions, their use as a standalone exercise has limited their utility in bringing about collaborative action-both for rural communities (Nieto-Romero et al. 2016) and for biodiversity conservation (Pert et al. 2010).

Visioning is another approach in futures studies that aims to develop a normative, desirable future (Wiek and Iwaniec, 2014) and is often combined with other future studies tools that build on these visions (e.g. Hamann et al. 2020). Visions of the future can be valuable in providing motivation for change but this may not be enough to help translate the visions into human action nor enable transformative change (Iwaniec et al. 2020). In contrast to these forward-looking approaches, backcasting connects the future with the present by starting from an endpoint and working back towards the present (e.g. Inayatullah 2008; Vervoort et al. 2014), thus enabling a systemic and long-term oriented perspective to be taken (Quist 2016). In backcasting, alternative futures or visions are developed and their feasibility and consequences for actions and planning in the present are considered (Dreborg, 1996; Quist and Vergragt, 2006).

A key challenge that remains for any futures method engaging with normativity is the inherent subjectivity related to positive or preferable futures. Achieving a 'good future' is difficult because of the normative nature of these futures and the divergent perspectives that exist (Pereira et al. 2019a). Therefore, it is increasingly recognised that there exists not just one single ideal future and one single path, but multiple desirable futures and pathways (Bai et al. 2016; Bennett et al. 2016; Scoones et al. 2020), with pathways defined as being "courses of events and actions towards the desired targets" (Aguiar et al. 2020, p. 2). The three horizons framework offers an approach to developing pathways that simultaneously considers the present and the future systems and connects the present with desirable end points in the future. In addition to being highly participatory, it takes a systems perspective and focuses on identifying how humans can bring about change.

Case study context

The catchment area of the 100 km long Muttama Creek (1138 km²) lies in the so-called sheep-wheat belt of southeastern Australia, i.e. where land use is a mix of cropping and livestock grazing with sheep and cattle. The study area is located in the temperate climate zone, which, due to stable weather conditions, contributes to farms having relatively high commercial property values (Olsauskas et al. 2018). The agriculture, forestry and fishery industries together are the largest employer in the Cootamundra-Gundagai Regional Council (CGRC), the local government area encompassing our study area (ABS 2022). Agriculture thus plays a vital role in the regional economy and it is largely export-oriented. The majority of land in the region is privately owned. Most of the Council's approximately 11,000 population reside in the two major towns, with the rest of the area being sparsely populated. On average, the population in the area is older than the population of the state of New South Wales and migration trends show an increase of older residents (Cootamundra-Gundagai Regional Council 2018).

Since European colonisation in the early nineteenth century, and more specifically, since the onset of industrialised agriculture, much of the original grassy woodland ecosystems has been removed through land clearing with only remnant areas of natural vegetation remaining. While the study region has experienced a decline in rainfall since 1990 (Bureau of Meteorology and CSIRO 2020), since 2020, there has been above average rainfall leading to record canola harvests and cattle prices. However, according to climate projections for the broader region, average temperatures are expected to increase and rainfall patterns are projected to change with increased rainfall in summer, and declining rainfall for other seasons (Local Land Services 2015). These climate changes scenarios are projected to result in decreased pasture production and profitability by 2030 (Local Land Services 2015). Based on global emission scenarios and projected changes in rainfall and temperature, the broader Riverina region, which our study area is part of, could experience a decrease in farm profits by 2050 of up to 31.5% compared to the 1950–2000 period (Hughes et al. 2020).

There have been several community-led initiatives in the area addressing climate change and environmental issues. The Muttama Creek Regeneration Group was founded in 2003 to focus community effort to improve riparian health of the section of the Muttama Creek that runs through the urban areas of one of the towns in the area.¹ Then, in late 2018, members of the local farming community formed the Muttama Creek Landcare Group, which aims "to protect and rehabilitate the natural vegetation of the Muttama Creek and surrounds, to reduce adverse impacts of climate volatility in the area and increase biodiversity".² Key actions of the local Council's Rural Lands Strategy include increasing tree canopy and encouraging regenerative farming (Cootamundra-Gundagai Regional Council 2019).

Research approach

In this section, we first outline how we selected and recruited participants for the workshops before detailing how participants were guided through the three horizons. We then highlight how we analysed the six pathways through thematic clustering and used narratives to uncover the multiple ways in which people view the future before describing how we evaluated participants' assessment of our workshop approach.

Participant selection and recruitment

To address our two research aims, we conducted two full-day workshops two weeks apart in April and May 2021. Through earlier research involving case study participants, we identified contrasting perspectives on the biodiversity–production intersection reflecting different perceptions of biodiversity and land use priorities (Schaal et al. 2022b). Workshop participants were thus selected to reflect the diverse viewpoints held among farming stakeholders in our study area so that desirable futures could be created to encompass this diverse range of values and perceptions. Due to the systemic nature of the three horizons approach, we also sought to invite participants with different roles in the agricultural system. This included land managers in the area, staff from local and state government and non-government agencies (Cootamundra Gundagai Regional Council, Local Land Services, Biodiversity Conservation Trust), members of local community groups (a regional Landcare coordinator, members of the Muttama Creek Landcare Group), a teacher from the local high school, and other key organisations and individuals working in that space. We sent email invitations to over 130 people who we had either interviewed in the project previously, identified as key stakeholders, or who had been suggested to us by other interviewees. We also advertised the workshops via Facebook as well as through articles in two local newspapers (Cootamundra Herald, Gundagai Independent) and a newspaper focused on agriculture and rural topics in Australia (The Land). There were 28 participants at each of the workshops. 16 participants who participated in the first workshop also participated in the second one.

Workshop process

Previous research in the study area highlighted that peoples' perspectives on the role and importance of biodiversity conservation in farming varied substantially, from a more ecological perspective that sees biodiversity as the prerequisite for profitable farming to a pro-production perspective that questions biodiversity benefits to farming (Schaal et al. 2022b). Building on these insights, we defined the following overarching question to frame the discussions: *How will we create a future where our landscape sustains viable communities, profitable farming and a rich biodiversity?* Based on this framing, we developed key questions to guide participants through the three horizons (Fig. 1).

The workshops alternated between group discussions with changing compositions and plenary discussions. During the first workshop participants were asked to:

- 1. Identify signs that the current system is not viable in the long run (Horizon 1; Fig. 1, W1.1).
- 2. Identify the drivers behind these unsustainable trajectories (Fig. 1, W1.2).
- 3. Discuss what aspects they would like to retain from the current system (Fig. 1, W1.3).
- 4. Identify characteristics of a desirable future (without specifying a particular time frame) (Horizon 3; Fig. 1, W1.4).
- 5. Identify examples of a desirable future that exist already today (Fig. 1, W1.5).

The examples identified by participants of aspects of desired futures already existing today thus become the seeds

¹ https://www.facebook.com/Muttama-Creek-Regeneration-Group-1217251158377723, information retrieved on 28 October 2021.

² https://www.facebook.com/muttamacreeklandcare, information retrieved on 15 October 2021.



Fig. 1 The three horizons (H1–H3) and the questions guiding the discussions for each of the horizons during the two workshops. The letters and numbers indicate which aspects were covered during the first (W1) and second (W2) workshop and in which order (1-5)

that will help create the positive futures of tomorrow. Seeds are understood to be "initiatives (social, technological, economic, or social–ecological ways of thinking or doing) that exist, at least in prototype form [...] but are not currently dominant or prominent in the world" (Bennett et al. 2016, p. 442).

The focus of the second workshop was to develop future pathways where key issues in the current system (Horizon 1) were bridged with desirable characteristics of the future (Horizon 3) through project ideas (Horizon 2). Participants split into groups and were asked to come up with project ideas that would help move away from current issues (Horizon 1) and towards desirable system characteristics (Horizon 3). Some groups chose to stick to broad themes, e.g. addressing the issue of declining community health and capacity, whereas others focused on more narrowly defined issues, e.g. set stocking and its impacts. After this initial brainstorming, the result of which were ten different project ideas, participants grouped themselves around a particular project idea they preferred to work on more (Fig. 1, W2) by writing their name against that project idea. The total number of groups was not pre-determined, but during the selection, six groups emerged with group sizes ranging from 2 to 5 participants. A storytelling approach was then used to develop pathways using so-called storyboards. Storyboards were initially developed in the film industry and are sequences of drawings to map out the film narrative (Hart 2008). The groups were encouraged to draw on people from other groups with expertise that they needed for their pathway. Each group was asked to discuss and draw four steps of a storyboard: (1) the context or setting of their projects; (2) which enablers would help advance the project; (3) what potential barriers the project might face; and (4) how the successful project would look and feel like (Supplementary Material I). We decided to draw on a storytelling approach as it helps foster imagination, i.e. ideas which do not form part of "sensory and lived experience" (Moore and Milkoreit 2020, p. 9). Stories are also important to create shared understandings of dynamics in social–ecological systems (Galafassi et al. 2018).

To broaden the ways in which people in the area can engage with the workshop outcomes, we invited an interpretive artist to join the workshops and to create artworks inspired by the discussions. Arts represent an alternative mode of engagement with a topic, which can help communicate and illustrate research findings, and complement them through critical, creative or engaging outputs (Saratsi et al. 2019).

Thematic clustering

After obtaining oral consent from participants, we recorded all sessions where participants presented outcomes from small group work to the large group and subsequent discussions involving all participants. We also kept all written workshop outcomes produced by the individual groups. All recorded workshop discussions were transcribed verbatim. We took an inductive approach to clustering the written workshop outcomes into key themes. The Horizon 1 themes (W1.1) were clustered around aspects from the group presentations that were delivered during the workshop. Themes derived for other workshop outcomes (W1.3–1.5) were grouped together by the authors after the first workshop by drawing on the workshop transcripts to inform our



understanding of their meanings. In the two weeks between the two workshops, we summarised outcomes and key insights from the first workshop into a report that was sent to all participants of both workshops. At the beginning of the second workshop, we briefly presented the outcomes from the first workshop and asked participants to add themes or drivers that they felt were missing. After the second workshop, we wrote up storylines the groups had presented using workshop recordings, and gave each a name based on the descriptions and expressions used by participants during their presentations. We then sent summaries of workshop outcomes to all participants for feedback. We also presented them at several meetings of the Muttama Creek Landcare Group to report back on the workshop and obtain feedback on the outcomes. These steps were vital to understand whether our interpretations of the storylines and labels were reflective of the groups' understandings.

Narratives of change

Our first research aim was to articulate how the three horizons framework, in combination with a storytelling approach, can be applied to explore different perspectives on systems change towards positive futures. For this, we were interested in understanding the narratives of change produced through the storytelling approach as a reflection of different perspectives on systems change. Narratives provide both a useful way to communicate imaginary futures (Beckert 2016) and to engage with multiple imaginations of the future (Wyborn et al. 2020b). From a constructivist perspective, Leach et al. (2010) argue that for the same issue there are multiple co-existing narratives framing the system and its dynamics differently, each reflecting different values and goals through which problem and solutions are variously identified. In a narrative, different events are put into a sequence, starting with a beginning, e.g. a particular problem; the middle, in which certain events subsequently unfold; leading to the end, where certain outcomes are identified (Roe 1994). Narratives thus not only frame a problem in a certain way, but also who is responsible to address the problem and how. They give structure to future imaginaries (Pigott 2018) by, for example, considering three key elements: a rationale, relevant actors, and a plot (Wittmayer et al. 2019). We understand narratives here as storylines that start with a perceived problem which is addressed through a set of activities and developments leading to a desired future.

Participant evaluation

Our second research aim was to assess the utility of the three horizons approach for navigating towards those futures. For this, we were interested in understanding participants' assessment of the workshops regarding five recurring topics in the current literature on futures studies: (1) dealing with complexity (e.g. Bengston 2019); (2) providing space for creativity and imagination (e.g. Wyborn et al. 2020b); (3) dealing with a diversity of goals and perspectives (e.g. Pereira et al. 2019a); (4) empowering participants and agency (e.g. Sharpe et al. 2016); and (5) fostering future thinking or literacy (e.g. Pereira et al. 2018, 2019b). At the end of each workshop, we asked participants to complete a questionnaire where they were asked to rank a question regarding each of these five key futures studies aspects on a five-point Likert scale from 'strongly disagree' to 'strongly agree'. We received 39 questionnaires; 18 from participants at the first workshop and 21 from the second. The questionnaire also served to obtain participant demographic details: 59% of the respondents were male, they were predominantly land managers or landholders (74%), and they covered a range of different age groups, with over half of the respondents 55 years or older (Fig. 2).

Results

During the workshops, participants discussed a range of interconnected issues with the current system and expressed diverse aspirations for the future. Based on these



Fig. 3 The three horizons (H1-H3) and the main themes that emerged from the discussions about each of the horizons

discussions, participants in groups then developed six storyboards in which innovations, technologies or new ways of thinking and doing provided the impetus for moving away from a non-viable system towards positive futures. The resultant pathways combine six cross-cutting themes that emerged during the workshops: technology, knowledge, community, responsibility, environment, and farming systems. Each pathway represents a unique combination of these themes, highlighting the diversity of future aspirations and perspectives.

In the following, we present our findings in the order in which the three horizons were discussed during the workshops.

Horizon 1

Participants in small group discussions identified different aspects that they felt were indicative of how the current system will not remain viable in the future (Fig. 3, 'Signs of crisis'). The most prominent theme across the groups were issues related to "traditional" or more conventional farming approaches that were seen as lacking agility or having an over-reliance on chemical inputs. Biodiversity loss was also perceived to be a key issue, examples being the loss of birds or big old trees from the landscape. Another biophysical concern related to the water cycle, in particular poor water quality in the catchment area and increased run-off after heavy rainfall. Several groups mentioned issues related to farming system health, specifying a decline in soil quality, loss of crop diversity and invasive weeds. Similarly, participants perceived a decline of individual and community health and capacity, including an ageing population in rural areas and mental health issues driven by burn out. Finally, examples of external system drivers beyond the immediate control of participants included climate change, increasing natural disasters and increasing consumer awareness about impacts of farming practices.

The discussion on drivers of change identified by participants focused on two critical signs that the system is untenable in the long run: traditional farming practices and a broken water cycle (Supplementary Material II). Workshop participants were divided into six groups, each of which selected one key issue and discussed driving forces that lead to these negative outcomes (Fig. 1, W1.2). This short exercise exploring direct and indirect drivers for these two situations highlighted the complexity of the issues involved by showing how the two issues are interrelated and how different drivers influence those issues in different ways. The influence diagram created by the researchers after the workshops (Supplementary Material II) showed how interconnected the different drivers are in participants' understanding across social, governance and management, economic, technological and biophysical aspects.

Participants felt that there were several aspects that should be retained from the current system (Fig. 3, 'Elements to keep'). This included the skills of farming communities in handling technology and their openness to adopt new technologies. Maintaining environmental stewardship and cultural heritage was a specific reference to farmers' desires to take care of the environment, biodiversity and



Fig. 4 Overview of the six pathways (P1–P6) that participants developed during the second workshop. The figure shows how the signs of a non-viable system (Horizon 1), innovative ideas, new ways of doing or technology (Horizon 2) and desirable characteristics of the future

(Horizon 3) are connected. Grey boxes are main themes identified through thematic clustering. The coloured boxes were written down by the groups prior to developing the pathways resulting in minor textual differences compared to the final narratives

cultural heritage on their farms. Participants wanted to maintain food production which includes farmers' rights and ability to produce food, especially locally. Family farming was seen as important given its association with intergenerational management and a stewardship commitment to the land. Vibrant communities should be preserved, e.g. by maintaining the regional population or government support through legislation and funding. Participants also wanted the government to maintain their role in providing funding for local land management outcomes to enhance community well-being and to put in place good biosecurity legislation. At the same time, participants also valued independence from government, i.e. the right to farm and the freedom to choose the way of farming within community expectations. Finally, other aspects to be retained were the equality of women in farming and the farming lifestyle.

Horizon 3

Participants identified a broad range of aspects that characterise positive futures (Fig. 3, 'Desirable futures'). This includes science and technology in farming, e.g. that farming systems should be based on science or use renewable energy to reduce reliance on fossil fuels. Capacities and knowledge should include anticipatory capacity of the community to plan for change and real time education and knowledge. Regarding ethical or responsible farming, participants wanted to see traceability and accountability in farming. Participants also discussed a range of properties that related to ecosystems and farming systems. Healthy and biodiverse ecosystems were desirable to participants and included healthy and biodiverse aquatic ecosystems and increasing soil carbon levels and soil health. Balanced farming systems meant that there should be a balance between production and natural systems and a better match of inputs and outputs in farming. Desirable system properties were their resilience and the diversity of people, enterprises and ecosystems therein. Community well-being meant that there should be a better standard of living for all in the communities. Economic opportunities and financial viability encompassed stabilised markets, ecotourism and an economic value for biodiversity. Finally, other desirable aspects were well-resourced government support staff and farming being seen as a good industry to be involved in despite a challenging climate.

Some of the aspirations towards the future can already be found in the present system (Fig. 3, 'Seeds of change'), including technological innovations such as hydroponics and

		P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P6
		Utopia	Grass-	Vision	Farming	Spider	Best
			roots		Story	Web	Practice*
Governance &	В		Х	Х	Х	Х	
Policy	Е		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Individuals &	В	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х
mindsets	Е				Х	Х	
Markata 8 industry	В	Х	Х	Х	Х		
	Е	Х		Х		Х	
Education &	В	Х	Х				
knowledge	Е	Х	Х		Х		Х
Collaboration &	В	Х					
connections	Е			Х	Х		
Farming systems	В	Х				Х	
Familing systems	Е				Х		
Technology	В						Х
rechnology	Е	Х			Х		Х

Table 1	Barriers (B) and enablers	(E) identified b	oy th	ne grou	ps	prior to	develo	ping	the st	oryli	nes
					/									

The areas shaded in yellow indicate that the groups mentioned aspects that relate to an overarching factor both being a barrier and an enabler *This group did not produce a written output of the barriers and enablers discussed. They were instead derived by the researchers afterwards based on the presentation of the storyline

glass houses, electric fences, virtual animal tags or robotic services. Education, knowledge and science related aspects that exist today were access to agriculture in the education system and research into practice change. Ethically responsible farming included honesty in labelling, animal welfare and humane practices but also technology-assisted paddock-to-plate traceability. Participants expressed a desire that environmental stewardship be put into practice and that landholders are rewarded for doing so. Non-traditional farm management related to cell or rotational grazing instead of set stocking, cover crops and support for carbon and solar farming. Other aspects included agritourism and equal participation of women in farm management.

Horizon 2

In total, there were six groups with each choosing an issue or set of issues in the current system (Horizon 1) that they wanted to address and associated future aspirations that they wanted to move towards (Horizon 3). Through storytelling, they charted pathways into positive futures (Fig. 3, 'Pathways'; Fig. 4). Here, we briefly outline the narratives (see full narratives in Box 1 and Supplementary Material III): Utopia pathway: In this pathway, the key issues recognised are disconnects at different levels, especially locally, but also between rural and urban areas, and decreasing community health due to fewer people in the communities. The group recognised that improving education to create a more diverse and skilled workforce was the key to overcoming this challenge to a large extent. Positive change is also expected to happen through making stronger connections between producers and consumers through technology. This includes social media, paddock-to-plate marketing, which brings food from farmers directly to consumers, and agritourism. Such connections are expected to increase understanding of the agricultural landscape among urban residents, while strengthening local food production.

Grassroots pathway: In this pathway, the key issues addressed are decreasing community health and capacity. The group felt that a key lever for change involves making the regulatory framework more conducive to supporting viability of small and medium-sized farms. Change at the local level is seen to happen through bottom-up means such as grassroots initiatives or 'kitchen table' conversations. The group recognised mixed farms and bringing family members back to the farm as enablers for change that lead to improved viability for small and medium-sized farms and enhance capacity for ethical, semi-intensive agriculture. These developments over time are believed to improve the health of the Muttama Creek and the landscape.

Visions pathway: In this pathway, two intertwined issues are considered: decreasing community health and wellbeing, particularly a lack of diversity of people; and partly depleted ecosystems. The group saw change coming from increasing connectivity (between farmers and consumers and with the land), networking, support for micro projects, more incentives for small rural businesses and farm diversification. This is expected to lead to a bespoke, young and energised community where people live in harmony with the land, farmers are paid for conservation, sustainable practices and net zero carbon emissions.

Farming Story pathway: In this pathway, the key issue concerns unhealthy and non-diverse ecosystems, e.g. sparse native woody vegetation. The group focused on change that started with just one farmer with the right mindset and incentives at the community-level through Landcare and improved environmental education. As a result, the farmer was expected to start on-farm improvements through revegetation, tree plantings and fencing off the creek. Over several generations, ecosystem and livestock health were believed to improve by planting multi-generational tree lots. Eventually the group expected this to have a trickle-down effect on the rest of the community.

Horizon 1



Horizon 2



Horizon 3



Fig. 5 Artworks created by a local artist based on the workshop discussions. They represent each of the three horizons. Artist: Julia Roche. Photos: Jack of Hearts/Jackie Cooper

Spider Web pathway: In this pathway, the key issue addressed is a disconnect between the federal and state system regarding soil carbon and biodiversity projects. The group believed that better collaboration and integration between state and federal level governments—supported by government representatives in the communities and farmers championing changes—would help increase community buy-in. This was expected to lead to more resilient and biodiverse ecosystems (Box 1).

Best Practice pathway: In this pathway, the key issues recognised were reduced soil health, water quality and loss of biodiversity as interlinked problems. The group felt that widespread implementation of practices that already exist on a small scale such as rotational grazing together with virtual fencing and other technological innovations, e.g. using drones for feed calculations, would help bring about change. Participants expected this to help improve farm viability, which would also lead to better environmental outcomes.

Prior to and while they were developing the storylines, the groups considered aspects that would inhibit or support the realisation of their pathways. When discussing barriers and enablers, the most prominent across all six pathways was the aspect related to the governance and policy context (Table 1, Supplementary Material IV). Based on the workshop discussions following the guiding questions, the local artist created abstract artworks representing each of the three horizons (Fig. 5).

Participants' assessment of the three horizons workshop process

Overall, participants' assessment of the workshops regarding the five key futures studies aspects were very positive (Fig. 6). The second workshop involving the pathways narratives was ranked more positively than the first workshop, except for the complexity dimension. On average, 64% of the responses were in the 'strongly agree' section for workshop 2, compared to 52% for workshop 1. The empowerment dimension generally received the most negative responses, i.e. 11% and 12% of the responses in the 'strongly disagree' section for the first and second workshop respectively. The creativity dimension received the overall most positive assessment with 72% and 94% of participants selecting the 'strongly agree' response for workshops 1 and 2, respectively. The future thinking dimension received the lowest percentage of 'strongly agree' responses for both workshops.



Fig. 6 Participants' assessment of the two workshops based on five key topics in futures studies on a five-point Likert scale from strongly disagree to strongly agree. For more detail see Supplementary Material V

Box 1 Example of a storyline and the corresponding storyboard. See Supplementary Material III for the other five storylines.

(P5) Building Connections to Create a Spider Web of Influence.

The key issue that this pathway addresses is the disconnect between the federal and state systems (*top left in the draw-ing*), with specific reference to the federally funded soil carbon projects and projects funded by state government such as the Biodiversity Conservation Trust. In particular, when there are in-perpetuity agreements for land on a property set aside for biodiversity conservation, that property is excluded from soil carbon projects.

As a result of this lack of coherence, legislation blocks synergies between projects and creates red tape. People's mindsets, especially a fear of change, stand in the way of creating better connections between biodiversity and soil carbon projects (*top right*). For example, many landholders feel that moving away from traditional to more sustainable farming practices and embracing long-term projects, e.g. biodiversity conservation and soil carbon projects, is a huge and risky commitment.

"... the fear of engaging and the fear of the unknown is a big thing to overcome."

Synergies between the projects regarding biodiversity, food production and farmers' income exist. However, for these synergies to emerge, federal and state agencies need to collaborate and help create a spider web of influence. This in turn helps to improve connection with research and funding opportunities. Government agency representatives located in the community are important for influencing the direction of change. Farmers who are passionate about these synergies and champion them can increase buy-in from the rest of the community by demonstrating that it is worthwhile to do these projects on their property. Soil carbon markets provide another opportunity for changes to farming practices.

"... we need to get everyone around the table trying to figure out a way that [the federal and state systems] can work together."

Eventually, these changes lead to a healthy and sustainable environment (bottom left)



This storyboard uses Indigenous symbolism and was drawn by a Wiradjuri workshop participant
Discussion

Combining the three horizons framework with a storytelling approach helped elicit six pathways towards future visions and explore anticipated changes, including to biodiversity in the local area. The three horizons approach provides a structured way to talk about different dynamics that give rise to different futures, while storytelling helped participants connect their ideas into narratives of change. Our approach to explore futures can be classified as imaginative, participatory and qualitative (c.f. Bengston 2019) and contributes to a growing body of literature on local or regional pathways and actions towards positive futures (Bennett et al. 2016; Pereira et al. 2018; Mangnus et al. 2019). While futures methods to develop pathways often focus on a limited or pre-defined number of visions (e.g. Mangnus et al. 2019; Raudsepp-Hearne et al. 2020), the flexibility of our approach offered the opportunity for a broader range of different pathways to emerge. Moreover, in contrast to vision-driven approaches such as backcasting, the three horizons framework is focused on exploring systems dynamics by considering perceptions of current issues, future aspirations, and innovations simultaneously. In the following, we first contrast the six narratives before discussing implications for conservation in farming landscapes. We then present our reflections on benefits and limitations of our approach in terms of plural values and perspectives in conservation research, creating actionable knowledge and the role of policy and governance.

Comparison of the pathways

The six narratives reveal a diversity of problem framings, future aspirations, and mechanisms of change to move towards positive futures. The pathways addressed issues related to community health, farming systems and landscape health, and lack of policy coherence. Conservation objectives were embedded in the broader context of rural development, allowing us to consider community needs that are not always considered in approaches that focus only on agriculture or nature conservation. In most of the six narratives, change came from a combination of elements within the control of the community and from outside the focal system. Farmers were key actors for change in most of the pathways (Grassroots, Vision, Farming Story and Best Practice pathways). The community or community organisations also played a vital role in many of the pathways either to bring about or to support changes (Utopia, Grassroots and Farming Story pathways). Institutional changes were vital for the Spider Webs pathway and to a lesser extent in providing incentives in the Best Practice pathway. In the latter, technology was a key driver of change for realising a positive future.

The pathways also relied on different types of innovations for system change. We understand innovation here broadly as "the (re)integration of new or existing information in innovative ways" (McKenzie 2013, p. 83). This means that whilst something might be an established practice elsewhere, it can count as new in a particular location. The Best Practice pathway focused particularly on technological innovations. In contrast, the Farming Story and the Utopia pathways pursued a different avenue by focusing on education. Environmental education and awareness-raising help mobilise human resources and enable innovations for transformative change (Pereira et al. 2021). The Vision pathway provided the most comprehensive account of strategies to establish alternative food systems such as direct marketing, diversified production or producing on a smaller scale. In sum, our narrative approach to pathways highlights different system framings and values (c.f. Leach et al. 2010) as well as different priorities and perceptions of key problems and solutions proposed to overcome these challenges (see also Krauß 2020).

Implications for biodiversity conservation in farming landscapes

The six pathways represent different understandings of the relationship between farming and biodiversity. For example, in the Best Practice pathway, local stakeholders imagined that improved profitability would provide the means to protect on-farm biodiversity through use of new technologies combined with changed practices. In contrast, the Vision pathway focuses on a changed relationship with nature, i.e. living in harmony with the land, which IPBES (2019) refers to as an element of a good quality of life. Prominent academic debates about conservation in agriculture, such as land sparing versus land sharing (Green et al. 2005) or the prospect of sustainable intensification (Loos et al. 2014; Tilman et al. 2011), did not play a major role in the pathways. Instead, the approach of storytelling helped workshop participants identify a variety of ways to protect biodiversity in their south-eastern Australian farming landscape context, such as rotational grazing or planting tree plots.

IPBES (2019) suggests five levers for transformative change to avoid the destruction of nature, some of which the five pathways refer to. With regard to incentives and capacity building (lever 1), the *Farming Story* and *Vision* pathways focused on environmental education, e.g. about the benefits of tree plantings, and education through community-based organisations. With regard to cross-sectoral cooperation (lever 2), the *Spider Webs* pathway pointed to the need for integration of biodiversity and soil carbon projects across administrative levels. This lack of integration between agricultural and conservation policies in Australia has been identified elsewhere (e.g. Bardsley et al. 2019). Our findings highlight how this lack of coherence is perceived to be a barrier for change on the ground. Carbon credits as a form of environmental policy (lever 5) were brought up as enablers for change by two groups. Research shows that in addition to storing carbon in the soil, vegetation projects can improve biodiversity outcomes if they are well designed (Standish and Prober 2020). Our findings highlight a willingness among farmers to engage in carbon farming and tree planting and suggest an underexplored potential for synergies.

Dealing with a diversity of perspectives and values

Our application of the three horizons approach is specifically designed to include a range of different perspectives and problem framings. Guided by the overarching workshop question, participants could explore the plethora of topics relevant for their community, thus opening up their thinking to various issues, visions and innovations which was vital for the subsequent development of different pathways. Although the overarching question for the workshops was framed around community well-being, profitable farming, and rich biodiversity, the number or exact nature of narratives was not pre-defined. As researchers, we designed the guiding questions, the structure of the storytelling and clustered emerging topics. However, the workshop process was highly participatory, giving participants the freedom to explore a vast array of different change dynamics. Pereira et al. (2018) argue that imagination, a diversity of viewpoints and storytelling are important for creating spaces for transformative thinking. The questionnaire responses in our case suggested that the workshops were successful in fostering creativity and imagination and offered participants a useful process to think about the future. We found that combining three horizons with a storytelling approach provided a space to discuss current issues, sketch multiple visions and elicit pathways towards them. Peoples' imagination is influenced by how the social and natural world are experienced by individuals (Moore and Milkoreit 2020) and groups of participants that worked on the pathways were self-selected. The narratives of change elicited through the storytelling exercise thus revealed shared ways to identify meanings about key issues and how those can be overcome (c.f. Veland et al. 2018).

Feedback provided by participants through the questionnaires suggests that dealing with complexity and integrating different perspectives fully into the discussion remained challenging. An option to further explore tensions and trade-offs between different perspectives in the transitional space between the first and the third horizons could be through tools such as dilemma thinking (Sharpe et al. 2016). Moreover, our workshop approach could be extended by exploring areas of convergence and divergence across the different pathways (e.g. Harmáčková et al. 2021) to identify how the different pathways mutually reinforce or hinder each other. Whilst this might have helped to better address value conflicts, we do not want to suggest that the pathways are mutually exclusive or that any one pathway necessarily negatively impacts on another pathway. The pathways can be pursued simultaneously and there is potential for synergies among them. Our template could be extended to include a session to further test and explore the pathways, and their different aspects could be recombined or integrated into new emergent pathways. This could have been achieved by exploring common aspects between the pathways (e.g. Raudsepp-Hearne et al. 2020), thus highlighting similar change rationales and shared values. For example, there are areas of overlap regarding increasing more direct selling to consumers, more networking and support for communitybased organisations.

The pathways explored by our participants highlight system dynamics that are mostly within the control of individuals or the community in the focal system. In the pathways, some of the identified drivers are beyond the control of individuals, e.g. increasing policy coherence in the Spider Webs pathways, but in most pathways individuals or the community play a key role for change, e.g. in the Vision and Farming Story pathways. The storyboards and narratives that the groups presented reflect shared expectations, goals and values pertaining to the future. This can help create agency and collective action (Galafassi et al. 2018; Charli-Joseph et al. 2018) and such collective sensemaking is important to prepare for change in social-ecological systems (Moore et al. 2014; Olsson et al. 2006). For example, narratives can be a powerful tool to engage other people if the narrative, and thus how problems and solutions are framed, resonate with other peoples' experiences and understandings (c.f. Wittmayer et al. 2019). To ensure that workshop outcomes provide a resource for future action, they were documented in detailed workshop reports and form part of a printed project booklet with policy recommendations (Schaal et al. 2022a). The booklet includes the artworks created by the local artist and thus offers an additional means of engagement with the three horizons. The structured yet highly participatory nature of the workshop approach described in this paper makes it a suitable approach to meet calls to include plural values of biodiversity (c.f. Pascual et al. 2021).

Creating actionable knowledge

Actionable knowledge—i.e. "knowledge that enables action, or intervention, in concrete situations" (Bartels 2012, p. 435)—plays an important role not only in transformation research (Wittmayer et al. 2018), but also in conservation

on privately owned land (Cortés Capano et al. 2019). Such knowledge provides insights into the different options available and supports decision-making about actions (Hölscher et al. 2021). Our use of storytelling to articulate desired future pathways created actionable knowledge driven by inspiration and positive thinking. This positivity enabled discussions about concrete activities during the workshops and feedback from participants and from the Landcare Group afterwards highlighted that the pathways could be used for strategic planning and as design criteria for future community projects. We are also aware that the Landcare Group has applied for funds to pursue actions that were discussed at the workshop, and subsequently further developed. Additionally, the six project narratives propose concrete interventions and innovative approaches at the individual and collective level. However, establishing consequential links between research and social impact is challenging (e.g. Hölscher et al. 2021). Since the conclusion of the workshops, we have not evaluated which on the ground actions are a direct result of the two workshops. Nevertheless, discussions with people from the study area during and after the workshops suggested that the workshops and the three-year research project in which they were embedded increased awareness about the topic of biodiversity in farming landscapes among people in the area and that the workshop process is a stepping stone for future on the ground activities.

Despite contributing to increased awareness about the topic, the questionnaire responses related to empowerment and future thinking point to limitations of our approach in terms of future literacy, i.e. "the capability of offering insights on how to approach unforeseeable challenges by using the future to innovate in the present" (Pereira et al. 2019b, p. 9). Whilst developing a future vision is important to prepare for change, navigating the transition requires selecting which innovation or activities should be taken up (Moore et al. 2014). Effective leadership is an important element for conservation action (Sterling et al. 2017) and it helps preparing for and delivering change (Olsson et al. 2006). Discussions during and after the workshops confirmed that leadership, e.g. by governmental agencies, and provision of financial resources are critical for bringing about the changes described by the pathways. However, our research team's resources were limited because the workshops were part of a research project with pre-defined aims and a set timeframe. Such time-limited project contexts present challenges in terms of trust building, inclusion of all relevant stakeholders, and reflection that enables ongoing learning and delivery of the project's longer-term desired outcomes (Allan 2012; Papp et al. 2022). Our experiences in applying the three horizons framework with storytelling indicates that while it was very useful to explore a range of (management) options at the local level, it does not produce strategies and actions as directly as backcasting does (c.f. Hichert et al. 2021). The workshops and their outcomes do, however, offer multiple points to engage with change, allowing different people depending on their values, skills and agency to decide where and how they will engage. For example, this might be experimenting with innovative ideas, nurturing existing seeds of change or just maintaining good aspects that should not be lost. This highlights that the approach described in this paper is particularly useful for scoping and eliciting different context-specific opportunities for systems change.

Researchers applying our three horizons storytelling workshop template in other contexts could devote extra time to identifying next steps and assign responsibilities for implementation of the project ideas. The three horizons framework focuses on how transitions can be managed (Sharpe et al. 2016). To further increase the operationalization of the pathways, researchers applying our suggested workshop guide could include an additional workshop session for developing sequences of activities, identifying how those are linked to the levers of change, and assigning responsibilities which could support the community in developing a theory of change (see also Colloff et al. 2021). In our case, increasing this action-oriented planning focus would either have been at the expense of existing workshop achievements or require increased time commitment from the project team and participants. We instead encouraged the action agenda to be developed by organisations who had sent representatives to the workshops. Indeed, our experiences from the application of the three horizons approach suggests two key criteria for selection of participants. Stakeholders should not only be selected to represent a broad range of perspectives on the topic. More strategically, local change agents, community leaders and actors that can institutionalise the workshop outcomes should be invited to help increase the potential for post-workshop pursuit of actions inspired by the future visioning activities. Embedding the workshop process and the research project in a longer-term project or local program and institutionalising the workshop outcomes, e.g. with the local Council, could be important aspects to ensure that the three horizons workshops serve as stepping stones for a longer-term agenda of community change and not a one-off exercise.

The role of governance and policy context

Aspects relating to governance and policy were seen as both barriers and enablers of change across almost all pathways. The governance context can enable sustainability transformations by, for example, supporting the emergence of markets for innovations, but can also provide a barrier for transformation, e.g. because regulations influence what is more or less profitable (Pereira et al. 2021). Though barriers and enablers were discussed at the second workshop, a session identifying innovations that help transition to the third horizon and innovations that lead back to the first horizon respectively-so called H2 + and H2- (Sharpe et al. 2016)—could have helped further identify drivers strengthening the current system and hindering system change, a reflective exercise that would have strengthened action planning. The pathway narratives reflect different problem framings and propose subsequent solutions to address those issues. Governance processes influence which narrative(s), i.e. pathway(s), become(s) dominant by framing the system, the goals and problems in a certain way (e.g. Leach et al. 2010). For example, Pigott (2018) analysed imaginaries about socioecological transformations in Welsh government policy and highlighted how the concept of resilience, framing of time and notions of crisis provide opportunities and obstacles for buy-in from local people and opportunities for alternative imaginaries to occur. The three horizons approach can be viewed as an enabling approach in sustainability transformations in that it helps communities develop pathways into positive futures and thus engage with collective action (c.f. Scoones et al. 2020). However, as Scoones et al. (2020) note, such approaches may fail to integrate structural or political obstacles to transformations. This points to challenges related to crossscale governance to bring about change. In our study, cross-scale governance mechanisms and advocacy to influence funding policy and funding priorities may be required to see substantial actions on the ground. Such actions could create incentives and reduce the risk for individual farmers.

Conclusions

In view of the projections of future ecological and social decline, novel, inspirational and positive futures are urgently needed to provide direction for change and help build momentum for collective action. We showed how combining three horizons with a storytelling approach can be used to create pathway narratives towards positive futures that bring about improved biodiversity outcomes. We applied our approach with a farming community in south-eastern Australia. We unpacked the resulting narratives of change to show differences in how problems are framed, how desirable futures are imagined and how technological, institutional, and social changes can lead to desired outcomes. Across the pathways, a recurring theme involved disconnects in the system, with the pathways highlighting ways to (re-) build connections. This referred to connections between farmers and consumers, between rural and urban areas, with the land and the landscape, and between different policies.

Though the pathways narratives are specific to the southeastern Australian farming context, they highlight opportunities for improving conservation outcomes in farming landscapes, such as carbon offsetting mechanisms and environmental education. By fostering collective sensemaking about key issues and desirable futures, our research approach may help the rural community in our study area to prepare for change. Moreover, the workshop process and the resulting six narratives of change created actionable knowledge about the options that individuals and the community have available to shape the future they want. However, the pathways also showed inhibitors for innovation and change, in particular local leadership and the policy and governance context.

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-022-01275-z.

Acknowledgements We would like to express our gratitude to all workshop participants for actively participating in either one or both of the workshops and thank the Muttama Creek Landcare Group for co-organising both workshops. We also thank the key informants and the Landcare Group for ongoing conversations and discussions which played an important role in shaping our research approach and which eventually led to the decision to use the three horizons approach. We specifically thank Annie Jacobs for her work in planning and organising the workshops. Julia Roche (https://juliaroche.com.au/) showed us a different way of interpreting the workshop discussions and we thank her for putting her creative energy into the three horizons artworks. We thank Michelle Young for her valuable advice, feedback and support during the research project. The research was funded by the German Research Foundation grant number 7557/2-1 to Jan Hanspach. Ben Scheele was supported by the Sustainable Farms initiative at The Australian National University.

Author contributions Conceptualisation and methodology: TS, MM, BCS, PR, JH; investigation: MM, BCS, PR; formal analysis: TS, MM, BCS, PR, JH; writing—original draft preparation: TS, JH; writing—review and editing: TS, MM, BCS, PR, JH; funding acquisition: JH; supervision: JH.

Funding Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

Data availability The transcripts of the workshops analysed for this article are not publicly available due to participants being promised confidentiality as part of their informed consent. When all information that could identify individuals or their organisation is removed from these transcripts, they no longer have much value as research data due to the context-specific nature of the information. The questionnaire data is available in the Supplementary Material.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Ethical statement The research was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the Australian National University protocol number 2019_913. All workshop participants were familiar with and provided oral consent confirming that they were sufficiently informed about the content of the research, were willing to participate in the project, agreed with further use of workshop materials for research purposes, and agreed to be audio-recorded.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Aguiar APD, Collste D, Harmáčková ZV, Pereira L, Selomane O, Galafassi D, van Vuuren D, van der Leeuw S (2020) Co-designing global target-seeking scenarios: a cross-scale participatory process for capturing multiple perspectives on pathways to sustainability. Glob Environ Chang 65:1–15
- Allan C (2012) Rethinking the 'project': bridging the polarized discourses in IWRM. J Environ Planning Policy Manage 14(3):231–241
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) (2022) Cootamundra-Gundagai Regional (A) (LGA). Accessed 04 March 2022. https://dbr.abs. gov.au/
- Bai X, van der Leeuw S, O'Brien K, Berkhout F, Biermann F, Brondizio ES, Cudennec C, Dearing J, Duraiappah A, Glaser M, Revkin A, Steffen W, Syvitski J (2016) Plausible and desirable futures in the Anthropocene. A new research agenda. Glob Environ Chang 39:351–362
- Bardsley DK, Palazzo E, Stringer R (2019) What should we conserve? Farmer narratives on biodiversity values in the McLaren Vale, South Australia. Land Use Policy 83:594–605
- Bartels KPR (2012) The actionable researcher. Admin Theory Prax 34(3):433–455
- Beckert J (2016) Imagined futures. Fictional expectations and capitalist dynamics. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA, London, England
- Bengston DN (2019) Futures research methods and applications in natural resources. Soc Nat Resour 32(10):1099–1113
- Bennett EM, Solan M, Biggs R, McPhearson T, Norström AV, Olsson P, Pereira L, Peterson GD, Raudsepp-Hearne C, Biermann F, Carpenter SR, Ellis EC, Hichert T, Galaz V, Lahsen M, Milkoreit M, Martin López B, Nicholas KA, Preiser R, Vince G, Vervoort JM, Xu J (2016) Bright spots: seeds of a good anthropocene. Front Ecol Environ 14(8):441–448
- Börjeson L, Höjer M, Dreborg K-H, Ekvall T, Finnveden G (2006) Scenario types and techniques: towards a user's guide. Futures 38(7):723–739
- Bureau of Meteorology, CSIRO (2020) State of the climate 2020. Accessed 03 March 2020. http://www.bom.gov.au/state-of-theclimate/documents/State-of-the-Climate-2020.pdf
- Charli-Joseph L, Siqueiros-Garcia JM, Eakin H, Manuel-Navarrete D, Shelton R (2018) Promoting agency for social–ecological transformation: a transformation-lab in the Xochimilco social–ecological system. E&S 23(2):46
- Colloff MJ, Lavorel S, van Kerkhoff LE, Wyborn CA, Fazey I, Gorddard R, Mace GM, Foden WB, Dunlop M, Prentice IC, Crowley J, Leadley P, Degeorges P (2017) Transforming conservation science

and practice for a postnormal world. Conserv Biol J Soc Conserv Biol 31(5):1008–1017

- Colloff MJ, Gorddard R, Abel N, Locatelli B, Wyborn C, Butler JRA, Lavorel S, van Kerkhoff L, Meharg S, Múnera-Roldán C, Bruley E, Fedele G, Wise RM, Dunlop M (2021) Adapting transformation and transforming adaptation to climate change using a pathways approach. Environ Sci Policy 124:163–174
- Cootamundra-Gundagai Regional Council (2018) CGRC Rural Lands Strategy. RURAL LIVING. Accessed 03 November 2021. https:// www.cgrc.nsw.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/CGRC-Rural-Living-Issues-Paper.pdf
- Cootamundra-Gundagai Regional Council (2019) Draft Rural Lands Strategy 2020. Accessed 22 Dec 2021. https://www.cgrc.nsw.gov. au/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Rural-Lands-Strategy-Final-v2. pdf
- Cortés Capano G, Toivonen T, Soutullo A, Di Minin E (2019) The emergence of private land conservation in scientific literature: a review. Biol Cons 237:191–199
- Crutzen PJ (2002) Geology of mankind. Nature 415(6867):23
- Curry A (2015) Searching for systems: understanding three horizons. AFP Compass January: 11–13
- Curry A, Hodgson A (2008) Seeing in multiple horizons: connecting futures to strategy. J Futures Stud 13(1):1–20
- Díaz S, Settele J, Brondízio ES, Ngo HT, Agard J, Arneth A, Balvanera P, Brauman KA, Butchart SHM, Chan KMA, Garibaldi LA, Ichii K, Liu J, Subramanian SM, Midgley GF, Miloslavich P, Molnár Z, Obura D, Pfaff A, Polasky S, Purvis A, Razzaque J, Reyers B, Chowdhury RR, Shin Y-J, Visseren-Hamakers I, Willis KJ, Zayas CN (2019) Pervasive human-driven decline of life on Earth points to the need for transformative change. Science 366(6471):eaax3100
- Dreborg K-H (1996) Essence of backcasting. Futures 9:813-828
- Falardeau M, Raudsepp-Hearne C, Bennett EM (2019) A novel approach for co-producing positive scenarios that explore agency: case study from the Canadian Arctic. Sustain Sci 14(1):205–220
- Galafassi D, Daw TM, Thyresson M, Rosendo S, Chaigneau T, Bandeira S, Munyi L, Gabrielsson I, Brown K (2018) Stories in social–ecological knowledge cocreation.E&S 23(1):23
- Green RE, Cornell SJ, Scharlemann JPW, Balmford A (2005) Farming and the fate of wild nature. Science 307(5709):550–555
- Hamann M, Biggs R, Pereira L, Preiser R, Hichert T, Blanchard R, Warrington-Coetzee H, King N, Merrie A, Nilsson W, Odendaal P, Poskitt S, Sanchez Betancourt D, Ziervogel G (2020) Scenarios of good anthropocenes in southern Africa. Futures 118:102526
- Harmáčková ZV, Blättler L, Aguiar APD, Daněk J, Krpec P, Vačkářová D (2021) Linking multiple values of nature with future impacts: value-based participatory scenario development for sustainable landscape governance. Sustain Sci 17:849–864
- Hart J (2008) The art of the storyboard: a filmmaker's introduction, 2nd edn. Elsevier/Focal Press, Amsterdam
- Hichert T, Biggs R, de Vos A (2021) Futures analysis. In: Biggs R, de Vos A, Preiser R, Clements H, Maciejewski K, Schlüter M (eds) The Routledge handbook of research methods for social–ecological systems. Routledge, London, pp 148–162
- Hölscher K, Wittmayer JM, Hirschnitz-Garbers M, Olfert A, Walther J, Schiller G, Brunnow B (2021) Transforming science and society? Methodological lessons from and for transformation research. Res Eval 30(1):73–89
- Hughes N, Lu, Michael, Soh, Wei Ying, Lawson K (2020) Simulating the effects of climate change on the profitability of Australian farms. ABARES working paper, Canberra. Accessed 03 March 2022. https://www.awe.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/ abares-climate-change-working-paper.pdf

Inayatullah S (2008) Six pillars: futures thinking for transforming. Foresight 10(1):4–21

- IPBES (2019) Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the intergovernmental science-policy platform on biodiversity and ecosystem services. Brondízio ES, Settele J, Díaz S, Ngo HT (eds). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany
- IPCC (2021) Summary for policymakers. In: Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pirani A, Connors SL, Péan C, Berger S, Caud N, Chen Y, Goldfarb L, Gomis MI, Huang M, Leitzell K, Lonnoy E, Matthews JBR, Maycock TK, Waterfield T, Yelekçi O, Yu R, Zhou B (eds) Climate change 2021: the physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the sixth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Iwaniec DM, Cook EM, Davidson MJ, Berbés-Blázquez M, Georgescu M, Krayenhoff ES, Middel A, Sampson DA, Grimm NB (2020) The co-production of sustainable future scenarios. Landsc Urban Plan 197:103744
- Jarva V (2014) Introduction to narrative for futures studies. J Futures Stud 18(3):5–26
- Jiren TS, Riechers M, Kansky R, Fischer J (2021) Participatory scenario planning to facilitate human-wildlife coexistence. Conserv Biol J Soc Conserv Biol 35(6):1957–1965
- Krauß W (2020) Narratives of change and the co-development of climate services for action. Clim Risk Manage 28:100217
- Leach M, Scoones I, Stirling A (2010) Dynamic sustainabilities. Technology, environment, social justice. Pathways to sustainability series. Earthscan, Abingdon, Oxon, New York
- Leicester G (2020) Transformative innovation. A guide to practice and policy for system transition. International futures forum, Axminster, UK
- Local Land Services (2015) Future climate impacts. Accessed 20 October 2021. https://www.lls.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/ 588777/LLS_Riverina_Future_Climate_Impacts.pdf
- Loos J, Abson DJ, Chappell MJ, Hanspach J, Mikulcak F, Tichit M, Fischer J (2014) Putting meaning back into "sustainable intensification." Front Ecol Environ 12(6):356–361
- Mangnus AC, Vervoort JM, McGreevy SR, Ota K, Rupprecht CDD, Oga M, Kobayashi M (2019) New pathways for governing food system transformations: a pluralistic practice-based futures approach using visioning, back-casting, and serious gaming. E&S 24(4):2
- Martin A, O'Farrell P, Kumar R, Eser U, Faith DP, Gomez-Baggethun E, Harmackova Z, Horcea-Milcu A-I, Merçon J, Quaas M, Rode J, Rozzi R, Sitas N, Yoshida Y, Ochieng TN, Koessler A-K, Lutti N, Mannetti L, Arroyo-Robles G (2022) Chapter 5. The role of diverse values of nature in visioning and transforming towards just and sustainable futures. In: Christie M, Balvanera P, Pascual U, Baptiste B, González-Jiménez D (eds) Methodological assessment report on the diverse values and valuation of nature of the intergovernmental science-policy platform on biodiversity and ecosystem services. IPBES Secretariat, Bonn, Germany
- McKenzie F (2013) Farmer-driven Innovation in New South Wales, Australia. Australian Geogr 44(1):81–95
- Moore M-L, Milkoreit M (2020) Imagination and transformations to sustainable and just futures. Elementa Sci Anthropocene 8:1
- Moore M-L, Tjornbo O, Enfors E, Knapp C, Hodbod J, Baggio JA, Norström A, Olsson P, Biggs D (2014) Studying the complexity of change: toward an analytical framework for understanding deliberate social–ecological transformations. E&S 19(4):54
- Nieto-Romero M, Milcu A, Leventon J, Mikulcak F, Fischer J (2016) The role of scenarios in fostering collective action for sustainable development. Lessons from central Romania. Land Use Policy 50:156–168
- Olsauskas D, Howorth P, Casanova S (2018) Rural land issues paper: farm diversification and succession planning. Accessed 04 March

🖄 Springer

2022. https://www.cgrc.nsw.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/ CGRC-Farm-Diversification-Issues-Paper.pdf

- Olsson P, Gunderson LH, Carpenter SR, Ryan P, Lebel L, Folke C, Holling CS (2006) Shooting the rapids: navigating transitions to adaptive governance of social–ecological systems. E&S 11(1):18
- Oteros-Rozas E, Martín-López B, Daw TM, Bohensky EL, Butler JR, Hill R, Martin-Ortega J, Quinlan A, Ravera F, Ruiz-Mallén I, Thyresson M, Mistry J, Palomo I, Peterson GD, Plieninger T, Waylen KA, Beach DM, Bohnet IC, Hamann M, Hanspach J, Hubacek K, Lavorel S, Vilardy SP (2015) Participatory scenario planning in place-based social–ecological research: insights and experiences from 23 case studies. E&S 20(4):32
- Papp C-R, Scheele BC, Rákosy L, Hartel T (2022) Transdisciplinary deficit in large carnivore conservation funding in Europe. Nat Conserv 49:31–52
- Pascual U, Adams WM, Díaz S, Lele S, Mace GM, Turnhout E (2021) Biodiversity and the challenge of pluralism. Nat Sustain 4:567–572
- Pereira LM, Hichert T, Hamann M, Preiser R, Biggs R (2018) Using futures methods to create transformative spaces: visions of a good Anthropocene in southern Africa. E&S 23(1):19
- Pereira L, Bennett E, Biggs R, Mangnus A, Norstrom AV, Peterson G, Raudsepp-Hearne C, Sellberg M, Vervoort J (2019a) Seeding change by visioning good anthropocenes. Solutions J 10(3)
- Pereira L, Sitas N, Ravera F, Jimenez-Aceituno A, Merrie A (2019b) Building capacities for transformative change towards sustainability: imagination in intergovernmental science-policy scenario processes. Elementa Sci Anthropocene 7:35
- Pereira L, Asrar GR, Bhargava R, Fisher LH, Hsu A, Jabbour J, Nel J, Selomane O, Sitas N, Trisos C, Ward J, van den Ende M, Vervoort J, Weinfurter A (2021) Grounding global environmental assessments through bottom-up futures based on local practices and perspectives. Sustain Sci 16(6):1907–1922
- Pert PL, Hill R, Williams KJ, Harding EK, O'Malley T, Grace RA, Dale AP, Bohnet I, Butler JR (2010) Scenarios for communitybased approaches to biodiversity conservation: a case study from the Wet Tropics, Queensland, Australia. Australian Geogr 41(3):285–306
- Pigott A (2018) Imagining socioecological transformation: an analysis of the Welsh Government's policy innovations and orientations to the future. Elementa Sci Anthropocene 6:60
- Quist J (2016) Backcasting. In: van der Duin P (ed) Foresight in organizations: methods and tools. Routledge, New York, NY, pp 125–144
- Quist J, Vergragt P (2006) Past and future of backcasting: the shift to stakeholder participation and a proposal for a methodological framework. Futures 38(9):1027–1045
- Raudsepp-Hearne C, Peterson GD, Bennett EM, Biggs R, Norström AV, Pereira L, Vervoort J, Iwaniec DM, McPhearson T, Olsson P, Hichert T, Falardeau M, Aceituno AJ (2020) Seeds of good anthropocenes: developing sustainability scenarios for Northern Europe. Sustain Sci 15(2):605–617
- Roe E (1994) Narrative policy analysis: theory and practice. Duke University Press, Durham
- Rose D (2018) Avoiding a post-truth world: embracing post-normal conservation. Conserv Soc 16(4):518
- Saratsi E, Acott T, Allinson E, Edwards D, Fremantle C, Fish R (2019) Valuing arts & arts research. Valuing nature paper VNP22. Accessed 01 July 2022. https://valuing-nature.net/valuing-artsand-arts-research
- Schaal T, Scheele B, Jacobs A, Hanspach J (2022a) The future of farming and biodiversity in agricultural landscapes: the Muttama Creek Catchment area. Accessed 10 November 2022a. https:// www.leuphana.de/fileadmin/user_upload/Forschungseinrichtun gen/sesi/forschungsprojekte/BioKultDiv/Dateien/The_Future_of_ Farming_and_Biodiversity_booklet_online_version.pdf

- Schaal T, Jacobs A, Leventon J, Scheele BC, Lindenmayer DB, Hanspach J (2022b) 'You can't be green if you're in the red': Local discourses on the production-biodiversity intersection in a mixed farming area in south-eastern Australia. Land Use Policy 121:106306
- Scoones I, Stirling A, Abrol D, Atela J, Charli-Joseph L, Eakin H, Ely A, Olsson P, Pereira L, Priya R, van Zwanenberg P, Yang L (2020) Transformations to sustainability: combining structural, systemic and enabling approaches. Curr Opin Environ Sustain 42:65–75
- Sharpe B, Hodgson A, Leicester G, Lyon A, Fazey I (2016) Three horizons: a pathways practice for transformation. E&S 21(2):47
- Standish RJ, Prober SM (2020) Potential benefits of biodiversity to Australian vegetation projects registered with the emissions reduction fund—is there a carbon-biodiversity trade-off? Ecol Manage Restor 21(3):165–172
- Steffen W, Richardson K, Rockstrom J, Cornell SE, Fetzer I, Bennett EM, Biggs R, Carpenter SR, de Vries W, de Wit CA, Folke C, Gerten D, Heinke J, Mace GM, Persson LM, Ramanathan V, Reyers B, Sorlin S (2015) Planetary boundaries: guiding human development on a changing planet. Science 347(736):1259855
- Sterling EJ, Betley E, Sigouin A, Gomez A, Toomey A, Cullman G, Malone C, Pekor A, Arengo F, Blair M, Filardi C, Landrigan K, Porzecanski AL (2017) Assessing the evidence for stakeholder engagement in biodiversity conservation. Biol Conserv 209:159–171
- Tilman D, Balzer C, Hill J, Befort BL (2011) Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108(50):20260–20264
- Veland S, Scoville-Simonds M, Gram-Hanssen I, Schorre AK, El Khoury A, Nordbø MJ, Lynch AH, Hochachka G, Bjørkan M (2018) Narrative matters for sustainability: the transformative role of storytelling in realizing 1.5°C futures. Curr Opin Environ Sustain 31:41–47

- Vervoort JM, Thornton PK, Kristjanson P, Förch W, Ericksen PJ, Kok K, Ingram JS, Herrero M, Palazzo A, Helfgott AE, Wilkinson A, Havlík P, Mason-D'Croz D, Jost C (2014) Challenges to scenarioguided adaptive action on food security under climate change. Glob Environ Chang 28:383–394
- Wiek A, Iwaniec D (2014) Quality criteria for visions and visioning in sustainability science. Sustain Sci 9(4):497–512
- Wittmayer JM, Hölscher K, Wunder S, Veenhoff S (2018) Transformation research: Exploring methods for an emerging research field. Dessau-Roßlau, Umweltbundesamt, Germany
- Wittmayer JM, Backhaus J, Avelino F, Pel B, Strasser T, Kunze I, Zuijderwijk L (2019) Narratives of change: how social innovation initiatives construct societal transformation. Futures 112:102433
- Wyborn C, Davila F, Pereira L, Lim M, Alvarez I, Henderson G, Luers A, Martinez Harms MJ, Maze K, Montana J, Ryan M, Sandbrook C, Shaw R, Woods E (2020a) Imagining transformative biodiversity futures. Nat Sustain 3(9):670–672
- Wyborn C, Montana J, Kalas N, Clement S, Davila F, Knowles N, Louder E, Balan M, Chambers J, Christel L, Forsyth T, Henderson G, Izquierdo Tort S, Lim M, Martinez-Harms MJ, Merçon J, Nuesiri E, Pereira L, Pilbeam V, Turnhout E, Wood S, Ryan M (2020b) An agenda for research and action toward diverse and just futures for life on Earth. Conserv Biol J Soc Conserv Biol 35(4):1086–1097

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Chapter IV

Exploring cultural landscape narratives to understand challenges for collaboration and their implications for governance (Landscape Narratives Paper)



Exploring cultural landscape narratives to understand challenges for collaboration and their implications for governance

Schaal, Tamara; König, Bettina; Riechers, Maraja; Heitepriem, Nico; Leventon, Julia

Abstract

Ongoing land use change, including both land abandonment and agricultural intensification and expansion, not only present a threat for biodiversity and ecosystem health but also for the persistence of cultural landscapes. However, farmland abandonment and the resulting loss of traditional cultural landscapes is an under-researched topic in the literature. Our work in a transdisciplinary action research project in the Spreewald Biosphere Reserve suggested that challenges to preserve the cultural landscape are rooted in diverging landscape understandings and future aspirations. Dealing with and integrating different perceptions and viewpoints is a key challenge in landscape governance. Narratives as storylines about a topic or an issue have a structural and temporal dimension and can help understand land-use conflicts and different viewpoints. We adopted a social constructivist perspective on landscape to engage with meanings and perceptions (including values) that constitute landscape to diverse stakeholders. To understand these differences in meaning, we drew on Q-methodology and conducted 38 interviews with key stakeholders. We elicited three co-existing and partly overlapping landscape narratives. These differ with regard to meanings of the term cultural landscape, including how stakeholders characterise the landscape, how they appreciate it, and what they perceive as threats. We show how such differences in meanings and values attributed to the landscape translate to different problem framings and future aspirations and thus present a barrier for collaborative management and governance. We highlight how participatory vision development could help address narrative tensions and argue that a more integrative perspective would better include cultural aspects.

Keywords

biodiversity; biosphere reserve; plurality; Spreewald; values

1. Introduction

Land use changes are among the most important drivers of ecosystem degradation and biodiversity loss (IPBES, 2019). These changes not only threaten the persistence of ecosystems but also that of cultural landscapes and thus the many ways in which people relate to and value them. Both land abandonment and agricultural expansion and intensification are drivers of landscape changes in Europe (Plieninger et al., 2016), which are accompanied by a range of interacting drivers such as climate change or political changes shaping cultural landscapes (Bürgi et al., 2017a). Using the example of semi-natural habitats, Herzon et al. (2022) highlight that interconnected societal processes, including less attention in research and decreasing public experience of these habitats, contribute to the decrease of the area under appropriate management. Although land abandonment has been identified as a key driver for landscape is an under-researched topic in the literature (Zscheischler et al., 2019). The term cultural landscapes

refers to the co-evolution of humans and nature and the broad range of material and nonmaterial values that people associate with them (Bürgi et al., 2017b; Schaich et al., 2010) emphasising subjectivity and plurality for understanding landscapes (Stenseke, 2018) and thus the myriad of ways in which humans interpret and ascribe meaning to landscapes (e.g. Sandström and Hedfors, 2018). For example, van Putten et al. (2020) recently showed how landscape associations vary between different languages. Cultural landscapes therefore present a particularly interesting type of landscape to explore challenges around differences in perceptions of landscape change processes.

Our research aim was to explore different meanings associated with a cultural landscape through a narrative lens and understand how those create challenges for landscape management and governance. This research aim emerged from the transdisciplinary action research project ginkoo in the Spreewald Biosphere Reserve (BR) in eastern Germany. ginkoo explored options for coordinated landscape management and maintenance to preserve the wet meadows, which are typical of the Spreewald area, but which are threatened to disappear due to land abandonment (Schäfer and König, 2018). Findings from the transdisciplinary project suggested that navigating the process to co-develop and co-implement innovations to address this challenge were rooted in diverging imaginations of the sustainable future development of the cultural landscape. In workshops with different stakeholders in the area, a question that kept coming up repeatedly either explicitly or implicitly was 'What cultural landscape are we talking about?'. This question pointed to differences in what cultural landscape meant to different people and resulting challenges to establish collaborative management of the cultural landscape are we talking about?'. This question pointed to differences in what cultural landscape meant to different people and resulting challenges to establish collaborative management of the cultural landscape are we talking about?'. This question pointed to differences in what cultural landscape meant to different people and resulting challenges to establish collaborative management of the cultural landscape and co-creation of different innovative approaches to address land abandonment. This current paper therefore presents results from research that sought to explore these differences.

Different meanings ascribed to and understandings of environmental problems present an important governance challenge (c.f. Ingold et al., 2019). Görg (2007) defined landscape governance as "deal[ing] with the interconnections between socially constructed spaces (the politics of scale) and "natural" conditions of places" (p. 954). Thus, landscape governance is concerned with perceptions of problems related to biophysical aspects in particular locations (c.f. Buizer et al., 2016). Such landscape perceptions are influenced by peoples' experiences with them (van Putten et al., 2020). For example, perspectives on landscape development are influenced by different interests (Barnaud and Couix, 2020, Frei et al., 2020) and landscapes are valued by different people for various reasons – instrumentally, intrinsically or relationally (Bieling et al., 2020). Thus, how landscapes are perceived influences management decisions as well as how inhabitants of the landscapes take up these decisions. Further, landscapes are not stagnant but constantly evolving and thus perceptions of landscape can change. How people think about current changes of a landscape and the future is influenced by how they perceive past changes (Soliva, 2007). Moreover, significant landscape changes can alter how people relate to and value them (Riechers et al., 2020), which is even more relevant for cultural landscapes.

Narratives provide a conceptual lens to identify different perceptions of issues and to reveal underlying beliefs, preferences and values. Central to narratives is a sequence of events or actions (Roe, 1994) and thus a temporal dimension (Bryman, 2016; Soliva, 2007). Narratives are about something, e.g. an issue, phenomena or topic, such as land abandonment (Frei et al.,

2020; Soliva, 2007). Narrative research has examined tensions and conflict around current and future landscape development. For example, Stanley (2021) contrasted narratives about cemeteries' material-symbolic meaning in Icelandic culture and contrasted them with an imagined futures narrative by an external consulting firm. Similarly, Masterson et al. (2019) highlight how different narratives in a study area in South Africa draw on different place meanings and how the full breadth of meaning is not incorporated into dominant conservation narratives. Tensions between narratives were also highlighted by Köpsel et al. (2017) who contrasted a policy narrative with different local landscape narratives about Cornwall. Contrasting landscape narratives can also help understand conflicts around future land use and development priorities (Plieninger et al., 2018). These examples highlight how a narrative lens provides a nuanced understanding of conflicts related to different meanings and perceived changes and trade-offs related to land use and development. Thus, narratives do not only constrain but also enable thinking (Veland et al., 2018) and what is perceived to be the right course of action or management (e.g. Köpsel et al., 2017).

In this paper, we took a social constructivist approach that considers constructions of landscape in relation to physical or material elements of the environment, the interpretation of which differs between different people or groups (c.f. Gailing, 2012; Köpsel et al., 2017). The materialities of landscape, e.g., landscape elements, thus provide the 'raw material' to which meanings are ascribed (Stedman, 2016). We understand narratives not as tools of communication to achieve a certain objective but as shared interpretations and meanings assigned to the notion of cultural landscape. To address our research aim, we sought to explore how the Spreewald cultural landscape is conceptualised by local actors and how this relates to perceptions of threats and landscape values. To this end, we used a mixed methods approach, namely Q-methodology (Watts and Stenner, 2012). We interviewed 38 stakeholders from different sectors, including agriculture, nature conservation and tourism in the Spreewald. We identified three cultural landscape narratives which differ with respect to problem framings, landscape meanings and values. We highlight how this creates narrative tensions resulting in both a lack of a shared problem framing and future imaginations which create a barrier for management and governance. Findings from this research are also relevant for other cultural landscapes where stakeholders seek ways to collaboratively preserve traditional cultural landscapes.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. The study area and the transdisciplinary project context

The Spreewald area is located approximately 100 km southeast of Berlin in the Federal State of Brandenburg in Germany (Fig. 1). It was awarded the status as Biosphere Reserve in 1990 just after the German unification. The Spreewald is characterised by an interplay of an extensive network of the river Spree, small and fragmented agricultural areas and (floodplain) forest. Extensive, small-scale farming in the area resulted, for example, in species-rich wet meadows. Due to their ecological significance, three habitat types are protected under the European Union's Habitat Directive in the Spreewald. Further, the Sorbs, a Slavic tribe, settled in and cultivated the Spreewald as early as the 6th century. Their language, customs and influence on

e.g. architecture are today considered cultural heritage. Thus, the Spreewald is known for both its biological diversity but also high cultural significance which forms the basis for the regional identity (Schäfer and König, 2018). Today, the Spreewald is particularly known for gherkins cultivated there, which received the status as protected geographical indication, but also horseradish. With over 800,000 visitors in 2019, tourism is a key sector in the regional economy.



Fig. 1. Map of the Spreewald Biosphere Reserve in eastern Germany showing the extensive river network of the Spree and the characteristic mix of the river with agricultural and forest areas. The photo shows a wet meadow and a hay stack, a symbol of traditional land management in the area. Data sources: supplementary material I

The research aim for this particular study came out of a transdisciplinary research project in the Spreewald BR (ginkoo). The ginkoo project focused on how management of innovation processes can be improved among coordinating actors to support sustainable land use (König et al., n.d.). The traditional, extensive management that created the cultural landscape is no longer economically viable which leads to land abandonment and subsequent natural reforestation and the loss of wetland biodiversity. Three innovative approaches were tested as part of ginkoo: a biodiversity offset instrument (land pools) (Busse et al., 2019), the thermal use of biomass from landscape maintenance, and financing landscape management directly through the touristic sector, e.g. via donations (König et al., n.d.).

2.2. Photo-based Q-methodology

We used Q-methodology as a way to understand landscape narratives in a structured, holistic and qualitatively rich way (c.f. Watts and Stenner, 2012). In Q-methodology, a set of representative items are selected from a particular subject area or topic of interest and participants rank the items relative to each other, e.g. from what they most agree with to what they most disagree with, based on a sorting question (Brown, 1980; McKeown and Thomas, 2013; Watts and Stenner, 2012). All participants were asked to place the items in the same fixed symmetrical sorting layout, with a decreasing number of items permitted towards the two extremes of the layout, forcing participants to prioritise items. Through the activity of sorting, participants express their own (subjective) point of view relative to the focus topic (Brown, 1980). Following the sorting, an interview with each participant serves to understand the personal interpretation of the items and rationale for the sorting in more depth. Central to Qmethodology is its holistic nature (Watts and Stenner, 2012), whereby the entire sorting of items by each participant (Q-sort) is considered because all items are ranked relative to each other based on each participant's viewpoint. In the analysis stage, researchers search for patterns in the Q-sorts thus identifying prevalent social perspectives or discourses (Watts and Stenner, 2012).

We used a photo-based Q methodology according to the steps outlined in Fig. 2. Our focus was on identifying different landscape narratives and how different landscape elements, i.e. landscape materialities, are interpreted within those narratives. Photographs are useful in eliciting values, beliefs and attitudes towards a topic and engaging with different meanings (Prosser and Schwartz, 1998). We therefore decided to use photos as items as a way to elicit participants' subjective interpretations of the items, rather than the more common statement or text-based approaches. Photos have been used for example to understand perceptions of abandoned farmland in landscapes (Benjamin et al., 2007) and landscape aspirations among rural communities (Milcu et al., 2014). In our case, the photographs were used (1) as prompts to get participants to discuss different aspects of the landscape but also (2) as data in that they were numbered and the ranking of statements was the basis for our quantitative analysis (c.f. Bryman, 2016).



Fig. 2. Steps in the Q-method approach. The three types of data collected as part of the interviews are highlighted in yellow.

2.3. Interview process

To explore different conceptualisations of the Spreewald cultural landscape and related perceptions of threats and landscape values, we first sought to identify the 'concourse of communication', i.e. the range of perspectives on the topic (McKeown and Thomas, 2013). To select photo motifs, we focused on identifying different objectives regarding the development of the cultural landscape. We did an inductive qualitative content analysis (after Mayring, 2015) of 18 interviews with key informants that had been conducted at early stages of the project, minutes of three project workshops between 2016 and 2018, and two interviews with tourism organisations. Based on the identified objectives and intensive discussions among the coauthors, we made an initial selection of photos featuring motifs that represented the different objectives. To identify different viewpoints, we decided to include photos that we expected to provoke strong qualitative reactions among participants, e.g. a rape seed field. We also developed a framework for the items that covered the key topics and to ensure that it was balanced between different types of land use, ecosystems and cultural elements. We discussed and piloted the interviews with another member of the ginkoo team who had been part of the project from the beginning and two lay persons. We incorporated their feedback and the final Q-set consisted of 37 photos (supplementary material II).

To answer our research question, we selected participants that play a role in shaping and influencing landscape development and whose perspectives therefore matter for the topic (c.f. West et al., 2016). Landscape development of the Spreewald is influenced by a range of different formal institutions focusing on different areas including tourism, rural development and nature conservation (Gailing, 2012). We selected participants purposively based on an initial contact list developed in the ginkoo project team and expanded our list through a snowball sampling approach (c.f. Bryman, 2016). We included participants from the key areas

agriculture, forestry and hunting, water management and fishery, nature conservation, tourism and culture and from different types of organisations (governmental, private, non-governmental organisations) (supplementary material III).

Before each interview started, participants were provided with a project summary outlining the study objectives. After an introduction to the research project and an explanation of the interview process, participants had the opportunity to ask questions and they subsequently signed a consent form agreeing to participate in the research and to be audio-recorded. All the interviews were conducted following the same interview guide (supplementary material IV). First, participants were asked to outline their role, responsibilities and the key objectives of their organisation regarding the Spreewald. Second, participants were given the photos in random order and asked to rank them on a grid representing a quasi-normal distribution based on the sorting question 'What should the Spreewald cultural landscape look like?' from most positive (+4) to most negative (-4). We did not use photo labels or explained the photos to participants because they ascribe meaning to the items (c.f. Watts and Stenner, 2012). We answered questions about the photos' contents as briefly as possible. Third, depending on the participants' preference, we interviewed them during or after the sorting of the photos to understand the meanings attributed to the photos and the overarching rationale behind the sorting (Watts and Stenner, 2012). Fourth, we asked participants to categorise photos into those they perceived to be positive, neutral and negative. At the end of the interviews, participants were asked to fill out a short questionnaire to obtain demographic information regarding age and gender.

In total, we conducted 38 interviews, which took place between February and March 2019 and each lasted approximately one hour. In one case, two employees from the same organisation decided to do an interview together. Over half of the participants were 55 years or older. Approximately a third of participants were associated with the areas of water management and fishery and agriculture and another third of participants were associated with multiple areas of expertise. All recorded interviews were subsequently transcribed verbatim. The transcripts and the respective Q-sorts were sent to the participants with the possibility to rephrase anything that participants felt might be misinterpreted by the researchers or to add explanations.

2.4. Narratives and data analysis

We took a convergent mixed method approach to analyse the three types of data we had collected: 1) ranking of the photos in the grid that participants were presented with, 2) evaluation of the photos (negative, neutral, positive) and 3) transcripts of the interviews.

We first wrote memos for all the photos based on our recollection of the different meanings and interpretations of the items to understand which photos stood out and why, e.g. because of contrasting interpretations between participants. After familiarisation with the transcripts, we wrote brief case summaries for the interviews based on key terms such as wilderness or land management and summarised different understandings of cultural landscape. We analysed the Q-sorts statistically. Factor analysis is a method of data reduction helping to identify patterns in the data and thus latent or underlying variables (factors) (Watts and Stenner, 2012). We analysed the Q-sorts using the PQMethod software version 2.35 (Schmolck, 2014). Whilst each Q-sort reflects a unique perspective, factor analysis identifies groups of participants who share

a perspective based on similar rankings of the photos (e.g. Brown, 1980). All eight factors in the unrotated factor matrix had an eigenvalue of > 1. Factors 4-8 all had only one or no significant factor loading in the unrotated factor matrix, which is one criteria for not considering them further (see Watts and Stenner, 2012). For the remaining three and two factor solutions, a principal component analysis and varimax rotation were applied to identify a 'best' or preferred solution (Brown, 1980). Simultaneously, we conducted a thematic narrative analysis which focuses on the content, i.e. what is said, and not e.g. to whom something is said (Riessman, 2008). Therefore, we coded text segments under themes relating to the broad categories of land use, threats and negative aspects, characteristics and general aspects using MAXQDA version 2020.4.1 in an inductive-deductive approach.

We compared the two and three factor solutions with the case summaries and preliminary coding of the data to understand how well the qualitative and quantitative analysis complemented each other. We decided on a three factor solution due to the subjective meaning of the extracted factors (c.f. Watts and Stenner, 2012). This ensured that each of the factors represented a distinct perspective. Our interpretation of the narratives was based on three elements: a model Q-sort for each narrative (so-called factor array), the assessment of the photos (supplementary material V) and the themes that were identified in the transcripts. To put the themes into context, the factor arrays helped us understand particularly salient photos in the narratives and the assessment helped us uncover areas of (dis-)agreement over the interpretation of the photos. This was supplemented by the case summaries which helped us to avoid dissecting the interviews based on the themes and remain focused on how the themes are embedded within and relate to the overall landscape interpretations. Based on the photo interpretations and meanings, themes and assessments of photos, we identified key landscape values for each landscape narrative. We understand values here broadly to refer to the importance or appreciation of the landscape thus including intrinsic, instrumental and relational values (Chan et al., 2016). This notion of values thus includes biophysical aspects (e.g. forest) but also place meanings (e.g. home) and landscape aesthetics (e.g. tidiness) (c.f. Raymond et al., 2016).

Preliminary findings were presented at a workshop in the study area in October 2019. Workshop participants were asked to provide feedback on the findings and align themselves with one of the three perspectives. Some of the people we interviewed also participated in this workshop. How they aligned themselves with the narratives, without any knowledge of which narratives their Q-sort was associated with, as well as their questions and feedback on the findings were vital for the further interpretation and distinction between the narratives.

3. Results

We identified three landscape narratives which represent different perceptions of what the landscape is and what it should look like. The three narratives accounted for 61% of the variance and the Q-sorts of 26 people loaded significantly onto the narratives (Table 1).

	Nature narrative	People narrative	Land use narrative
Nature narrative	1.00	0.46	0.08
People narrative		1.00	0.35
Land use narrative			1.00
Number of defining Q sorts	11	12	3
% of explained variance	29	25	7

Table 1. Correlations between the narratives. For more details see the factor matrix (supplementary material VI).

In the following, the three narratives are presented by referring to the photo numbers, which are preceded by the # symbol. The names of the three narratives are based on expressions used by participants associated with the narratives.

3.1. Nature narrative: Cultural landscape as landscape close to natural

The *nature narrative* recognised that the cultural landscape was created and shaped by humans, and the landscape was conceptualised as the connection between the traditional use of the landscape and nature, understood by participants as areas and elements showing little or no human intervention. Despite human influence on the landscape, the protection of nature in terms of species and habitats was an important goal (Fig. 3).

"It is certain that the cultural landscape was planted at some point but it also has a high degree of closeness to nature, this symbiosis between protection and utilization goals so to speak." (I26)

The two photos showing birds (white stork, kingfisher) had the highest ranking and reflected this symbiosis (#7 & #30: +4) (Fig. 4). The kingfisher was seen as a symbol or "indicator" (I21) of a generally good ecological condition of the landscape and the white stork as a synanthropic bird reflected how humans and nature co-exist and are compatible through traditional land use.

"[...] and the stork for me is also such a symbol of how nature and humans can be reconciled with each other [...]" (I25)

Traditional land use played a central role in this narrative and related to two key aspects: First, small scale agricultural production and extensive management were seen as reflecting a careful use of the land (#19 & #33: +3, #13 & #28: +2). Second, management also referred to forestry and hunting as a way to create "beautiful forests" (I19). However, participants associated with this narrative did acknowledge that small-scale, traditional agriculture is an ideal and that it is threatened because it is not economically viable. Related to the appreciation of traditional land management were elements that represent ways of traditional living in the landscape such as the haystack (#34: +3, #8: +1, #+6: 0). The marketing of regional products, including through organic farming labels (#36: +1, #22: 0), was considered an important economic aspect. Despite a preference for the production and sale of local products, two participants noted that the

production of gherkins takes place outside the Biosphere Reserve, which explained the lower ranking of this motif (#4: -1).

Nature, in the sense of untouched areas, was considered to be important in and of itself, in addition to its value as a habitat. Participants considered natural and wilderness areas, i.e. motifs appearing less organised and displaying little or no human intervention, (including flora, fauna and wildlife) as essential parts of the landscape. This explains why photos displaying natural areas or dead wood were considered to be positive (#16: +2, #9 & #21: +1). For example, views towards the beaver were generally positive, and it was mostly viewe as belonging to the landscape (#12: 0). Sustaining biological diversity, referring primarily to species diversity, in the landscape is important, and this was mentioned in particular in relation to wet meadows which were seen as a key characteristic of the Biosphere Reserve (# 27: +2).

"[...] the species-rich wet meadows are, so to speak, THE symbol of the Spreewald cultural landscape." (I26)

Some participants argued that it is because of nature that tourists come to the Spreewald. Notions of "nature-friendly tourism" (I25) or "nature-oriented tourism" (I27) highlighted that tourism needs to be compatible with the protection of areas with little or no human intervention.

With regard to threats or negative aspects, this narrative reflected a strong apprehension towards large-scale, intensive agriculture which was perceived to be a threat to the typical landscape (#5: -4, #11 & #18: -3, #15 & #23: -2). The intensive use also related to intensive livestock management and the damage to the soil from large numbers of animals on wet meadows (#1: -1).

"[...] that is really my image of the enemy as far as the Spreewald is concerned: heavy tractor, super heavy technology, with thick, big tires, making everything flat, huge areas if you see the straw rolls in the background, a disaster." (124)

The lack of water management and maintenance of the streams was seen as something negative (#14: -2). However, participants agreed that not all streams need to be cleared of dead wood but they should be well-maintained. Whilst natural areas and areas of wilderness in the cultural landscape are important, no management at all was not considered to be positive which is why bush encroachment as a result of land abandonment was perceived to be a problem.

Forest dying was another theme that appeared prominently in this narrative. This related to flooding of areas during the summer months and infections of trees with *Phytophthora alni* pathogens. These two aspects are key issues for alder trees but also ash trees. A picture that appeared to be displaying signs of unhealthy trees was therefore assessed predominantly negative (#31: -1). Finally, participants considered sediment ocre in the Spree (#25: -4) and mass tourisms (#3: -3) to be threats, particularly with regards to habitat protection.

"[...] the invasion of bipeds in the Spreewald, or in such close to natural areas in the long run and in this mass will sooner or later bring it down." (I23)



Fig. 3. Venn diagram displaying the three narratives with related themes, negative aspects and landscape values. The phrases originate from the qualitative analysis.

3.2. People narrative: Cultural landscape as humans in nature

In the *people narrative*, humans and their use and interaction with nature created the cultural landscape which continues to be the basis for life and production. Nature was valued for the way people relate to their environment. The cultural landscape was viewed as a place to live and important for peoples' livelihood by making an income from agriculture but especially from tourism (Fig. 3).

"Spreewald cultural landscape is a colourful bouquet of demands and the Spreewald cultural landscape, without humans, is not a cultural landscape." (105)

Traditional management of the landscape is important in this narrative as it reflects the historical context in which the landscape was created. Therefore, the hay stack and gherkins stood out particularly due to their symbolic meanings (#4 & #33: +4) (Fig. 5). This reflected an appreciation of the hard work that humans put into creating and sustaining the cultural landscape (#28: +1).

"The hay stack is THE symbol of the Spreewald cultural landscape and served our previous generations to keep livestock in the Spreewald [...]" (109)

Land care and management of the landscape were perceived to be essential components to preserve the cultural landscape (#7: +3, #1: +2; #5, #13, #23 & #18: 0). The small-scale character of the landscape was appreciated but participants did acknowledge that traditional, small-scale agriculture is not economic under the current conditions.

"A farmer who limits himself to transporting his hay and straw on barges cannot work in a way that earns him money." (113)

This narrative reflected a strong appreciation for the cultural heritage of the landscape. This included the typical architectural style of the houses but also traditional handicraft techniques and lived culture by e.g. wearing traditional costumes (#34: +3, #8 & #6: +2).

"But at the end of the day, I think it's important to focus on originality and to continue to live these traditions as they were created in the past." (101)

Apart from these cultural elements, participants also appreciated biodiversity in the Spreewald, which in this narrative was mostly associated with the presence of different species and wet meadows (#27: +2, #30: +1).

Another key element in this narrative were humans and people still living in the landscape. This was tied to the role of infrastructure which allows inhabitants, tourists and land managers to access the fragmented landscape (#35: +1; #24: 0). Thus, language and local knowledge were intricately linked to landscape understandings.

"[...] an old Spreewald saying is that the soul of the Spreewald lies at the bottom of the stream." (109)

In this narrative, local products and local value chains were seen as an opportunity to create an income (#22: +1). This included organic farming as a means to produce products that can be sold at a higher price (#36: +3). Moreover, the economics of tourism in the landscape were considered to be important because tourism is a key source of income in the Spreewald (#37: 0, #3: -1). Additionally, tourists appreciate and experience the nice landscape.

"Of course, there should also be romanticism in the Spreewald and it should also be developed for tourism, because the people there also need sources of income." (113)

However, this narrative reflected an ambivalent relationship with tourism. On the one hand, it is an important economic factor but on the other hand, mass tourism or "Walt Disney (World)" (I05, I33) were believed to lead to conflict between tourism and conservation but also e.g. between canoers and boatmen. In particular, participants mentioned the increased volume of paddle boats. Therefore, participants were strongly in favour of regulating and channelling tourism.

"but the canoes, the damage they cause at the riverbanks and so forth, that is a catastrophe. [...] There are days when you hardly see the water for the canoes." (102)

Threats to the cultural landscape related to iron ocre in the Spree (#25: -4) and the beaver due to its damage to the landscape (#12: -2). Two other negative aspects related to land use and management: Large scale farming was considered negative and not a fit for the Spreewald. However, the loss of land care or agriculture was seen as a problem as it changes the appearance

and character of the Spreewald. Therefore, too much wilderness in the sense of unmanaged areas in the landscape was seen as something negative (#9 & #29: -2, #16 & #32: -3).

"What I consider to be negative is the shrubbery and bush encroachment in the Spreewald. We have the typical bay willows which are growing bigger and bigger and we lose agricultural areas." (I33)

Connected to that, the lack of water management was considered a key issue (#14: -3, #21: -4) due to the reduction in the use of streams by humans but also negative impacts from muddy streams on wildlife and trees dying from too much water.

Nature narrative



People narrative



Land use narrative



Fig. 4-6. Model Q sorts for the three narratives. The ranking of the photos is based on the weighted averages of the Q sorts associated with the narratives. Photo credit: supplementary material VII

3.3. Land use narrative: Cultural landscape as usable nature

In the land use narrative, the cultural landscape was created through human use of the landscape and management continues to sustain the Spreewald. The use of the land in a nature-friendly way was central to this narrative (Fig. 3).

"This is a cultural landscape, it is used in the front [of the photo]. This is the harmony with nature" (I14)

The importance of land use was reflected by the prioritization of photos that show motifs relating to agriculture and land use (#13 & #23: +4, #1 & #15: +3; #18: +2; #11 & #17: +1) (Fig. 6). In this context, participants mentioned small-scale farming as characteristic of the landscape. There were two main arguments why land use is important. First, agricultural land use was considered to be pivotal to sustain the cultural landscape. If agricultural management stopped, the cultural landscape would change and lose its characteristics. For example, participants whose Q-sorts significantly loaded onto this narrative explained that the period after the designation as Biosphere Reserve highlighted that land use instead of a protectionist approach is needed to sustain the cultural landscape.

"[...] without (land) management it won't work [...] And management, I see that actually embedded in this whole concept." (I32)

Second, people actively managing the landscape and therefore the appealing or "tidy landscape" (I14) attract tourists to come visit the area.

"[...] tourists don't want to see a meadow that hasn't been mowed for five years when they pass by on the barge but they want to see a person who lives in the Spreewald and farms there." (I30)

This narrative was about achieving a harmony or reconciliation of agriculture and nature. Nature here referred to the presence of non-agricultural areas have their place in the cultural landscape (#7: +2). This explains why photos showing motifs with no human presence or intervention in the landscape were assessed positively (#20: +3, #16: +1; #21: 0). Organic farming was considered to be the status quo in the Spreewald. One participant argued that European Union organic farming regulations were not strict enough (#36: -1) compared to the much stricter organic farming practices in the Spreewald area.

"We have hardly any farmer in the Spreewald who practices conventional agriculture, in fact no one at all. We all farm ecologically, extensive, we abstain from fertilizer as far as possible, without pesticides in the Spreewald and it works." (130)

Economic aspects related to land use were prominent themes in this narrative. It was considered vital that those who manage the landscape, in particular forestry and agriculture, can make an income from their activities (Fig. 3). Two approaches were mentioned in that regard. First, subsidising or financing farmers who have to manage land under difficult circumstances in the Spreewald. Second, branding, marketing and selling of products coming from the area present an opportunity to make an income (#4: +2, #22: 0).

"[...] on the one hand everything that has to do with nature, which I consider to be very positive, and everything that I associate with sustainable management [...] if I want to preserve nature, I need revenues and I can only get that from the economy." (I32)

Photos representing traditional land management practices were mainly described as "show" (I14), not reflecting current land management and thus generally ranked low (#19: -4, #10: -3, #28: -2). The sentiment that the landscape should be actively managed was expressed most strongly by one participant's opposition to an "open air museum" (I14). Whilst participants were not against preserving cultural traditions, those did not occupy a very prominent role in this narrative (#33: +1, #6 & #34: 0, #8: -2).

Perceived threats in this narrative were iron ochre in the Spree (#25: -4) and damages as a result of beaver activities, e.g. flooding due to water blockages, (#12: -1). Whilst the beaver was not seen as negative per se, some people had negative attitudes towards how the beaver is treated.

"[...] I am not against the beaver but I am against how it is spoilt." (I30)

3.4. Consensus photos

Five of the photos were consensus items, i.e. which had similar rankings across all narratives (c.f. Watts and Stenner, 2012; see also supplementary material VIII). Sediment ocre in the river Spree (#25) was considered to be negative across all three narratives. The photo displaying a river (#2) is general in nature and did not evoke any particularly strong positive or negative associations. The horseradish jar (#22) was mostly interpreted as representing local products and value chains which was something that was important in all narratives. The white stork (#7) as a synanthropic bird was interpreted as representing the management of the land by humans, and at the same time it was perceived to represent the presence of nature, explaining its overall positive ranking. The flowering meadows (#27) were mostly interpreted to represent biodiversity and were also appreciated due to their aesthetic value. Finally, cyclists in the landscape (#24) were not perceived to cause any particular damage to the landscape such as canoers and were therefore considered mostly favourably.

4. Discussion

Our findings highlight how the cultural landscape of Spreewald BR is interpreted differently in the three narratives regarding what it means, what characterizes it, how it is threatened but also appreciated. This reflects different underlying understandings of human-nature relationships. The *nature narrative* can be understood as a more ecocentric viewpoint where nature is valued for its own sake independent of human use (intrinsic value). Both the *people* and *land use* narratives represent more anthropocentric viewpoints where humans and how they interact with the landscape are the focus of attention (instrumental and relational values). The beaver provides a good example for this difference because it was described as an "amazing builder" (I23) in the nature narrative and a "problem animal" (I32) in the land use narrative. Despite the context-specific nature of our narratives, there are some similarities with other landscape narratives in the literature. The *nature narrative* is comparable to other pro-nature narratives that value biodiversity, wildlife and vegetation (e.g. Frei et al., 2020, Plieninger et al., 2018, Barnaud and Couix, 2020). For example, Köpsel et al. (2017) identified a 'natural landscape' narrative that constructs the landscape in relation to elements of nature. This is similar in concept to closeness to nature in the nature narrative. Analogous to the people and land use narratives, other narratives conceptualise the landscape primarily as a place where people live (e.g. Köpsel et al., 2017), where human intervention through sustainable use or management is vital (e.g. Plieninger et al., 2018) or where management needs to be sustained (Frei et al., 2020). Apart from highlighting different human-nature relationships, the narratives also construct the landscape around different core values (Fig. 3). Existing classifications of landscape values in the literature highlight the myriad of ways in which landscapes are appreciated by people (e.g. Raymond et al., 2016, Garcia-Martin et al., 2017, Plieninger et al., 2018). Our findings highlight three archetypal ways of viewing and relating to the cultural landscape based on different landscape meanings and values.

The narratives we identified highlight differing landscape conceptualisations and problem framings that need to be addressed in governance approaches to the area. Other examples from the literature show how the process of land abandonment is interpreted differently depending on the viewpoint and interests. For example, it might be perceived negatively by farmers (Benjamin et al., 2007) but more positively from a conservationist's perspective (Frei et al., 2020). In the *nature narrative*, bush encroachment as a result of land abandonment was perceived as a threat because it changes the ecosystems and threatens the diversity of species. In the *people narrative*, however, the lack of land management or use was perceived negatively based mostly on the aesthetic value of the landscape. Thus, our findings explain why land abandonment in our case study is not considered an issue by everyone (c.f. Schäfer and König, 2018) which results in challenges for collaboration to tackle this 'issue'.

Understanding how place meanings vary among narratives can help elucidate commonalities but also conflicts (Masterson et al., 2019). Such 'narrative tensions' (c.f. Veland et al., 2018) became visible through our narrative approach and point to challenges for effective management. For example, wet meadows were highlighted in the nature narrative due to their meaning as places with high biological diversity and thus natural value. In the *people narrative*, the haystack was interpreted as a symbol for the historical links between people and nature and thus the value of traditional practices. In contrast, the land use narrative focused on utilisation of the landscape and opposed the preservation of the landscape in the form of a museum for consumption by tourists (c.f. Sandell, 2016). Whilst the innovation approaches to protect wet meadows developed in our transdisciplinary project resonate with some of the narratives, e.g. land pools with the land use narrative, they do not resolve or explicitly address any of the underlying narrative tensions. A next step could thus be to relate narratives and physical landscape elements with the innovative approaches as a means to handle ,narrative tensions'. Increased participation in innovation approaches might provide an opportunity to incorporate different priorities and viewpoints, e.g. how and where to target income from tourism for managing wet meadows.

Our findings also highlight that there are different underlying normative assumptions about how the cultural landscape should develop. Bieling et al. (2020) highlighted how ethical arguments based on different values can result in competing framings of landscape stewardship. They argue that the diversity of values which leads to different objectives and future pathways needs to be made visible and communicated. This suggests that there is a need to bring the different narratives in conversation especially around the key questions of how the landscape is currently valued and how the cultural landscape of the future is envisioned. Developing a joint vision can help provide direction for decision-making, actions and behaviours (Wiek and Iwaniec, 2014). For example, scenarios in landscape planning help diverse stakeholders to explore plausible

changes and agree on common objectives (Albert et al., 2019). They can be helpful to develop a shared vision for the future and to explore opportunities and barriers for collective action towards that vision (Nieto-Romero et al., 2016). Moreover, exploring future visions and pathways towards them in a participatory manner can help empower rural communities to take action (Schaal et al., 2023). Developing a joint vision for the cultural landscape and exploring opportunities for change could thus help with collective sensemaking about the issue of land abandonment and resulting loss of biodiversity-rich wet meadows and provide direction for change. This could help local communities identify levers for change, including for the governance and management of the cultural landscape.

The different perceptions of landscape reflected through the narratives also point to a disconnect between physical and socio-cultural aspects of landscape. For example, a landscape that shows low-impact or no human influence was valued in the nature narrative. The land use narrative reflected an economic point of view and appreciated visible human influence on the landscape. In contrast, landscape was perceived as place to live and valued for its cultural traditions and history in the *people narrative*. Cultural elements referring to Sorbic minority language and traditions played a dominant role only in the *people narrative*. The BR Spreewald is an example of integrated landscape management, promoting multifunctional land use and selling regional products under the common label 'Spreewald' (Mann and Plieninger, 2017). However, our findings point to the lack of integration of cultural heritage. Both natural and cultural diversity were adopted as goals of UNESCO Biosphere Reserves in the 1990s (UNESCO, 1996). However, we found that whilst notions of both linguistic and cultural on the one hand and biological diversity on the other hand emerged during the interviews, they remain somewhat fragmented among the narratives and are not conceptualised as co-evolving. Based on synthesized insights from Biosphere Reserves across the globe, Reed and Price (2020) recently argued that increased emphasis on the concept of biocultural diversity could help shift perceptions away from seeing biosphere reserves as protected areas, an association often evoked by the term 'reserve'. Biosphere reserves are model regions for sustainable development (e.g. Reed and Price, 2020) and practitioners interpret the concept of biosphere reserve differently, connected to the institutional context and activities in the respective biosphere reserves (Schultz et al., 2018). This highlights the opportunity for broadening the term diversity as part of the Biosphere Reserve to include both biological diversity and cultural heritage. However, whilst for example the importance of plural values of biodiversity is increasingly recognized in biodiversity research (Pascual et al., 2021), such value plurality is limited by current policy frameworks. In particular, in the current governance system sectoral policies prevail and environmental policy tends to conceptualise nature and humans as two separate entities (Biermann, 2021). Based on findings from this research, we argue that better integration of socio-cultural aspects into existing landscape management initiatives would be important in the governance of cultural landscapes.

5. Conclusions

Cultural landscapes are changing due to a range of different, interacting drivers (e.g. Bürgi et al., 2017a), making their management and the preservation of their biological and cultural values urgent priorities. Our study highlighted substantial differences in how a cultural

landscape is perceived and valued by different stakeholders. The three identified narratives represent archetypal ways of viewing and relating to the cultural landscape. The *nature*, *people* and land use narratives reflect different meanings of the cultural landscape, landscape values and perceived threats. This leads to different land use and development priorities, differing problem perceptions and imaginations about the cultural landscape of the future. We show how this creates challenges for collaborative management and for developing innovative approaches to address the impacts of farmland abandonment. Our findings point to the need to develop differentiated visions of future development in a participatory approach as a way to bring different landscape narratives in conversation and to provide direction for future planning and management. In a future step, the narratives and physical landscape elements could be related to innovation approaches that were developed as part of the research project to allow for better engagement with tensions between the narratives. Our study also reveals a fragmentation of biological and sociocultural aspects among the narratives and we suggest better integration among these notions of diversity which can be informed and supported by realist contributions on spatial distribution of bio-physical characteristics of cultural landscapes. Insights from this case study are particularly relevant for researchers and policy makers involved in cultural landscape development and protected areas, especially Biosphere Reserves.

Acknowledgements

We would like to express our profound gratitude to all participants for their time and willingness to participate in this study. We highly appreciate the support provided by the administration of the Spreewald Biosphere Reserve. We thank Prof. Martina Schäfer for the discussions about various aspects of this publication. We also thank the three people who kindly agreed to pilot the initial Q-set and provided critical feedback. The research was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research grant numbers 033L145AN (BK), 033L145B (NH) and 033L145E (TS). The ginkoo project was hosted and coordinated by Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin in cooperation between the Thaer-Institute and IRI THESys.

References

- Albert, C., Haaren, C. von, Klug, H., Weber, R., 2019. Leitilder and Scenarios in Landscape Planning, in: Haaren, C. von, Lovett, A.A., Albert, C. (Eds.). Landscape Planning with Ecosystem Services. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 423–433.
- Barnaud, C., Couix, N., 2020. The multifunctionality of mountain farming: Social constructions and local negotiations behind an apparent consensus. Journal of Rural Studies 73, 34–45. doi:10.1016/j.jrurstud.2019.11.012.
- Benjamin, K., Bouchard, A., Domon, G., 2007. Abandoned farmlands as components of rural landscapes: An analysis of perceptions and representations. Landscape and Urban Planning 83 (4), 228–244. doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2007.04.009.
- Bieling, C., Eser, U., Plieninger, T., 2020. Towards a better understanding of values in sustainability transformations: ethical perspectives on landscape stewardship. Ecosystems and People 16 (1), 188–196. doi:10.1080/26395916.2020.1786165.

- Biermann, F., 2021. The future of 'environmental' policy in the Anthropocene: time for a paradigm shift. Environmental Politics 30 (1-2), 61–80. doi:10.1080/09644016.2020.1846958.
- Brown, S.R., 1980. Political subjectivity: Applications of Q methodology in political science. Yale University Press, New Haven.
- Bryman, A., 2016. Social research methods, fifth ed. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 747 pp.
- Buizer, M., Arts, B., Westerink, J., 2016. Landscape governance as policy integration 'from below': A case of displaced and contained political conflict in the Netherlands. Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy 34 (3), 448–462. doi:10.1177/0263774X15614725.
- Bürgi, M., Bieling, C., Hackwitz, K. von, Kizos, T., Lieskovský, J., Martín, M.G., McCarthy, S., Müller, M., Palang, H., Plieninger, T., Printsmann, A., 2017a. Processes and driving forces in changing cultural landscapes across Europe. Landscape Ecology 32 (11), 2097– 2112. doi:10.1007/s10980-017-0513-z.
- Bürgi, M., Verburg, P.H., Kuemmerle, T., Plieninger, T., 2017b. Analyzing dynamics and values of cultural landscapes. Landscape Ecology 32 (11), 2077–2081. doi:10.1007/s10980-017-0573-0.
- Busse, M., Heitepriem, N., Siebert, R., 2019. The Acceptability of Land Pools for the Sustainable Revalorisation of Wetland Meadows in the Spreewald Region, Germany. Sustainability 11 (15), 4056. doi:10.3390/su11154056.
- Chan, K.M.A., Balvanera, P., Benessaiah, K., Chapman, M., Díaz, S., Gómez-Baggethun, E., Gould, R., Hannahs, N., Jax, K., Klain, S., Luck, G.W., Martín-López, B., Muraca, B., Norton, B., Ott, K., Pascual, U., Satterfield, T., Tadaki, M., Taggart, J., Turner, N., 2016. Opinion: Why protect nature? Rethinking values and the environment. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 113 (6), 1462–1465. doi:10.1073/pnas.1525002113.
- Frei, T., Derks, J., Rodríguez Fernández-Blanco, C., Winkel, G., 2020. Narrating abandoned land: Perceptions of natural forest regrowth in Southwestern Europe. Land Use Policy 99, 105034. doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.105034.
- Gailing, L., 2012. Dimensions of the social construction of landscapes Perspectives of new institutionalism. Proceedings of the Latvian Academy of Sciences: A, Human and Social Sciences 66, 195–205.
- Gailing, L., Leibenath, M., 2015. The Social Construction of Landscapes: Two Theoretical Lenses and Their Empirical Applications. Landscape Research 40 (2), 123–138. doi:10.1080/01426397.2013.775233.
- Garcia-Martin, M., Fagerholm, N., Bieling, C., Gounaridis, D., Kizos, T., Printsmann, A., Müller, M., Lieskovský, J., Plieninger, T., 2017. Participatory mapping of landscape values in a Pan-European perspective. Landscape Ecology 32 (11), 2133–2150. doi:10.1007/s10980-017-0531-x.
- Görg, C., 2007. Landscape governance. Geoforum 38 (5), 954–966. doi:10.1016/j.geoforum.2007.01.004.
- Herzon, I., Raatikainen, K.J., Helm, A., Rūsiņa, S., Wehn, S., Eriksson, O., 2022. Semi-natural habitats in the European boreal region: Caught in the socio-ecological extinction vortex? Ambio 51 (8), 1753–1763. doi:10.1007/s13280-022-01705-3.
- Ingold, K., Driessen, P.P., Runhaar, H.A., Widmer, A., 2019. On the necessity of connectivity: linking key characteristics of environmental problems with governance modes. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management 62 (11), 1821–1844. doi:10.1080/09640568.2018.1486700.
- Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES), 2019. Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.

Brondizio, E.S., Settele, J., Díaz, S., Ngo, H.T. (Eds.). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany. 1148 pages.

- König, B., Nölting, B., Schäfer, M., Wortmann, L., n.d. Method for managing transdisciplinary research: using the situation analysis approach for a joint problem framing, Internal project publication.
- Köpsel, V., Walsh, C., Leyshon, C., 2017. Landscape narratives in practice: implications for climate change adaptation. The Geographical Journal 183 (2), 175–186. doi:10.1111/geoj.12203.
- Mann, C., Plieninger, T., 2017. The potential of landscape labelling approaches for integrated landscape management in Europe. Landscape Research 42 (8), 904–920. doi:10.1080/01426397.2017.1335863.
- Masterson, V.A., Spierenburg, M., Tengö, M., 2019. The trade-offs of win-win conservation rhetoric: exploring place meanings in community conservation on the Wild Coast, South Africa. Sustainability Science 14 (3), 639–654. doi:10.1007/s11625-019-00696-7.
- Mayring, P., 2015. Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: Grundlagen und Techniken, 12th ed. Beltz, Weinheim, 152 pp.
- McKeown, B., Thomas, D.B., 2013. Q methodology, 2nd ed. Quantitative applications in the social sciences 66. SAGE, Los Angeles, London, New Delhi, Singapore, Washington DC, 120 pp.
- Milcu, A.I., Sherren, K., Hanspach, J., Abson, D., Fischer, J., 2014. Navigating conflicting landscape aspirations: Application of a photo-based Q-method in Transylvania (Central Romania). Land Use Policy 41, 408–422. doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2014.06.019.
- Nieto-Romero, M., Milcu, A., Leventon, J., Mikulcak, F., Fischer, J., 2016. The role of scenarios in fostering collective action for sustainable development: Lessons from central Romania. Land Use Policy 50, 156–168. doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2015.09.013.
- Pascual, U., Adams, W.M., Díaz, S., Lele, S., Mace, G.M., Turnhout, E., 2021. Biodiversity and the challenge of pluralism. Nature Sustainability 4, 567–572. doi:10.1038/s41893-021-00694-7.
- Plieninger, T., Rana, H.Á.a., Fagerholm, N., Ellingsgaard, G.F., Magnussen, E., Raymond, C.M., Olafsson, A.S., Verbrugge, L.N., 2018. Identifying and assessing the potential for conflict between landscape values and development preferences on the Faroe Islands. Global Environmental Change 52, 162–180. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2018.07.006.
- Plieninger, T., Draux, H., Fagerholm, N., Bieling, C., Bürgi, M., Kizos, T., Kuemmerle, T., Primdahl, J., Verburg, P.H., 2016. The driving forces of landscape change in Europe: A systematic review of the evidence. Land Use Policy 57, 204–214. doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2016.04.040.
- Prosser, J., Schwartz, D., 1998. Photographs within the Sociological Research Process, in: Prosser, J. (Ed.). Image-based Research: A Sourcebook for Qualitative Researchers. Routledge, New York, pp. 115–130.
- Raymond, C.M., Bieling, C., Fagerholm, N., Martin-Lopez, B., Plieninger, T., 2016. The farmer as a landscape steward: Comparing local understandings of landscape stewardship, landscape values, and land management actions. Ambio 45 (2), 173–184. doi:10.1007/s13280-015-0694-0.
- Reed, M.G., Price, M.F., 2020. Unfinished business: The present and future contributions of biosphere reserves to sustainability science, in: Reed, M.G. (Ed.). UNESCO biosphere reserves: Supporting biocultural diversity, sustainability and society. Routledge, London, New York, pp. 321–332.
- Riessman, C.K., 2008. Narrative methods for the human sciences. SAGE, Thousand Oaks, California, 251 pp.

- Roe, E., 1994. Narrative Policy Analysis: Theory and Practice. Duke University Press, Durham, 240 pp.
- Sandell, K., 2016. Ecostrategies: Presentation and elaboration of a conceptual framework of landscape perspectives. Tourism 64 (1), 63–80.
- Schaal, T., Mitchell, M., Scheele, B.C., Ryan, P., Hanspach, J., 2023. Using the three horizons approach to explore pathways towards positive futures for agricultural landscapes with rich biodiversity. Sustainability Science. doi:10.1007/s11625-022-01275-z.
- Schäfer, M., König, B., 2018. The role of cooperation for sustainability innovations in the agriculture and food sector. 13th European International Farming Systems Association (IFSA) Symposium, Greece. International Journal of Agricultural Extension, 65–78.
- Schaich, H., Bieling, C., Plieninger, T., 2010. Linking Ecosystem Services with Cultural Landscape Research. GAIA - Ecological Perspectives for Science and Society 19 (4), 269– 277. doi:10.14512/gaia.19.4.9.
- Schmolck, P., 2014. PQMethod Software (Version 2.35) [Software]. Available at: <u>http://schmolck.org/qmethod/index.htm#PQMethod</u>.
- Schultz, L., West, S., Bourke, A.J., d'Armengol, L., Torrents, P., Hardardottir, H., Jansson, A., Roldán, A.M., 2018. Learning to live with social-ecological complexity: An interpretive analysis of learning in 11 UNESCO Biosphere Reserves. Global Environmental Change 50, 75–87. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2018.03.001.
- Soliva, R., 2007. Landscape stories: Using ideal type narratives as a heuristic device in rural studies. Journal of Rural Studies 23 (1), 62–74. doi:10.1016/j.jrurstud.2006.04.004.
- Stanley, J.L., 2021. Revising Reykjavík: changing narratives of skeletons, structures, and imagined futures. Sustain Sci 16 (3), 859–868. doi:10.1007/s11625-020-00817-7.
- Stedman, R.C., 2016. Subjectivity and social-ecological systems: a rigidity trap (and sense of place as a way out). Sustainability Science 11 (6), 891–901. doi:10.1007/s11625-016-0388-y.
- Stenseke, M., 2018. Connecting 'relational values' and relational landscape approaches. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 35, 82–88. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2018.10.025.
- UNESCO, 1996. Biosphere reserves: The Seville Strategy and the Statutory Framework of the World Network, UNESCO, Paris.
- van Putten, S., O'Meara, C., Wartmann, F., Yager, J., Villette, J., Mazzuca, C., Bieling, C., Burenhult, N., Purves, R., Majid, A., 2020. Conceptualisations of landscape differ across European languages. PLoS ONE 15 (10), e0239858. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0239858.
- Veland, S., Scoville-Simonds, M., Gram-Hanssen, I., Schorre, A.K., El Khoury, A., Nordbø, M.J., Lynch, A.H., Hochachka, G., Bjørkan, M., 2018. Narrative matters for sustainability: the transformative role of storytelling in realizing 1.5°C futures. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 31, 41–47. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2017.12.005.
- Watts, S., Stenner, P., 2012. Doing Q methodological research: Theory, method and interpretation. SAGE, London, 238 pp.
- West, S., Cairns, R., Schultz, L., 2016. What constitutes a successful biodiversity corridor? A Q-study in the Cape Floristic Region, South Africa. Biological Conservation 198, 183–192. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2016.04.019.
- Wiek, A., Iwaniec, D., 2014. Quality criteria for visions and visioning in sustainability science. Sustainability Science 9 (4), 497–512. doi:10.1007/s11625-013-0208-6.
- Zscheischler, J., Busse, M., Heitepriem, N., 2019. Challenges to Build up a Collaborative Landscape Management (CLM)—Lessons from a Stakeholder Analysis in Germany. Environmental management 64 (5), 580–592. doi:10.1007/s00267-019-01205-3.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

I) Data sources of the map created with ArcGIS version 10.6.1

Description	Source
Districts boundaries	GeoBasis-DE/LGB, 2019
Biosphere reserve boundaries	Landesamt für Umwelt Brandenburg
Land cover data	GeoBasis-DE / BKG (2020)
Watercourses	WasserBLIcK/BfG und Zuständige Behörden der
	Länder, 22.10.2021
German federal state boundaries	GeoBasis-DE / BKG 2018

II) Q-items framework

I.Land use	II.Surface types	III.Land management o	and use	IV.Ecosystem (changes)	V.Products
1	farmland	farmers on tractor farming label	white stork	bushy areas	gherkin harvest
agriculture	cattle on pasture	rape seed field mowed area	tractor		horseradish jar
2 forestry	forest			mushrooms on dead wood	
3	wet meadow	mowing with scythes tree lines		untouched flowering beaver beaver	
nature conservation			-	branches over stream broken tree branches	
4 water management	river	stream bank reinforcement ditch]	water with sedimented ocre muddy stream kingfisher	
5 tourism		cyclists in landscape barge ride	tourist groups		
6 culture/ tradition	scythes hay	stack building of tradi barges cost	tional wooden k umes house	og wooden bridge barge with hay	

∑=37

III) Participants' organisational affiliation (own translation)

Please note: There are fewer organisations listed than there were participants because in some cases two employees of the same organization were interviewed due to their different areas of expertise.

Gov=governmental organization; NonGov=non-governmental organization; Priv=private sector

forestry and hunting		
Oberförsterei Lieberose	forest district office Lieberose	Gov
Landeswaldoberförsterei Lübben	State Company for Forestry	Gov
	Brandenburg	
Jagdverband Lübben e.V.	hunting association Lübben	NonGov

tourism and culture		
Amt Burg, Sachgebiet Tourismus	Amt Burg, area of tourism	Gov
Spreewald-Natur-Camping "Am	-	Priv
Schlosspark"		
Spreewald Touristinformation	Lübbenau tourism agency	NonGov
Lübbenau e.V.		
Spreewälder Kulturstiftung e.V.	Spreewald culture foundation	NonGov
Selbstständige_r Touristiker_in	self-employed tourism specialist	Priv
agriculture		
Agrargenossenschaft "Spreetal" eG	agricultural cooperative "Spreetal"	Priv
Kreisbauernverband des Spree-Neiße	local farmers' association of the	NonGov
Kreises e.V.	Spree-Neiße district	
Bauernverband Südbrandenburg e.V.	farmers' association of South	NonGov
	Brandenburg	
Fachbereich Landwirtschaft, Veterinär-	area of agriculture, veterinary and	Gov
u. Lebensmittelüberwachung,	food supervision, Spree-Neiße district	
Landkreis Spree-Neiße		
Amt für Veterinärwesen,	state office for veterinary services,	Gov
Lebensmittelüberwachung und	food control and agriculture, district of	
Landwirtschaft, Landkreis	Oberspreewald-Lausitz	
Oberspreewald-Lausitz		
Amt für Veterinärwesen,	state office for veterinary services,	Gov
Verbraucherschutz und Landwirtschaft,	consumer protection and agriculture,	
Landkreis Dahme-Spreewald	Dahme-Spreewald district	
Lokaler agrartouristischer	local agrotourism farm	Priv
Landwirtschaftsbetrieb		
nature conservation		
NABU Kreisverband Spreewald e.V.	Nature and Biodiversity Conservation	NonGov
	Union, Spreewald area	
Untere Naturschutzbehörde, Landkreis	lower nature conservation authority,	Gov
Dahme-Spreewald	Dahme-Spreewald district	
Aktionsbündis Klare Spree e.V.	action group clear Spree	NonGov
water management and fishery		
Gemeinschaft wendisch / sorbischer	association of wendish and sorbish	NonGov
Spreewaldfischer Burg und Umgebung	Spreewald fishermen in Burg and	
e.V.	surroundings	
Wasser- und Bodenverband "Oberland	water and soil assocation "Oberland	Gov
Calau"	Calau"	~
Wasser- und Bodenverband	water and soil assocation "Northern	Gov
"Nördlicher Spreewald"	Spreewald"	<u> </u>
Landesamt für Umwelt, Abteilung	state office for the environment, area	Gov
Wasserwirtschaft	of water management	0
Untere Wasserbehorde, Landkreis	lower water authority, Dahme-	Gov
Danme-Spreewald	Spreewald district	
multiple/overarching		0
Landesamt für Landliche Entwicklung,	state office for rural development,	Gov
Landwirtschaft und Flurneuordnung	agriculture and reorganisation of land	
Burgerstiftung Kulturlandschaft	citizen foundation Spreewald cultural	NonGov
Spreewald	landscape	

City of Lübbenau	Gov
administration of the Spreewald	Gov
biosphere reserve	
Spree-Neiße land care association	NonGov
-	
lower nature conservation, hunting	Gov
and fishery authority, Spree-Neiße	
district	
lower hunting and fishing authority,	Gov
Dahme-Spreewald district	
Spreewald association	NonGov
fisheries cooperative Lübben	Priv
tourist association Lübben and	NonGov
surroundings	
association for preserving and	NonGov
supporting the Spreewald village of	
Lehde	
	City of Lübbenau administration of the Spreewald biosphere reserve Spree-Neiße land care association lower nature conservation, hunting and fishery authority, Spree-Neiße district lower hunting and fishing authority, Dahme-Spreewald district Spreewald association fisheries cooperative Lübben tourist association Lübben and surroundings association for preserving and supporting the Spreewald village of Lehde

IV) Interview guide (translated from German)

A) PRE-SORTING INTERVIEW

- I) Introduction to the project, research and informed consent
- II) General

1. Please briefly explain your role and the tasks of your organisation regarding the Spreewald.

2. What are the main objectives that your organisation has regarding Spreewald?

B) Q-SORTING PROCESS

Spreading the grid, the photos and 'condition of instruction'. Point out that participants should rank the photos based on the perspective of their organization. Explaining the process:

The participant puts the photos in the grid according to the instructions. The interviewer provides assistance or further explanations if needed.

After all the photos were put in the grid, the photo numbers were written down in a small copy of the grid, and the interviewer highlights which of the Q-items were actually considered to be negative or positive.

C) POST-SORTING INTERVIEW

III) Q-Sort explanations

1. Do you feel that the grid reflects your perspective on what the Spreewald cultural landscape should look?

2. Was there anything that you did not understand?

3. Could you please provide an explanation about the photos placed at the extreme ends of the grid?

- 4. Were there any photos that were particularly important, critical or outstanding?
- 5. Was anything missing, and if so, where would you have placed it?
- 6. What if the two photos placed under ,most positive' were the only ones?

7. What if the two photos placed under ,most negative' were the only ones? IV) Optional:

1. In how war could the before-mentioned objectives be (partially) reached?

2. Are there any incompatibilities/conflicts between your objectives? Are there any incompatibilities between your objectives and those of other actors?

3. What do you consider to be the biggest barriers to reaching your objectives?

4. What do you consider to be enablers for reaching your objectives?

V) Demographic questions about gender and age group

VI) Final questions

1. Is there anything else about the topic of the interview that you would like to tell me? 2. Are there any other interview partners who have a substantial influence on the development of the Spreewald cultural landscape whom you could recommend for an interview?

VII) Closing

	natu	re narra	ative	people narrative		land use narrative				
Q-items	neg	neu	pos	neg	neu	pos	neg	neu	pos	no ass.
1 cattle on pasture	27%	27%	45%	8%	8%	83%	0%	0%	100%	
2 river	9%	18%	73%	17%	8%	75%	0%	0%	100%	
3 tourist groups	91%	9%	0%	50%	8%	42%	0%	0%	100%	
4 gherkin harvest	18%	18%	64%	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	100%	
5 rape seed field	100%	0%	0%	17%	25%	58%	33%	0%	67%	
6 building of barges	0%	27%	73%	0%	17%	83%	0%	0%	100%	
7 white stork	0%	9%	91%	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	100%	
8 traditional costumes	0%	9%	91%	0%	8%	92%	0%	0%	100%	
9 mushrooms on dead wood	0%	27%	73%	42%	33%	25%	0%	0%	100%	10.000
10 scythes	0%	27%	73%	0%	25%	75%	0%	0%	67%	33%
11 farm land	100%	0%	0%	33%	25%	42%	0%	0%	100%	
12 beaver	9%	18%	73%	67%	17%	17%	33%	0%	67%	
13 farmers on tractor	18%	9%	73%	8%	17%	75%	0%	0%	100%	
14 muddy stream	36%	27%	36%	92%	8%	0%	33%	0%	67%	
15 wet meadow	55%	18%	27%	25%	42%	33%	0%	0%	100%	
16 branches over stream	0%	9%	91%	67%	25%	8%	0%	0%	100%	
17 ditch	64%	18%	18%	50%	17%	33%	0%	0%	100%	6
18 tractor	64%	18%	18%	17%	25%	58%	0%	0%	100%	
19 mowing with scythes	0%	9%	91%	25%	17%	58%	0%	0%	67%	33%
20 forest	9%	9%	82%	0%	8%	92%	0%	0%	100%	
21 untouched area	0%	9%	91%	75%	25%	0%	0%	0%	100%	
22 horseradish jar	0%	18%	82%	0%	8%	92%	0%	0%	100%	
23 mowed area	55%	18%	27%	17%	25%	58%	0%	0%	100%	
24 cyclists in landscape	18%	9%	73%	0%	25%	75%	0%	0%	100%	
25 water with sedimented ocre	91%	0%	9%	92%	8%	0%	67%	0%	33%	
26 stream bank reinforcement	9%	36%	55%	17%	0%	83%	0%	0%	100%	
27 flowering meadow	0%	18%	82%	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	100%	
28 barge with hay	0%	9%	91%	0%	17%	83%	0%	0%	67%	33%
29 broken tree branches	9%	18%	73%	50%	33%	17%	0%	0%	100%	
30 kingfisher	0%	9%	91%	0%	8%	92%	0%	0%	100%	
31 tree lines	55%	9%	36%	33%	8%	58%	0%	0%	100%	
32 bushy areas	27%	27%	45%	75%	17%	8%	0%	0%	67%	33%
33 hay stack	0%	9%	91%	0%	0%	100%	0%	0%	100%	
34 wooden log house	0%	18%	82%	0%	8%	92%	0%	0%	100%	
35 wooden bridge	0%	36%	64%	0%	17%	83%	0%	0%	100%	
36 organic farming label	9%	9%	82%	0%	8%	92%	33%	0%	67%	
37 barge ride	0%	36%	64%	8%	25%	67%	0%	0%	100%	8

V) Q-item assessment

VI) Factor matrix

Following Watts and Stenner (2012), we flagged all factors that had a significant loading on one factor, i.e. ± 0.42 or above. Q sorts were considered statistically significant at the 0.01 level if the factor loading was at or above ± 0.42 [standard error $(1/\sqrt{37}) \ge 2.58$].

X indicating a factor defining sort. * indicating a confounded sort

I01	0.25	0.50X	0.33
I02	-0.02	0.72X	0.19
I03	0.17	0.66X	0.13
I04*	0.55	0.58	0.09
I05	0.40	0.47X	-0.14
I06	0.19	0.80X	0.08
I07	0.75X	0.32	0.07
I08*	0.63	0.42	0.23
I09	0.41	0.71X	0.04
I11*	0.44	0.52	0.11
I12	0.69X	0.04	0.13
I13	-0.09	0.74X	0.22
I14	-0.07	0.17	0.74X
I15*	-0.25	0.62	-0.44
I16	0.78X	0.13	-0.02
I17*	0.54	0.35	0.44
I18	0.41	0.72X	0.03
I19	0.80X	0.27	0.00
I20	0.66X	0.39	-0.10
I21	0.77X	0.06	0.18
I22*	0.61	0.52	-0.08
I23	0.57X	-0.39	0.41
I24	0.85X	0.07	-0.03
I25	0.76X	0.19	0.08
I26	0.77X	0.20	0.28
I27	0.76X	0.13	-0.14
I28	0.26	0.57X	0.25
I29*	0.68	0.54	0.15
I30	-0.35	0.33	0.55X
I31*	0.71	0.50	0.02
I32	0.28	0.16	0.59X
I33	0.29	0.69X	0.24
I34*	0.55	0.43	0.35
I35*	0.68	0.47	0.11
I36*	0.42	0.52	0.12
I37	0.22	0.82X	-0.01
I38	0.35	0.73X	0.14
VII) Photo credit

Photo number(s)	Source
#11, #14, #17, #27, #22	Nico Heitepriem
(photo was cropped), #24,	
#29, #31,	
#1, #4, #15, #20, #23, #26,	Michael Petschick
#28, #33	
#6, #9, #13 (licence plate	Biosphere Reserve Spreewald
number has been edited	
out), #19, #21, #25, #32,	
#34, #36, #16	
#2, #35, #37	Tamara Schaal
#7, #30	Frank Kuba
#3, #12	Tom Noah
#18 (licence plate number	Andreas Göbel
has been edited out)	
#8	Spreewald-Touristinformation Lübbenau e.V.
#10	Andreas Traube
#5	Stefan Fussan, Licence CC BY-SA 3.0
	https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/; no
	alterations made; https://de.wikivoyage.org/wiki/
	Peitzer_Land#/media/File:Rapsfelder_bei_Drehnow_0030.jpg

VIII) Consensus statements

To make the item rankings more easily comparable across the factors, during factor analysis the total weighted scores for the items are converted into a normalized factor score (Z-score) (Watts and Stenner, 2012). Consensus statements are items whose Z-scores show no significant difference between any two factors when tested at the 0.01 level (Brown 1980).

Items 2, 7, 22, 24, 25 and 27 were non-significant at p>0.01 and the items with an * are non-significant at p>0.05.

Statement	Factor 1		Factor 2		Factor 3	
	Z-score	Factor array	Z-score	Factor array	Z-score	Factor array
#1	-0.476	-1	0.989	2	1.524	3
#2	0.597	1	0.527	1	-0.131	0
#3	-1.856	-3	-0.755	-1	-1.114	-3
#4	-0.118	-1	1.417	4	1.085	2
#5	-1.927	-4	-0.036	0	-0.548	-1
#6	0.211	0	0.920	2	-0.343	0
#7*	1.455	4	1.333	3	1.113	2
#8	0.632	1	0.922	2	-0.796	-2
#9	0.485	1	-0.981	-2	-0.633	-1
#10	0.179	0	-0.153	-1	-1.716	-3
#11	-1.699	-3	-0.437	-1	0.625	1

Consensus statements are highlighted in yellow.

#12	0.224	0	-1.315	-2	-0.477	-1
#13	0.937	2	0.384	0	1.573	4
#14	-0.852	-2	-1.782	-3	-0.958	-2
#15	-1.015	-2	-0.569	-1	1.261	3
#16	0.876	2	-1.486	-3	0.484	1
#17	-1.219	-2	-0.817	-2	1.030	2
#18	-1.402	-3	0.000	0	0.971	2
#19	0.954	3	-0.347	-1	-1.737	-4
#20	0.390	0	0.509	1	1.269	3
#21	0.548	1	-1.842	-4	0.010	0
#22*	0.243	0	0.570	1	-0.025	0
#23	-0.953	-2	0.047	0	1.552	4
#24*	-0.002	-1	0.391	0	0.286	1
#25*	-2.119	-4	-1.884	-4	-2.210	-4
#26	0.030	0	0.472	0	-0.457	-1
#27*	0.850	2	0.904	2	0.944	1
#28	0.822	2	0.625	1	-0.790	-2
#29	0.335	0	-1.203	-2	-0.125	0
#30	1.721	4	0.878	1	0.214	0
#31	-0.779	-1	-0.437	-1	0.788	1
#32	-0.478	-1	-1.323	-3	-0.938	-2
#33	1.378	3	1.637	4	0.803	1
#34	1.011	3	1.242	3	-0.315	0
#35	0.527	1	0.566	1	-0.633	-1
#36	0.544	1	1.149	3	-0.598	-1
#37	-0.053	-1	-0.111	0	-0.987	-3

Brown, S.R., 1980. Political subjectivity: Applications of Q methodology in political science. Yale University Press, New Haven, 355 pp.

Watts, S., Stenner, P., 2012. Doing Q methodological research: Theory, method and interpretation. SAGE, London, 238 pp.

Appendices

Appendix 1: List of interviews

Please note: Alle interviews were assigned a random number before analysis, which was used for the interview acronyms.

Interview	Interview mode	Date of the	Data obtained &	Interviewer
acronym		interview	duration of recording	
			where applicable	
P01	online / via phone	30.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:55:42	Tamara Schaal
P02	face-to-face	08.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:42:14	Tamara Schaal
P03	online / via phone	29.04.2020	Audiorecording, 01:06:11	Annie Jacobs
P04	online / via phone	28.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:59:31	Annie Jacobs
P05	face-to-face	17.03.2020	Audiorecording, 01:02:09	Annie Jacobs
P06	face-to-face	13.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:52:02	Tamara Schaal
P07	face-to-face	10.03.2020	Audiorecording, 01:07:15	Annie Jacobs
P08	face-to-face	19.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:23:27	Tamara Schaal
P09	online / via phone	27.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:49:21	Tamara Schaal
P10	online / via phone	07.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:55:59	Tamara Schaal
P11	online / via phone	26.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:52:33	Annie Jacobs
P12	online / via phone	20.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:58:15	Annie Jacobs
P13	face-to-face	13.03.2020	Audiorecording, 01:02:59	Annie Jacobs
P14	face-to-face	15.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:30:21	Tamara Schaal
P15	online / via phone	07.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:55:16	Annie Jacobs
P16	online / via phone	15.04.2020	Audiorecording, 01:02:44	Annie Jacobs
P17	online / via phone	23.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:53:25	Tamara Schaal
P18	online / via phone	23.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:57:48	Annie Jacobs
P19	face-to-face	13.03.2020	Written notes	Annie Jacobs
P20	face-to-face	09.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:37:59	Annie Jacobs
P21	online / via phone	21.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:43:46	Tamara Schaal
P22	online / via phone	05.06.2020	Audiorecording, 01:05:35	Annie Jacobs
P23	online / via phone	07.04.2020	Audiorecordings,	Tamara Schaal
201			00:20:25 & 00:31:40	
P24	online / via phone	16.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:37:50	Tamara Schaal
P25	online / via phone	11.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:55:47	Annie Jacobs
P26	online / via phone	30.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:43:45	Annie Jacobs
P27	face-to-face	13.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:41:35	Tamara Schaal
P28	face-to-face	09.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:44:51	Tamara Schaal
P29	online / via phone	06.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:33:32	Tamara Schaal
P30	online / via phone	25.05.2020	Audiorecordings,	Annie Jacobs
			00:22:49 & 00:17:31 &	
			00:06:28	
P31	face-to-face	17.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:44:02	Tamara Schaal
P32	face-to-face	18.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:40:33	Tamara Schaal
P33	online / via phone	04.05.2020	Audiorecording, 01:06:09	Annie Jacobs
P34	online / via phone	02.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:50:47	Tamara Schaal

a) Muttama Creek Catchment case study

P35	online / via phone	22.05.2020	Audiorecording, 01:15:42	Tamara Schaal
P36	online / via phone	08.05.2020	Audiorecording, 01:11:08	Annie Jacobs
P37	online / via phone	02.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:51:24	Annie Jacobs
P38	online / via phone	26.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:34:23	Tamara Schaal
P39	online / via phone	15.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:36:31	Annie Jacobs
P40	online / via phone	16.04.2020	Audiorecording, 01:34:28	Annie Jacobs
P41	online / via phone	29.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:44:06	Tamara Schaal
P42	online / via phone	28.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:55:56	Tamara Schaal
P43	online / via phone	12.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:55:29	Tamara Schaal
P44	online / via phone	20.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:50:38	Tamara Schaal
P45	online / via phone	23.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:55:35	Annie Jacobs
P46	online / via phone	15.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:41:41	Tamara Schaal
P47	face-to-face	29.05.2020	Audiorecordings,	Annie Jacobs
			00:19:43 & 00:19:36	
P48	online / via phone	30.03.2020	Audiorecording, 01:02:35	Annie Jacobs
P49	online / via phone	12.06.2020	Audiorecording, 00:52:51	Annie Jacobs
P50	face-to-face	06.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:45:53	Tamara Schaal
P51	online / via phone	29.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:52:30	Annie Jacobs
P52	face-to-face	19.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:51:51	Tamara Schaal
P53	face-to-face	16.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:58:59	Annie Jacobs
P54	online / via phone	18.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:48:21	Tamara Schaal
P55	face-to-face	13.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:58:36	Tamara Schaal
P56	online / via phone	07.05.2020	Audiorecording, 01:11:54	Annie Jacobs
P57	online / via phone	28.04.2020	Audiorecording, 01:07:40	Annie Jacobs
P58	face-to-face	19.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:38:59	Annie Jacobs
P59	online / via phone	02.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:47:12	Tamara Schaal
P60	face-to-face	08.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:37:13	Tamara Schaal
P61	online / via phone	16.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:51:36	Annie Jacobs
P62	online / via phone	08.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:41:32	Tamara Schaal
P63	face-to-face	10.03.2020	Audiorecording, 01:10:52	Tamara Schaal
P64	online / via phone	03.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:46:35	Annie Jacobs
P65	face-to-face	05.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:53:55	Tamara Schaal
P66	face-to-face	16.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:46:52	Annie Jacobs
P67	online / via phone	11.06.2020	Audiorecording, 00:55:11	Annie Jacobs
P68	face-to-face	05.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:50:41	Tamara Schaal
P69	online / via phone	02.04.2020	Audiorecordings,	Annie Jacobs
		29.05.2020	00:04:03 & 00:40:41	
			(The interview was partly	
			incomplete recording during	
			the initial interview.)	
P70	online / via phone	28.03.2020	Audiorecordings,	Annie Jacobs
			00:56:11 & 00:41:54	
P71	online / via phone	14.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:52:28	Tamara Schaal
P72	face-to-face	29.05.2020	Audiorecordings,	Annie Jacobs
			00:04:23 & 00:50:42	
P73	online / via phone	27.04.2020	Audiorecording, 01:34:10	Tamara Schaal
P74	face-to-face	19.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:38:59	Annie Jacobs
P75	online / via phone	18.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:53:10	Annie Jacobs

P76	face-to-face	08.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:37:59	Annie Jacobs
P77	online / via phone	17.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:34:07	Tamara Schaal
P78	face-to-face	16.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:32:35	Tamara Schaal
P79	online / via phone	11.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:48:29	Tamara Schaal
P80	online / via phone	02.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:35:23	Tamara Schaal
P81	face-to-face	08.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:37:59	Annie Jacobs
P82	online / via phone	02.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:34:29	Annie Jacobs
P83	face-to-face	14.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:46:33	Tamara Schaal
P84	face-to-face	12.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:50:59	Annie Jacobs
P85	face-to-face	18.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:37:28	Tamara Schaal
P86	online / via phone	26.04.2020	Written notes (The	Annie Jacobs
			recording quality was too poor.)	
P87	online / via phone	28.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:35:09	Annie Jacobs
P88	online / via phone	26.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:50:22	Annie Jacobs
P89	face-to-face	16.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:37:59	Annie Jacobs
P90	face-to-face	06.03.2020	Audiorecording, 00:29:17	Tamara Schaal
P91	online / via phone	30.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:49:15	Annie Jacobs
P92	online / via phone	29.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:30:06	Annie Jacobs
P93	online / via phone	07.05.2020	Audiorecording, 00:55:15	Tamara Schaal
P94	online / via phone	03.04.2020	Audiorecording, 00:49:18	Annie Jacobs
			Σ 78:07:32	

Total number of interviews: 94 (50 conducted by Annie Jacobs, 44 conducted by Tamara Schaal)

Interview	Interview	Date of the	Data obtained and	Interviewer
acronym	mode	interview	duration of audiorecording	
I01	face-to-face	18.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:28:12	Tamara Schaal
I02	face-to-face	29.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:31:41	Tamara Schaal
I03	face-to-face	06.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:33:13	Tamara Schaal
I04	face-to-face	13.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:33:35	Tamara Schaal
I05	face-to-face	28.02.2019	Audiorecording, 00:34:27	Tamara Schaal
I06	face-to-face	25.02.2019	Audiorecording, 00:34:34	Tamara Schaal
I07	face-to-face	12.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:34:40	Tamara Schaal
I08	face-to-face	12.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:35:36	Tamara Schaal
I09	face-to-face	22.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:35:40	Tamara Schaal
I10	face-to-face	04.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:35:49	Tamara Schaal
I11	face-to-face	26.02.2019	Audiorecording, 00:36:08	Tamara Schaal
I12	face-to-face	14.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:41:59	Tamara Schaal
I13	face-to-face	20.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:42:19	Tamara Schaal
I14	face-to-face	13.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:42:24	Tamara Schaal
I15	face-to-face	27.02.2019	Audiorecording, 00:46:44	Tamara Schaal
I16	face-to-face	05.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:47:58	Tamara Schaal
I17	face-to-face	21.02.2019	Audiorecording, 00:48:10	Tamara Schaal

b) Biosphere Reserve Spreewald case study

I18	face-to-face	06.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:48:20	Tamara Schaal
I19	face-to-face	29.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:48:22	Tamara Schaal
I20	face-to-face	04.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:49:42	Tamara Schaal
I21	face-to-face	06.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:50:11	Tamara Schaal
I22	face-to-face	26.02.2019	Audiorecording, 00:50:49	Tamara Schaal
I23	face-to-face	22.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:52:54	Tamara Schaal
I24	face-to-face	29.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:52:58	Tamara Schaal
I25	face-to-face	26.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:55:36	Tamara Schaal
I26	face-to-face	01.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:56:21	Tamara Schaal
I27	face-to-face	18.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:57:29	Tamara Schaal
I28	face-to-face	11.03.2019	Audiorecording, 00:58:29	Tamara Schaal
I29	face-to-face	15.03.2019	Audiorecording, 01:00:22	Tamara Schaal
I30	face-to-face	19.03.2019	Audiorecording, 01:01:02	Tamara Schaal
I31	face-to-face	20.03.2019	Audiorecording, 01:01:48	Tamara Schaal
I32	face-to-face	27.02.2019	Audiorecording, 01:02:01	Tamara Schaal
I33	face-to-face	25.02.2019	Audiorecording, 01:02:12	Tamara Schaal
I34	face-to-face	19.03.2019	Audiorecording, 01:06:39	Tamara Schaal
I35	face-to-face	28.02.2019	Audiorecording, 01:09:09	Tamara Schaal
I36	face-to-face	01.03.2019	Audiorecording, 01:15:19	Tamara Schaal
I37	face-to-face	20.02.2019	Audiorecording, 01:18:36	Tamara Schaal
I38	face-to-face	21.02.2019	Audiorecording, 01:28:05	Tamara Schaal
			Σ 31:49:33	

Total number of interviews: 38 (all conducted by Tamara Schaal)

Appendix 2: Overview of articles included in the doctoral thesis

in accordance with the Guideline for cumulative dissertations enacted at the Faculty of Sustainability in January 2012

Papers included

- [4] Schaal T., Jacobs A., Leventon J., Scheele B.C., Lindenmayer D., Hanspach J. (2022) 'You can't be green if you're in the red': Local discourses on the production-biodiversity intersection in a mixed farming area in south-eastern Australia. *Land Use Policy* 121(3): 106306. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2022.106306.
- [5] Schaal T., Mitchell M., Scheele B.C., Ryan P., Hanspach J. (2023) Using the three horizons approach to explore pathways towards positive futures for agricultural landscapes with rich biodiversity. *Sustainability Science* (18): 1271-1289. doi: doi.org/10.1007/s11625-022-01275-z.
- [6] Schaal T., König B., Riechers M., Heitepriem N., Leventon J. Exploring cultural landscape narratives to understand challenges for collaboration and their implications for governance. Under review with *Ecosystems and People*.

Conference contribution		ICCB 2021*	Science and Research in, for and with Biosphere Reserves 2022	
Publication status	Published in Land Use Policy (IF 2021: 6.189)	Published in Sustainability Science (IF 2021: 7.196)	Under review with Ecosystems and People	
Weighting factor	1.0	1.0	1.0	3.0
Author status	Co-author with predominant contribution	Co-author with predominant contribution	Co-author with predominant contribution	
Contributions of all authors	Conceptualisation: TS, AJ, JL, BCS, DL, JH; Methodology: TS, AJ, JL, BCS, JH; Investigation: TS, AJ; Data curation: TS; Formal analysis: TS, AJ, JL, JH; Writing – Original Draft: TS, AJ, JL, BCS, DL, JH; Writing – Review & Editing: TS, AJ, JL, BCS, DL, JH; Project administration: TS, AJ, JH; Supervision, project administration and funding acquisition: JH	Conceptualisation and methodology: TS, MM, BCS, PR, JH; Investigation: MM, BCS, PR; Formal analysis: TS, MM, BCS, PR, JH; Writing - original draft preparation: TS, JH; Writing - review and editing: TS, MM, BCS, PR, JH; Funding acquisition: JH; Supervision: JH	Conceptualization and methodology: TS, BK, MR, NH, JL; Investigation, formal analysis and data curation: TS; Writing – Original Draft: TS, BK, MR, NH, JL; Writing – Review & Editing: TS, BK, MR, NH, JL; Funding acquisition: BK; Supervision: JL	
Short title	Discourses Paper	Three Horizons Paper	Landscape Narratives Paper	
Article No.	[1]	[2]	[3]	

Author's contribution to the articles and publication status

Explanatory notes

AJ = Annie Jacobs; BCS = Ben C. Scheele; BK = Bettina König; DL = David Lindenmayer; JH = Jan Hanspach; JL = Julia Leventon; MM = Michael Mitchell; MR = Maraja Riechers; NH = Nico Heitepriem; PR = Paul Ryan; TS = Tamara Schaal

Publication status

IF = Web of Science – 2021 Journal Impact Factor

Specific contribution and weighting factor

according to § 12 and § 14 of the guideline for cumulative dissertations

Author status	Weighting factor
Single author = own contribution amounts to 100% .	1.0
Co-author with predominant contribution = own contribution is greater	1.0
than the individual share of all other co-authors and is at least 35%.	
Co-author with equal contribution = (1) own contribution is as high as	1.0
the share of other co-authors, (2) no other co-author has a contribution	
higher than the own contribution, and (3) the own contribution is at	
least 25%.	
Co-author with important contribution = own contribution is at least	0.5
25%, but is insufficient to qualify as single authorship, predominant or	
equal contribution.	
Co-author with small contribution = own contribution is less than 20%.	0

Conference contributions

International Congress for Conservation Biology (ICCB), virtually, 13-17 December 2021; https://conbio.org/mini-sites/iccb-2021/program/session-types/

Science and Research in, for and with Biosphere Reserves, Schorfheide-Chorin Biosphere Reserve (Germany), 16-20 May 2022, <u>https://www.biospherereserves.institute/research-conference</u>

* The paper was accepted for presentation, but the session was later cancelled, and the paper was not presented.

Declaration (according to § 16 of the guideline for cumulative dissertations)

I avouch that all information given in this appendix is true in each instance and overall.